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Profit 
before taxation
E267 million
(2019: E217 million)

Net income  
after taxation
E198 million
(2019: E149 million)

Total dividend 
declaration
E165 million
(2019: E78 million) 

Financial 
highlights



Contents
ABOUT THIS REPORT IFC
Reporting boundary IFC
Reporting frameworks IFC
Materiality IFC
Forward-looking statements IFC
Directors’ statement of responsibility IFC
Financial highlights – 2020 FLAP
ESRIC AT A GLANCE 1
Key performance indicators – 2020 2
WHO WE ARE 4
Our vision 6
Our mission 6
Our values 6
Our operating structure 7
International trends 7
South Africa 8
Domestic economy 8
Future economic outlook 9
MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 10
Introduction and overview of 2020 12
Operating results 13
Solvency levels and capital adequacy 13
Dividend declaration 13
Valuation of the Life Fund 13
Summary of assets and liabilities: statutory basis 14
Bonus declaration to policyholders and 
Pension schemes 14
Embedded value 15
Future prospects 15

MESSAGE FROM THE GENERAL MANAGER 16

Our operating context 16
Strategy 17
Performance against strategy 17
Business highlights 18
Stakeholders 18
Future outlook 18
Acknowledgements 19

DELIVERING VALUE 20
Our strategy 22
Strategic focus areas 23
Our value-creating business model 24
Material matters 26
Managing risk 28
Our risk heat map 30
Information Technology 32
Human Resources 33

SAFEGUARDING VALUE 36
Our leadership 38
Our general management team 41
Our Board 42
Our Board Committees 44

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 46



A   /   ESRIC  /   INTEGRATED REPORT   /   2020

About this report

This report is the second integrated 
report of Eswatini Royal Insurance 
Corporation (ESRIC, the Corporation), 
and with it we endeavour to present 
a full, coherent, consistent and 
transparent description of how we 
create value for our shareholders in the 
short, medium and long-term, as well 
as to reflect the material interests of all 
our stakeholders. 

For more on strategy, see page 22.

REPORTING BOUNDARY
This report covers the financial year 1 January 2020 
to 31 December 2020 and focuses on the material 
matters relating to our strategy, business model, 
operating context, performance, governance, 
and the material risks and opportunities arising 
from them, that we have identified in line with best 
practice. It is an explanation of how we create value 
in the short-, medium- and long-term,, which we 
define as one year, two to three years, and three to 
five years respectively.

REPORTING FRAMEWORKS
The report was prepared with regard to the 
aspirations and ideals set out in the principles 
of the King IV Code on Corporate Governance 
(King IV) and is also guided by the principles 
and requirements of the International Integrated 
Reporting Council (IIRC) <IR> framework.  
Our annual financial statements, from page 46, 
were prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

MATERIALITY
We consider an issue to be material if it has the 
potential to have an impact on our ability to create 
value, to exist and continue to do business, or on 
our social relevance and our relationships with our 
stakeholders. Our material issues are informed by 
the expectations and concerns of our stakeholders, 
as well as the social, economic, and environmental 
context in which we operate. Our material matters, 
as described on page 26, are linked to the way 
we plan our strategy and the priorities of our 
management. 

FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS
This report contains certain forward-looking 
statements, particularly regarding the potential of 
diversifying our markets, and the effect of global 
and domestic economic conditions on ESRIC 
strategy, performance and operations. These 
forward-looking statements thus involve both known 
and as yet unknown risks, uncertainties, and other 
important factors that could cause our actual results, 
performance or achievements to be materially 
different from the future results, performance 
or achievements expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements.

ESRIC undertakes no obligation to update publicly 
or release any revisions to these forward-looking 
statements to reflect events or circumstances 
after the date of this document, or to reflect the 
occurrence of anticipated events. The forward-
looking statements have not been reviewed or 
reported on by the auditors.

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY
The Board of Directors (the Board), supported 
by the Audit and Risk Committee, acknowledges 
its responsibility for overseeing and ensuring 
the integrity of this integrated report. Executive 
management, assisted by the reporting team,  
was responsible for the preparation of this report. 
The Board applied its collective mind to the report’s 
presentation and preparation, and believes it 
fairly represents the matters that have a material 
effect on our ability to create value. The Board 
accordingly approved this integrated report,  
which is signed on its behalf on page 50.

Chairman             Director 

16 July 2021
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2020
ESRIC at a glance

Life and pensionsNon-life

For more on capitals, see page 24.

Financial 
Capital

Social and 
Relationship 

Capital

Human 
Capital

Natural 
Capital

Intellectual 
Capital

Manufactured 
Capital

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS

0.1% (3.0%)

GWP NEP

E520 
million

E346 
million

(2019: E519 million) (2019: E357 million) 

(1.7%) (3.2%)

GWP NEP

E266 
million

E321 
million

(2019: E270 million) (2019: E332 million) 

11.8% (7.3%)

UW profit Invest income

E163 
million

E33  
million

(2019: E146 million) (2019: E35 million)

1.0%

Invest income

E161  
million
(2019: E159 million)

37.8%

Dividend

E105  
million
(2019: E76 million)

NAVIGATION 
In our report, we endeavour to describe our 
approach, activities, and mandate in terms of  
our capitals, with associated icons to aid reference 
and navigation:

Financial highlights for the year ended 
31 December 2020
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Key performance indicators
continued

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS – NON-LIFE

Incr 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
% E000 E000 E000 E000 E000

Gross written premium 0.1 520 006 519 439 504 993 492  223 472 528
Net earned premium (3.0) 346 028 356 813 351 013 335  385 321 846
Claims net of reinsurance (28.2) 74 868 104 281 89 442 92 207 91 567
Expenses of management 4.8 87 716 83 722 84 016 80 496 66 484

Underwriting profit 11.8 162 928 145 694 150 448 139 666 144 343
Investment income (7.3) 32 888 35 490 32 687 30 502 23 917
Profit before taxation 4.5 195 569 187 146 184 812 179 735 173 959
Taxation (50 077) (51 792) (50 539) (48 302) (46 417)

Net income after taxation 7.5  145 492 135 355 134 273 132 433 127 542
Dividend non-life business 105 300 76 400 137 000 112 000 105 000

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS – LIFE AND PENSIONS

Incr 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
% E000 E000 E000 E000 E000

Gross premium – risk products (1.7) 265 550 270 022 255 277 241 141 204 493
Gross premium – investment products (4.7) 66 010 69 296 61 610 55 250 44 008
Net earned premium  
(risk and investment) (3.2) 321 172 331 875 304 690 285 686 248 501
Investment income 1.0 160 595 159 035 63 347 124 089 61 595
Expenses of management 1.7 43 721 42 988 42 801 37 999 34 814
Profit before taxation 71 911 29 488 36 723 41 609 37 991
Taxation (19 189) (7 319) (9 739) (14 198) (8 648)
Net income after taxation 52 722 22 169 26 984 27 412 29 343
Dividend long-term business 59 800 1 300 4 000 35 300 21 000

Total dividend declaration 165 100 77 700 141 000 147 300 126 000

Total assets  2 862 333  2 696 047  2 445 988  2 312 071  2 067 987
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Thank you
to our front liners
for risking their lives to saveours.
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Who we are

In fulfilling its founding legislation the King’s Order 
in Council No. 32/1973, ESRIC has succeeded 
in protecting the valuable assets and lives of 
the eMaswati  people in both domestic and 
commercial risk exposures. Within our product 
range, we have created and re-engineered our 
products to meet the ever-changing needs of  
our clients.

We are continuously working towards improving 
our service levels and creating a more intimate 
and personal relationship with our customers 
regardless of their geographic locations and 
economic classification. We are driven by our 
commitment to providing total peace-of-mind 
through a superior insurance experience. 

ESRIC has been serving the non-life and life and pensions 
insurance needs of the Eswatini public for 47 years. 
With customers having always been the reason for our 
existence, we are guided in our approach to them and 
all our stakeholders both by our strategy and by our 
Customer Service Charter. We remain committed not 
only to creating value through these frameworks, but to 
continually improve the ways we do so, in terms of our 
vision, mission and values.

OUR VISION
To be the leading provider of insurance and related 
services in Eswatini, Southern Africa and beyond.

OUR MISSION
To be the foremost provider of insurance and 
related services by: 
• Satisfying the aspirations of our shareholders 

through profitable underwriting 
• Providing high-quality insurance services to 

the market 
• Satisfying our policyholders and attracting 

new clients 
• Providing professional development to our staff 

to enable them to realise their full potential 
• Contributing to the development of the local 

economy 

OUR VALUES
As we drive the objectives of the Corporation  
we shall: 
• Be honest and fair in our dealings 
• Exercise integrity and respect 
• Encourage innovation by listening to 

stakeholders 
• Be responsible corporate citizens 
• Consistent in dealing with matters 
• Adhere to corporate governance and best 

practice
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INTERNATIONAL TRENDS 
The coronavirus pandemic, which started in most 
countries at the beginning of 2020, resulted in 
governments introducing various Covid-19-related 
economic restrictions. Early in the year, there 
were initially total lockdowns with most economic 
sectors being inactive. However, the economic 
repercussions were dire. In 2020, the global real 
gross domestic product (GDP) was estimated 
to have fallen by 3.5%, its sharpest in over five 
decades. 

To varying degrees, countries subsequently eased 
on economic restrictions in the year. This easing 
towards softer lockdowns and eventual opening 
up of economic activity in most industrial sectors 
enabled some green shoots of growth in some 

Economic activity in 
Eswatini is contingent 
upon developments 
regionally, and particularly 
in South Africa, which is 
itself subject to forces 
generated by global 
economic and political 
factors.

OUR OPERATING STRUCTURE

Mandla Dlamini
AGM Corporate 

Services

Musa Simelane 
AGM – Non-Life

Simphiwe Dlamini 
Finance Manager

Muzi Zwane 
Group Life and Pensions Manager

Winile Mahlobo
Individual Life Manager 

Mduduzi Dlamini  
AGM – Finance 

and Life

Assistant General Management
(Executive Management)

General Manager Corporate Management Team 

Queen Sibanyoni-Maziya 
Business Development Manager

Sizwe Shongwe 
Marketing and Corporate Communication Manager

Mashumi Gama
IT Manager

Carol Muir
Human Resources (HR) and Administration Manager

Teboho Mohapeloa 
Claims Manager 

Bonisile Ndlangamandla 
Manzini Branch Manager 

Sabelo Motsa
Underwriting Manager 

Zama Ngcobo 
General Manager 

Nombuso 
Zwane 
Legal 

Services and 
Company 
Secretary

Wandile 
Mathonsi 

Quality 
Control 

and Risk 
Manager
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For 2020, South Africa’s economy contracted 
by 7% compared to a 0.2% expansion in 2019. 
However, there was a period of an upswing in the 
fourth quarter of 2020 when the economy grew 
by 6.3% when economic activity had resumed in 
most industries. The country’s GDP is expected to 
rebound to at least 2019 levels by 2021. 

DOMESTIC ECONOMY 
The Kingdom of Eswatini’s fourth quarter GDP 
increased by 2% on a year-on-year basis from a 
growth of 1.7% in the third quarter of 2020. 

The growth in economic activity is largely 
attributed to positive improvements in the primary 
and tertiary sectors. In the primary sector, 
consisting of agriculture as the main economic 
activity, there was 5.2% year-on-year growth in 
the fourth quarter of 2020 following 3.9% in the 
third quarter. The favourable weather conditions 
enabled crop production to proceed positively as 
the sector enjoyed minimal disruptions resulting 
from the Covid-19 pandemic. The forestry sector 
showed a marginal growth of 1.8% in the fourth 
quarter, mostly benefiting from the easing of 
lockdown restrictions in South Africa that enabled 
full trade to resume. 

In the tertiary sector, consisting of business 
services, economic activity increased by 3.9% 
year-on-year in the last quarter of 2020 from a 
previous 2.0% growth in the third quarter. Financial 
services, human health, and social work activities 
as well as information and communication 
technology services sectors were the main 
contributors to the positive economic results.  
In the ICT sector, the increase in the use of digital 
platforms in remote working arrangements led to 
an increase in the usage of data services which 
added growth in the sector. Manufacturing also 
showed growth, albeit slow at 0.5% from 1.3% in 
the third quarter. However, growth in the tourism 
sector was curtailed by limited international 
travel brought by the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
other sectors that were negatively affected by 
restrictions associated with the pandemic include 
transportation and storage as well as wholesale 
and retail trade sectors. 

economies. In the last quarter of 2020, western 
economies showed positive economic growth. 
Towards the end of 2020, the United States of 
America’s economy grew by 4.3%. In the United 
Kingdom, the GDP grew by 1.3% quarter-on-
quarter in the last three months of 2020. However, 
the Eurozone exhibited mixed economic results. 
The GDP had contracted by 0.7% in the quarter 
ending December 2020 though it had expanded 
by 12.5% in the quarter ended September 2020. 

Some emerging market economies also 
demonstrated mixed trends in economic 
outcomes. In Russia, GDP shrank by 0.2% in the 
fourth quarter of 2020 though it had expanded by 
0.6% in the third quarter. India’s GDP expanded 
by 7.9% in the fourth quarter of 2020 following 
a 23.7% expansion in the third quarter when 
Covid-19 lockdown measures had been eased. 
Brazil, whose GDP increased by 3.2% over the 
three months towards December 2020, displayed 
a more consistent trend in the same period.

According to a World Economic Outlook published 
by the International Monetary Fund, the global 
economy is expected to rebound by a 5.5% 
growth for 2021 after experiencing a contraction in 
2020. However, this projected growth is expected 
to vary across countries, contingent upon factors 
such as Covid-19 vaccine rollouts. Countries with 
low supplies of vaccines, including those in  
sub-Saharan African, are expected to achieve 
modest economic outlooks.

SOUTH AFRICA 
Before the Covid-19 pandemic, the South African 
general insurance market demonstrated a growth 
path, increasing by 4.3% in insurance premium 
volumes between 2018 and 2019. Early in  
2020, the market began to be impacted by  
Covid-19-related lockdown measures which 
restrained economic growth. Some sectors,  
such as tourism, were heavily impacted by job 
losses during the lockdown restrictions imposed  
in the second quarter. Loss of income for 
households in the sectors adversely affected  
by lockdowns, in turn, led to consumers being 
unable to pay insurance premiums.

Who we are
continued
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FUTURE ECONOMIC OUTLOOK 
As far as the Covid-19 pandemic persists, 
economic conditions will remain uncertain both 
domestically, regionally and globally. The Kingdom of 
Eswatini, much like South Africa and some emerging 
market countries, showed some economic growth, 
albeit sluggish. However, such growth spurts are not 
guaranteed to continue amidst a vulnerable global 
economy facing unpredictable outcomes that may 
be introduced by Covid-19. For the medium-term, 
inflationary pressures may be experienced globally 
due to the uncertain economic conditions given that 
subsequent waves of the virus continue to occur. 
Should governments resort to lockdowns to contain 
the pandemic, then most economic sectors will 
regress from whatever gains have been achieved. 

The insurance sector is likely to experience  
a growth strain, depending on the extent of  
Covid-19-related events. For instance, job 
retrenchments and adverse health impact, 
experienced during the pandemic, create a loss 
of premium-paying customers whilst increases 
in insurance claims may ensue as a result of 
adverse health and social conditions. However, the 
acquisition and distribution of vaccines hold the 
promise of minimising the impact of the pandemic 
going forward. 
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Message from the Chairman

INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW OF 
2020
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation  
(the Corporation) derives revenue from the 
provision of Non-life insurance, Life assurance  
and Pension Administration services to individuals, 
businesses and corporates.

The overall economic environment in Eswatini has 
seen only sluggish growth in the past few years, 
exerting ongoing pressure on growth prospects in 
businesses across all industries. The year under 
review has been a difficult one for the Corporation 
resulting in the non-life section of the business 
recording less than one percent increase in Gross 
Written Premium whilst the life business decreased 
by two percent.

The business reported acceptable operating 
results for 2020 under very difficult economic 
circumstances and despite the negative impact of 
Covid-19. The harmful impact of the pandemic, 
including the partial lockdown in the country 
worsened the already ailing economy of the 
country. 

Executive Management kept the Board fully 
informed about the impact of Covid-19 on  
the operations of the business and developments 
regarding the Corporation’s exposure to  
Covid-19-related claims. 

The Corporation has noted the need to continue to 
invest in strategic partnerships, varying products 
and client-facing services to retain the customer 
base. In addition, there is a need to accelerate the 
building of enabling technology to drive efficiency 
across the business. 

Muhawu I Maziya 
Chairman

The year under review 
has been a difficult one 
for the Corporation 
resulting in the non-life 
section of the business 
recording less than one 
percent increase in 
Gross Written Premium 
whilst the life business 
decreased by two 
percent.

E198 MILLION
operating profit
(2019: E158 million)
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I am pleased that the Corporation’s 
capital position has enabled the 
Board to recommend a dividend
of E165.1 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2020.

OPERATING RESULTS

Non-life (short-term) business
During the year to 31 December 2020, the 
Corporation showed an increase in operating  
profit before tax by 4.5% from E187 million to 
E196 million which was influenced by an  
improving net claims ratio. 

Life (long-term) business
The life insurance business achieved an  
operating profit of E72 million (2019: E29 million). 
The revamped distribution networks, enhanced 
sales force and improved IT systems have assisted 
in delivering the solid result.

SOLVENCY LEVELS AND CAPITAL 
ADEQUACY 
Although the Retirement Funds Act 2005 
requires that a statutory actuarial valuation be 
performed on retirement funds, no methodology 
is prescribed. The statutory valuation basis has 
therefore been set so that it is equivalent to the 
published reporting basis. 

The change in excess of the value of assets 
over liabilities on the published basis for the year 
under review stood at E51.4 million compared to 
E18.2 million in the previous year. This change in 
the excess assets can be analysed as follows:

31 December

2020
E’m

2019
E’m

Excess assets as at end of 
reporting period 313.9 262.5
Excess assets as at beginning 
of reporting period 262.5 244.3

Change in excess assets 
over reporting period  51.4  18.2

The change is excess assets is 
analysed as follows:
Changes in valuation method 
assumption  23.1  12.5
Other operating profit  29.6  9.7
Dividend paid  (1.3)  (4.0)

Change in excess assets 
over the reporting period  51.4  18.2

Non-life (short-term) business
The Corporation’s Non-Life (short-term) insurance 
business remains well capitalised with strong 
solvency levels. As of 31 December 2020, the 
Non-Life international solvency ratio (net equity as 
a ratio to Net Written Premiums) stood at 117% 
(2019: ratio of 92%) compared to the industry 
international solvency ratio benchmark of 50%. 

Life (long-term) business
The Life insurance business is also well capitalised 
with excess assets over liabilities of E262.5 million 
(2018: E244.3 million). As at 31 December 2019, 
the ESRIC Capital Adequacy Requirement (CAR) 
was E129.9 million (2018: E118.3 million). 

DIVIDEND DECLARATION
I am pleased that the Corporation’s capital position 
has enabled the Board to recommend a dividend 
of E165.1 million for the year ended 31 December 
2020, (2019: E77.7 million) for payment on 6 July 
2020 to holders of ordinary shares on the register 
at the close of business on 17 June 2021. The 
total dividend of E165.1 million is made up of:
• Normal dividend of E105.3 million Non-life 

(short-term), (2019: E76.4 million) and
• E59.8 million from Life business (long-term), 

(2019: E1.3 million).

VALUATION OF THE LIFE FUND
The actuarial valuation of the Life (long-term) 
insurance business as at 31 December 2020 
shows that the value of assets exceeds the value 
of liabilities by E313.9 million (2019: E262.5 million). 
The excess of assets over liabilities gives a realistic 
and prudent picture of the accumulated profits of 
the Corporation’s Life operations from inception 
to the valuation date including the effect of capital 
injections and transfers to shareholders. 
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SUMMARY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: STATUTORY BASIS
31 December

2020
E’m

2019
E’m

Total value of assets, net of reinsurance 2 079.3 1 940.7
Total value of liabilities as per balance sheet  1 765.4 1 678.2

Value of policy liabilities as per balance sheet, net of reinsurance 1 706.6 1 639.5
Current and other liabilities as per balance sheet 58.8 38.7

Capital Adequacy Requirement (CAR) 86.9 129.9
Ratio of excess assets to CAR (times) 3.6 2.0

The published liabilities are split between Investment business and Insurance 
business, as per IFRS 4 guidelines, in the case of the Corporation, the only 
Investment business is the Employee Benefit Deposit Administration business. 
The split is as follows:

Gross actuarial liabilities – investment business  402.5 401.0
Gross actuarial liabilities – insurance business  1 306.4 1 240.8

Total gross actuarial liabilities 1 708.9 1 641.8

Less reinsurance (2.3) (2.1)
Total net actuarial liabilities 1 706.6 1 639.5
Current liabilities  58.8 38.7

Total liabilities 1 765.4 1 678.2

Message from the Chairman
continued

BONUS DECLARATION TO 
POLICYHOLDERS AND PENSION 
SCHEMES
Bonus recommendation is a significant part of  
the responsibility of the actuary and the Board 
approves such bonus. The factors which need to 
be taken into account include: 
• Bonus to be supported by current year 

surplus.
• Policyholder expectations of current and  

future bonuses.
• Company policy regarding stabilisation of 

bonus rates.
• Solvency position. 
• Pension schemes should receive a return that 

is a fair reflection of the investment return 
achieved on their funds.

• Charges should be made to the fund to allow 
for investment management, any subsidisation 
of administration costs and any cost of 
investment guarantees.

• It is desirable to build up a non-vested 
account and a bonus stabilisation reserve to 
control the cost of guarantees. 

• Comparison is also made with other providers 
of Deposit Administration (DA) contracts to 
ensure that rates declared are competitive. 

Bonus rates declared for policy holders were in 
line with the investment returns achieved over the 
year which were characterised by continued 
volatility of the markets. The bonus rates declared 
for 2020 were as follows.
• Pension Funds (Deposit Administration 

contract) 5% (2019: 5%).
• Lilunga and Insika Savings policies 6% 

(2019: 5%)
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FUTURE PROSPECTS 
Looking ahead, the Board acknowledges the 
long-term impact of slow economic growth and 
the pandemic. These circumstances threaten 
growth and expansion opportunities within the 
insurance industry. At the end of 2021, the 
Corporation’s future direction will be captured in a 
new strategy plan for 2022 to 2024. Its focus will 
be to grow the business further despite 
challenges posed by low economic growth and a 
generally challenging environment. The plan will 
consider what the organisation should address to 
be fit for the future. The process will ensure that it 
identifies all those matters that are most material 
for our stakeholders and for the organisation to 
continue to create value in the long-term. The 
priority is to raise the standard in all operations 
and to constantly search for opportunities to 
further grow and diversify the business. The 
Corporation will continue to play its role in  
the promotion of a robust, sound and stable 
insurance industry. 

The Directors and management are confident that 
the Corporation has the strategy and adequate 
resources to deliver profitable results on both Life 
and Non-Life sections of the insurance industry in 
the near future.

I thank the staff, management and the Board of 
the Corporation for their unrelenting effort to see 
the organisation continue to be profitable in these 
difficult times of the pandemic. I also thank our 
customers for their continued support and loyalty.

Mr Muhawu I Maziya
Chairman

17 June 2021

EMBEDDED VALUE
The Embedded Value of an insurance company is 
a commonly used calculation to estimate the 
economic value for monitoring or sale.  
It comprises two major components:
• The Net Asset Value of the Company 
• The Value of the In-Force Business

The Net Asset Value of the Corporation is derived 
from the financial statements.

The Value of In-Force Business (VIF) of the 
Corporation represents the present value of the 
future profits arising from existing in-force 
insurance business of the Corporation. The 
present value of future profit is stated net of tax 
and the cost of holding the minimum prescribed 
CAR. The VIF excludes any goodwill that may be 
attributable to the Corporation as a result of the 
value of future new business or the expectation of 
the achievement of additional operational 
efficiencies in future years.

The total embedded value of the Corporation’s 
Life business as at 31 December 2019 was 
E318 million, compared to E218 million in the 
previous year after allowing for two times CAR in 
the 2020 opportunity cost of capital to be in line 
with the Corporation dividend policy. This 
calculation was conducted broadly in accordance 
with the general guidance contained in PGN107 
issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa 
(a standard which does not yet apply in Eswatini).
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Message from  
the General Manager

The devastating impact of Covid-19, including 
the lockdown restrictions, aggravated the already 
ailing economy of Eswatini. Rising public debt, 
low growth rates, high unemployment also added 
to the deteriorating economic growth and placed 
consumers under heavy financial strain. These 
economic developments militated against growth 
and expansion in the insurance industry. 

At the same time, the insurance industry is 
generally transforming, with customers having 
a voice and choice of where they want to place 
their business. This culminates in pressure 
on the Corporation to demonstrate agility and 
innovation in its products and services in order 
to retain its client base. In an environment of 
no growth, management of expenses became 
a key feature of our strategy. Some of these 
entailed redefining business processes to make 
them more efficient, outsourcing non-value 
adding activities and automating some business 
processes or functions. This approach was 
not only necessary to improve profitability and 
shareholder value but was critical to remain 
competitive in the marketplace where pricing is 
a vital component for attracting and retaining 
customers.

Despite very challenging conditions, the business 
overall delivered a pleasing increase in profitability, 
which was underpinned by another year of 
improving overall claims ratios.

OUR OPERATING CONTEXT 
The emergence of Covid-19 in March 2020, 
and the measures implemented to reduce its 
transmission, had a significant impact on  
the insurance sector, as businesses needed  
to adapt their approaches when delivering 
services. Executive Management kept the  
Board fully informed about the operational 
impact of the pandemic on the business and 
any developments regarding the Corporation’s 
exposure to Covid-19-related claims. 

Of particular importance to the Corporation were 
three main areas: 
i) Ensuring the protection of our staff members
ii) Ensuring continuity of operations
iii) Providing support to policyholders affected by 

the public health crisis. 

Zama Ngcobo
General Manager

Despite very challenging 
conditions, the business 
overall delivered a 
pleasing increase in 
profitability, which was 
underpinned by another 
year of improving 
overall claims ratios.    
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We had to implement business continuity plans 
to maintain the delivery of essential functions 
with a focus on service delivery. These measures 
ensured that policyholders were able to access 
services and submit claims despite the emergency 
circumstances. 

The Corporation had to provide financial support 
to policyholders in the form of affordable premium 
payment terms. In addition, coverage terms were 
amended in order to account for changes in 
behaviour such as work-from-home arrangements. 

On investments, the value of invested assets was 
impacted by volatility and general decline in equity 
markets. Claims volumes reduced on the Non-life 
section of the business because of business 
closures arising from the partial lockdowns and 
less travelling. Performance of the Life section 
however recorded a decline from the previous 
year. This was in the main as a result of a marked 
increase in the volume of Covid-19 related claims.

STRATEGY 
During the year under review, the increase in 
investment in the organisation’s technological 
capability and digital skills continued. The 
investment allowed the organisation to move 
rapidly to digitise its customer experience across 
all operations. Among other improvements, 
Sunrise, the Life system was fully implemented 
to run the whole Life business. The next phase of 
the project, scheduled for the second half of 2021, 
will further enhance the division’s capabilities. The 
revamped IT team will ensure that the appropriate 
technological advancements are made to optimise 
our systems and processes. These new solutions 
are aimed at transforming our business operations, 
allowing us to achieve operational excellence and 
improve productivity while meeting our clients’ 
expectations. With continuous ICT innovation 
and development, our business concept is to 
optimise technology that can support growth in 
the changing insurance environment. 

Another tier of our strategy focused on skills 
development. This is triggered by the changing 
insurance industry which, coupled with newer 
technologies, requires that the Corporation invests 
heavily in its people. Resources were allocated to 
the provision of quality advanced skills training to 
meet the demands of the market across all levels 

of the organisation. At the management level, the 
programme for leadership development, initially 
introduced in 2018, was enhanced to equip our 
managers with the requisite skills needed to 
handle contemporary business challenges. 

Achieving customer orientation in all of the 
organisation’s operations was another focus area 
during the period under review. All processes were 
redesigned to be customer-facing and to place the 
customer at the heart of the business. 

E520 million
gross premium achieved by our  
Non-life division
(2019: E519 million) 

The strategy also aims to ensure efficiency in 
all our areas of work. It embraces a culture of 
continuous focus on operational efficiencies.  
In this regard, our approach was to invest in 
scalable systems, processes, and delivery 
channels that resolve inefficiencies and  
duplication of effort. 

PERFORMANCE AGAINST STRATEGY 
The Corporation delivered a satisfactory 
operational and financial performance for the 
2020 financial year despite challenging economic 
conditions which included economic turbulence 
associated with the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
overall result was in line with the strategy even 
though growth targets were not achieved. Amidst 
an economically difficult period, focus needed to 
be placed on ensuring profitability. 

Our Non-Life division achieved a gross premium 
of E520 million (2019: E519 million). This is despite 
the negative impact of Covid-19 and its economic 
consequences following the strict measures put 
in place by the government to control the spread 
of the pandemic. Notwithstanding the difficult 
trading conditions, the division delivered a pleasing 
increase in profitability which was underpinned by 
another year of improving overall claims ratios. 
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Message from the General Manager
continued

Claims trends showed an improvement compared 
to 2019. Incurred claims decreased from  
E104 million to E76 million. A technical loss ratio 
of 21.64% was achieved compared to 29.3% 
recorded same period in 2019. A combined loss 
ratio of 52.85% was achieved for the year. The 
low frequency of motor claims associated with 
restricted travelling, contributed to the strong 
performance. The overall result of a profit of  
E163 million was within the budget and was 
supported by the disciplined underwriting approach 
and the initiatives to futher improve the supply value 
chain especially on the motor account. 

The above results were in line with our revised 
budget and the strategic focus of consolidating 
the business and ensuring profitability. The division 
has been able to consistently achieve underwriting 
results whilst ensuring that the business adapts to 
the changing market conditions. Organic growth 
remains the focus area driven by the improved 
intermediary network. Further actions will be to 
strengthen initiatives to attract new and previously 
insured policyholders. 

The Life division demonstrated its resilience by 
recording sizeable growth. The gross rewritten 
premium for the period was E177.4 million 
compared to E156.1 million in 2019. The funeral 
business recorded premiums of E44.3 million 
(2019: E40.3 million). However, during the year 
under review, there was a decline in the annuities 
business from E68.9 million in 2019 to E32.9 
million. During the review period, claims and 
benefits paid increased from E129.9 million in 2019 
to E145.5 million in 2020. This was mainly due 
to increases in mortality rates as a result of the 
pandemic. Poor performance in the investment 
markets weighed heavily on the results, but 
despite this and other challenges, the fund was 
able to record a surplus of E99.5 million compared 
to E169.2 million in 2019. 

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
Implementation of strategic projects to enhance 
efficiency progressed as planned. The migration 
to digital communication and increasing the use 
of technology not only to market products and 
services but also to better communicate with 
our clients, remains an important element of our 
strategy. In our Motor portfolio, we introduced 
telematics on private car insurance, making 
information about the vehicle and driver easily 

accessible. When all the projects are completed, 
the organisation should reap the benefits of 
efficiency in all areas of its operations including: 
• Improved service delivery to clients, via 

automation of current manual processes
• Improved communication with clients and 

intermediaries
• Reduced reliance on paper, improved 

electronic management and storage of 
documents. 

A new subsidiary company, Eswatini Reinsurance 
Company Limited, has been registered to pursue 
opportunities for growth in the reinsurance sector. 
The new affiliate company will begin operations 
during the first quarter of 2022.

STAKEHOLDERS 
Our stakeholders, including our employees, 
remain key to the sustainability of the business 
and have an impact on our ability to grow as 
an organisation. In the year under review, we 
continued to pay particular attention to this crucial 
aspect of the business. In order to develop the 
requisite skills to empower the organisation to 
effectively compete in the future, substantial 
effort in training and developing people was 
undertaken at all levels. Human resource policies 
as well as recognition and rewards schemes, to 
encourage and reward performance throughout 
the organisation continued to be reviewed. The 
organisation remains committed to creating an 
environment where it becomes an employer of 
choice for prospective employees. 

FUTURE OUTLOOK 
During the year under review, the world economy 
was faced with significant economic uncertainty 
resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic and the 
likely future impact remains unknown. Economic 
distress also permeated Eswatini, resulting in 
an operating environment entailed by a poorly 
performing economy in which government’s fiscal 
position was also weak. 

It is expected that the insurance market will be 
negatively impacted with low or negative real 
growth as customer affordability continues to be 
under pressure. Such difficult economic conditions 
tend to drive increasing insurance shopping 
patterns as customers become more price elastic 
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customer segments through face-to-face and 
digital channels. This strategy provides us with 
ample scope for growth in our market. We shall 
continue to invest in our digital capabilities and 
infrastructure. Despite challenges at the beginning, 
the expansion of our technology capabilities is 
critical to remain relevant to our customers and 
maintaining a competitive edge. 

The Corporation remains in a solid position to 
deliver sustainable growth and sound financial 
results. Management shall be guided by the 
adopted strategy which reflects the direction and 
focus and will continue to adapt to the changing 
dynamics of the operating environment.  
The Corporation has the expertise, knowledge, 
and experience to meet the challenges and to 
explore all relevant opportunities. Management is, 
however, aware that the affordability of premiums 
will remain a major challenge going forward due to 
the ongoing economic pressures. 
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these difficult times. 

Finally, I would like to thank all my colleagues 
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Zama Ngcobo
General Manager

17 June 2021

and seek value from their insurance arrangements. 
With our focus on affordability, service, and 
reliability, we are well-positioned to retain and 
grow customer volumes in spite of this difficult 
environment. 

Operationally, our business is well-positioned to 
deal with the disruption which can be expected 
from a protracted pandemic scenario. The 
organisation is in a strong capital position with 
its balance sheet being prudently managed to 
ensure the necessary resilience to absorb further 
economic shocks. 

Trading conditions remained very competitive 
in a low-growth economic environment. This 
impacted the growth in premiums which was 
below the budget for the Non-life section during 
the year under review. However, going forward 
there is a growing need to identify other growth 
opportunities which will leverage our strong brand 
and operational strength. Lapses from customer 
premiums have remained acceptable considering 
the difficult economic climate and increasing 
unemployment rate. Sales activity also recovered 
during the reporting period.

Delivering profitable growth across both sections 
of the business remains a key focus. The impact 
of Covid-19 will continue to be felt within the 
insurance industry for several years to come. 
Therefore, the recovery of the domestic economy 
may well prove to be challenging and result in 
the company persisting with the relatively low 
premiums it has been receiving historically.

In 2021, the digitalisation of our customer 
processes will be accelerated. This includes 
rolling out various digital service features designed 
to remove customer pain points and provide 
customers with a choice of engagement. These 
initiatives will lead to future cost benefits as a result 
of reduced service activities in our contact centres. 
Lessons learned from the lockdown indicated 
the need to accelerate this digital adoption as 
we observed changes in the utilisation of various 
service options. 

Our strategic focus for 2021 will be the 
continuation of investment towards multi-channel 
distribution and the delivery of a wider product 
set to our customers. Our distribution strategies 
recognise the importance of reaching more 
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Our strategy

CREATING VALUE THROUGH STRATEGY
In devising and implementing our revised Strategic 
Plan, we examined the challenges faced by the 
Corporation over the last three years. Despite 
operating within a weak economic environment, 
the business has steadily grown, achieving a 
number of milestones, including:

• Modernisation through the improvement and 
enabling of our information technology (IT)
systems

• Adoption of the Customer Service Charter
• The introduction of a balanced scorecard 

performance management

Review of the Strategic Plan 2016–2018
An analysis of the 2016–2018 Strategic Plan was 
conducted and provided lessons learnt for the new 
strategy. The specific strategic objectives in the 
expiring Strategic Plan included:

• Growing the business and managing the cost 
of doing business while building a financially 
sustainable organisation

• Delivering customer and stakeholder-centricity 
• Attracting, retaining and building capacity of 

our staff to meet revenue, operational and 
strategic objectives

Legacy strategic issues identified and 
addressed

• Lack of effective communication of the 
strategy within the organisation 

• Misalignment between organisational 
structure and the strategy

• Number of objectives exceeded available 
capacity

• Objectives insufficiently formulated, causing 
difficulty in cascading and facilitating the full 
implementation of the performance 
management system

• Initiatives not properly linked and aligned to 
the overall strategic objectives

Our revised Strategic Plan was developed by identifying 
the gaps in our approach to both our external and 
internal operating environment. In bridging these gaps, 
we addressed the business aspect of innovation across 
the organisation.

• Lack of a formalised monitoring and 
evaluation framework

• Lack of resource and ownership-allocation 
with respect to the strategy

• Excessive changes within a short period 
together with a lack of change management 
initiatives

• A large number of objectives dependent on 
other objectives

Balanced scorecard (BSC) methodology
In formulating our new Strategic Plan, we have 
adopted the BSC framework. The balanced 
scorecard is a strategy-based management tool 
that enables us to align our vision and mission with 
our operations, and, expressed in terms of our 
capitals, it embraces four main perspectives:

• Financial
• Customer
• Internal business processes
• Learning and growth

Building sustainability
The first part of our new strategic approach 
consists of building a sustainable organisation 
that:

• Comprises talented, competent and inspired 
people

• Increases our customer and shareholder value 
proposition

• Promotes and fosters innovation and 
continuous improvement

In order to actualise and augment these basic 
imperatives, we will:

• Further invest in knowledge and IT 
infrastructure

• Enhance the capacity of our people
• Promote innovation throughout our operations
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• Emphasise continuous improvement and 
standardise operations in order to maximise 
value-add through the critical exercise of 
improving and documenting all our core 
processes.

Opportunities for growth
The second part of our strategic approach 
considers opportunities that are available to grow 
the business.

Since inception, ESRIC’s business has been 
restricted to the provision of both life and non-life 
insurance services, focusing only on the Kingdom 
of Eswatini. In considering the opportunities 
available, we propose to amend the vision of 
the Corporation to include participation in other 
financial services and to explore opportunities 
beyond the borders of the country. As these are 
new ventures, a different set of capabilities and 
a new focus will be required to pursue these 
emerging opportunities.

Our strategic priority is to raise standards in 
all our operations and to constantly search for 
other opportunities to further grow and diversify 
the business, with the overall aim of long-term 
sustainability. To facilitate and support the corporate 
strategy to this end, our approach also envisages 
improving the overall standard of our corporate 
governance.

Strategy Action Plan – FY2020
In implementing our strategic objectives, a Strategy 
Action Plan was put in place during the year under 
review, focusing on:
• Personalised service to clients
• Our existing customer feedback mechanism, 

including training and the inclusion of visitors 
in the feedback pool

• Continuously improving our Customer Service 
Charter

• Our customer call centre, including utilising it 
to drive new business

• Revamping our customer service centre
• Expanding our footprint
• Periodically enhancing our core products

Our guiding strategic themes
• Value creation for shareholders
• Development of ESRIC brand equity
• Growth
• Diversification
• Profitability
• Sustainability

A strategic vision for the future
Heretofore, the vision for ESRIC has been to be the 
foremost provider of both life and non-life insurance 
services in Eswatini. Considering the strategic 
opportunities available, this vision has thus been 
amended to include other financial services and to 
explore opportunities beyond the country’s borders. 
Our new vision is based on the strength of the 
Corporation and the capabilities it has built over 
decades of operation.

For more on IT and HR, see pages 32 and 33 
respectively.

For more on our vision, mission and values, 
see page 6.

STRATEGIC FOCUS AREAS

Focus area Objective

Business 
development

To grow client base across 
segment/province/geography 
and revenue sustainability of the 
business

Customer service
To attract and retain customers 
through market-leading service 
and quality

Distribution 
networks and 
broker relations

To develop and maintain mutually 
beneficial relations with brokers 
and distribution networks

IT and systems

To enhance and entrench 
enabling information systems 
and technology that support 
benchmarked customer service 
and optimal business efficiencies

People

To recruit, develop and retain 
people who fit in, and support 
ESRIC’s vision, values and 
culture

Products

To offer a compelling range of 
products that continuously meets 
the needs of current and future 
customers
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Our value-creating 
business model

• Our energy and water usage

Risk transfer through the:

• Sale of life and non-life insurance policies
• Management of insurance risk on behalf 

of customers
• Careful investment-mandate selection
• Maintaining a strong market share
• Managing positive brand equity

In terms of our pursuit of excellence by 
implementing our guiding strategic themes:

• Value-creation for shareholders
• Development of brand equity
• Growth
• Diversification
• Profitability
• Sustainability

While mitigating our critical risks*,  
in the areas of:

• New systems implementation
• Poor economic growth
• IT security
• Regulatory compliance
• Poor return on investments
• Erosion of buying power
• Fraud
• Inadequate reinsurance
• Loss of market share

Financial 
Capital

Social and 
Relationship 

Capital

Human 
Capital

Natural 
Capital

Intellectual 
Capital

Manufactured 
Capital

INPUTS Our six capitals KEY ACTIVITIES

E667 million
NEP
E267 million
PBT
E163 million
UWP

11 278 m2  Buildings
7 Vehicles
Computer infrastructure

113
Employees

• Our skills, experience, and 
expertise

• Policies, processes, systems, 
service support

• Documented best practice
• Operational frameworks
• Revenue management
• Software

• Our customers
• Our brokers
• The Board
• Employees
• Community/Society
• Media
• Suppliers and service 

providers

* For more on finance, see page 47
 For more on risk, see page 26
 For more on HR, see page 33
 For more on IT, see page 32
 For more on stakeholders, see page 25
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Stakeholder* Capital Outcome

Customers 
 

• 2 916 | claims paid out 
• E258 million | paid in benefits
• E103 million | paid non-life claims 

Employees
 

• Fostering leadership 
• Attracting, retaining, and developing talent
• Engaged and motivated employees

Brokers
 

• E461 million | business generated 
• E90 million | commission paid

Regulators
  

• Compliance with legislation and rules

• Financial certainty
• Peace of mind for clients and loved ones
• Protection from unexpected events
• Mitigation of dire circumstances 

resulting from theft, loss, death, disability, 
and illness

• The need for staff to learn new business 
processes.

• Disruption of clients’ data due to new 
system migration

• Increase in capital cost for new business 
processing systems

• Divided focus between business operations 
with new business systems development.

• Revised job specifications and 
requirements, forcing new skills acquisition.

OUTPUTS

WITH TRADE-OFFS...

OUTCOMES
For our stakeholders

Total peace of mind
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We define our material matters as those that can make a 
significant impact on our ability to perform in terms of our 
strategy, to create and deliver value to our shareholders, 
or to continue sustainably as a business in the short-, 
medium- or long-term.. 

Material matter Capital affected

Changing regulatory 
environment Financial 

Capital

 
Social and 

Relationship 
Capital

New competitors Financial 
Capital

 
Social and 

Relationship 
Capital

Weak economic growth Financial 
Capital

Knowledgeable and 
demanding clientele Financial 

Capital

 
Intellectual 

Capital

 
Social and 

Relationship 
Capital

Lack of innovation Intellectual 
Capital

Legislation Financial 
Capital

 
Intellectual 

Capital

Complacency Human 
Capital

 
Social and 

Relationship 
Capital

Material matter Capital affected

Ageing client base Financial 
Capital

 
Social and 

Relationship 
Capital

Cyber fraud Financial 
Capital

 
Intellectual 

Capital

Climate change Social and 
Relationship 

Capital  
Natural 
Capital

Unpredictable market 
performance Financial 

Capital

 
Intellectual 

Capital

Economic uncertainties Financial 
Capital

Technological 
developments Intellectual 

Capital

Material matters

The material matters that we have identified, thus have a bearing on all our capitals, as shown in the table below:

These material matters give rise to the identification 
of specific risks. 
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Managing risk forms part of our intellectual capital, and 
we follow a structured approach to this important aspect 
of our business. Management meets with members of the 
Board annually to review the strategy in light of those risks 
that might impede us in achieving our strategic aims. 

The risk register is drawn up by management and 
is assessed quarterly, with tests such as network 
penetration tests implemented as required to 
examine our resilience. We follow a structured 
approach in this, taking into account 
developments identified during the course of the 
year, and the actions required to counter them. 
We follow an enterprise-wide process in 
analysing, assigning responsibilities, and 
monitoring and assessing responses. In addition, 
we benchmark our findings in light of the 
measures our peers in the industry are taking. 

Several risks recur year-on-year in insurance, and 
they, therefore, continued to appear on our list of 
major risks during the year under review. However, 
the mitigation measures associated with them may 
change if we perceive them to have been 
ineffective. 

For the year under review, the devastating effect of 
Covid-19, which affected business and public 
health, compounded the challenges already faced 
by the Eswatini economy. The Kingdom of 
Eswatini’s economy, similar to other developing 
countries, has been confronted by the three-
pronged challenges of slow economic growth, 
poverty, and high unemployment for several years.

In March 2020, the Eswatini government imposed 
a lockdown to contain the spread of the 
Coronavirus. Most businesses in the country, 
including the Corporation, were affected.  
The lockdown restrictions which affected the 
movement of people affected the Corporation in 
several ways and heightened the significance of 
the following risks: 

Cyber risks: This entails risk in a security breach 
of the Corporation’s IT system. Such a risk may 
affect the confidentiality and integrity of 
information, resulting in business interruption  
and/or financial loss which could negatively affect 
the company’s brand. Due to the government-
imposed lockdowns around the world, incidents 
of cyber fraud/crime increased. The increase was 
enabled, among others, by the general laxity in IT 
security that is occasioned by most companies 
allowing staff to work from home. During the year 
under review, the Corporation undertook several 
initiatives to manage Cyber Risk. To empower 
employees by increasing their awareness of the 
latest cyber threats, continual training on 
cybersecurity awareness training was embarked 
upon. Cyber risk analysis was also performed and 
penetration tests were conducted to assess 
vulnerabilities in our ICT network and website. 

Compliance risks: Covid-19 increased the 
regulatory burden for the Corporation. Our 
regulator issued some directives to assist 
policy-holders, particularly around retirement 
issues. The Corporation also had to ensure that it 
maintains solid liquidity for retirement funds. 

Financial sustainability risk: The second wave 
of the Covid-19 pandemic, which spanned from 
the second week of December 2020 until the end 
of January 2021, introduced an all-time high 
mortality rate. As an Insurer, our Life division 
incurred unprecedented claims emanating from 
death associated with the virus. 

Managing risk
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OUR TOP RISKS – FY2020 TO BE ACTIONED IN 2021
Risk
Rating Risk Causes Outlook Mitigation

1
Business 
development 

Financial pressure on 
consumers due to the 
economic impact of Covid-19. 

Changing insurance 
landscape with economic 
downturn placing pressure on 
disposable incomes.

Making premiums affordable; waiving 
charges on debit order payments; 
reviewing pricing structure; revising 
payment terms for those impacted by 
Covid-19; introducing new affordable 
products; competitive product pricing; 
market surveys and improved broker 
relations. 

2
Customer 
service 

Loss of customer trust caused 
by poor customer relations; 
poor product knowledge or a 
record of not paying claims.

Poor stakeholder relationship 
management from lack of 
consulting or communicating 
with stakeholders. 

Handling of customer complaints policy; 
customer product evaluation initiatives; 
customer satisfaction surveys; customer 
complaints tracking initiatives; product 
education for customers; structured 
visits to intermediaries; training for 
stakeholders; service level agreements; 
dedicated management of intermediary 
accounts.

3
 People Inability to retain, attract, 

recruit and build capacity 
owing to an unattractive 
working environment, poor 
remuneration, and inadequate 
recruitment processes. 

Development of recruitment, retention, 
rewards, and training and development 
policies. Proper remuneration structures 
and labour relations processes. 
Wellness programes, training, 
 and development plans. 

4
Information and 
communication 
technology 

When ICT does not support 
business strategy and 
objectives owing to legacy 
technology and insufficient 
capacity. Risk factors such as 
cybercrime and the inability to 
adopt technological changes. 

Digitisation is recognised as a key 
business driver. Automation of certain 
business processes; mapping business 
flow; annual IT surveys; installation of 
firewalls; cybersecurity training; and 
cybersecurity awareness.

5
Fraud Fraud and collusion emanating 

from unethical conduct; 
collusion with external parties; 
weakness in internal 
processes; management 
oversight or lack of fraud 
training and awareness.

Fraud awareness campaigns; code of 
conduct; declaration of interests by all 
staff members; automated processes; 
vetting incoming staff; fraud policy; 
segregation of duties; ad hoc audits on 
high-risk areas in the business; and 
internal policies and procedures.

6
Compliance Non-compliancy to regulatory 

requirements may result in 
corrupt practices; low levels of 
compliance maturity or lack of 
formalised compliance 
monitoring processes. 

Documentation of compliance 
processes; regular compliance training 
and awareness; procedure compliance 
implementation systems as well as 
regular and systematic compliance 
monitoring.

Key

Low risk Medium risk High risk Declining Deteriorating Unchanged

Intellectual 
Capital
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Our risk heat map

IMPACT

Very high

High

Medium

Low

Very low

LIKELIHOOD

1

4

3 6

2

5

Very low Low Medium High Very high

Key

Low risk

Medium risk
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Information Technology 

The IT department forms a key part of our intellectual 
and human capital. Through the use of IT tools, the 
depatment enhances efficiency in business processes 
by the data warehouse project, reducing downtime 
for online processing systems, enabling virtual 
conferencing, implementing the asset-management 
module and enhancing communication systems. 

Intellectual 
Capital

Human 
Capital

During the year under review, the Corporation augmented systems and processes to enable smooth 
business functioning during the Covid-19 pandemic. As of April 2020, some services such as the email 
service were moved to Mimecast a cloud service. Implementation of data warehousing is underway, and 
plans are afoot to activate Virtual Private Network (VPN) for all work teams to access the organisation’s 
systems, even when working from home. Work from home arrangements brings along cyber threats such 
as the possibility of intrusion into our network. More rigorous multi-level cyber security training has been 
implemented to equip our staff members as human firewall to avoid cyber threats permeating our network.
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To accomplish this, we strive to build a high-performance culture and enable goal clarity among staff. 
Managers and employees have a responsibility in ensuring that expectations are defined in terms of roles, 
responsibilities, and accountabilities. Goals are set effectively as they form the basis for an effective 
performance management process. Performance management occurs yearly in support of accomplishing 
the strategic objectives of the Corporation. Managers set goals for their departments in support of the 
Corporation’s business strategy and the accepted framework for writing effective goals is SMART 
(Specific, Measurable, Actionable, Results-oriented, and Trackable). Setting SMART goals contributes to 
tracking progress and objective feedback. 

Performance management creates an environment that encourages personal development which in turn 
benefits the corporation. Performance is also linked with rewards in a clear, consistent, and transparent 
process. This has created a sense of fairness and job satisfaction. It is the full participation and support of 
the upper-level management team in performance management that has led to the Corporation’s success. 
HR focuses on offering competitive remuneration packages, enviable benefits packages, confidential 
succession planning, continuous staff training and development, promotion of collaboration, employee 
well-being, and promotion opportunities. 

Human Resources 

HR forms part of our human, social and relationship 
capitals, the department works with employees to 
ensure, on the one hand, that the business is as 
productive as possible, and on the other hand, that our 
employees are enabled towards the achievement of 
superior standards of work performance.

Social and 
Relationship 

Capital

Human 
Capital



34   /   ESRIC  /   INTEGRATED REPORT   /   2020

TALENT MANAGEMENT 
Training, development, and excellence in 
recruitment are key aspects of our HR strategy to 
meet the Corporation’s future needs. We ensure 
that our staff members are trained to take new 
roles and are prepared for the future. To ensure 
that staff upgrades their skills, on-the-job training 
and various courses from recognised institutions 
in South Africa are offered and sponsored by the 
Corporation. In addition, soft skills development 
workshops, such as those on supervisory skills, 
are offered. Staff members at a senior officer  
level are trained in supervisory/leadership skills. 
For 2021, we will focus on building stronger 
engagement through performance and employee 
segmentation. HR will use performance 
management to place employees at various  
levels based on their acquired competencies.  
The objective for the segmentation will be to offer 
relevant training and development for each target 
group. In this case, our performance 
management tool will serve as a framework to 
segment employees correctly. The segments that 
will be used are high potentials; future leaders; 
top performers; and low performers. We will 
gradually move to segment our teams based on 
mindsets and attitudes in the subsequent years. 

2020 enrolments

Number
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• 2019
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HIGHLIGHTS OF HUMAN CAPITAL 
ACTIVITIES UNDER COVID-19
During the year under review, the Covid-19 
pandemic caused tremendous disruption in 
employees’ lives and the business. HR had to 
become more agile and responsive to the 
changed situation brought by the pandemic. 
Employee support became crucial. Hence, HR 
continuously offered expanded support to ensure 
employee well-being, including psychological 
support. Safety was prioritised to minimise risks 
associated with the transmission and 
perpetuation of the Coronavirus in our work 
environment. To comply with the Covid-19 
protocols, employees rotated working days and 
were urged to keep a physically safe distance. 
There was also distribution and use of protective 
clothing, including free masks. Anyone exhibiting 
flu-like symptoms or feeling ill was encouraged to 
stay at home until fully recovered. Personal health 
and hygiene were continuously encouraged for 
staff and clients, with sanitisers availed 
throughout our premises. The work environment 
was kept clean and disinfected regularly. 

To manage the virus, HR sought to achieve a 
partnership between the team leaders and teams. 
Team leaders needed enhanced skills to manage 
and motivate employees by providing a calm work 
environment and clarity amongst team members. 
Furthermore, managing talent through the 
pandemic required fundamental shifts. This 
included strategic redeployments, flexibility, and 
reskilling. In conclusion, HR had a role to assist 
the Corporation to maintain and sustain social 
capital amidst a challenging and unpredictable 
environment. 

Human Resources 
continued
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Employee age profile at 31 December 2020

Number
• Female
• Male
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Staff gender diversity at December 2020

• Males – 52%
• Females – 48%

%

REWARDS AND BENEFITS
ESRIC recognises, motivates, and retains 
outstanding employees at all levels. Remuneration, 
recognition, and rewards are key in motivating 
ESRIC employees. The Corporation, when striving 
to be the most preferred employer, uses 
remuneration and reward as a competitive strategy 
which is a core strength of its employee value 
proposition. Remuneration reviews are carried out 
periodically to ensure that the staff is remunerated 
fairly as a result of the determining salary levels for 
all positions. Further, there are also performance 
bonus rewards granted, when individuals and the 
Corporation achieve good performance. 

EMPLOYEE AND LABOUR RELATIONS
ESRIC strives to create and maintain positive 
relationships with our employees as part of our 
intention to have a loyal, productive, and engaged 
team. The corporate Management provides 
positive feedback to show that our team is valued 
and encourages management to be visible and 
approachable. We further encourage our team 
with career development to improve their skills 
through the provision of tuition fees that are not 
repayable by staff. In terms of our employee 
relations policy and strategy, we endeavour that 
the Corporation is staffed and structured 
appropriately to deliver high-quality service 
through well-structured recruitment and selection 
processes. We also ensure that the team’s skills 
and experience mix are appropriate for the future 
needs in different departments. Staff turnover rate 
in 2020 was 4% and a retention rate of 96%.
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Our leadership

Adv. Muhawu Maziya (56) 
Chairman 

BA(Law); LLB (UNISWA); LLM 
(University of Virginia)

An advocate of the High Court of 
Swaziland since 1992, Advocate 
Maziya has worked as a Lecturer and 
Head of the Law Department at the 
University of Swaziland for several 
years. He later joined the Federation 
of Swaziland Employers as a Deputy 
Executive Director in a role that saw 
him representing Eswatini’s business 
community in international forums. 
He subsequently joined the Royal 
Swaziland Sugar Corporation as a 
Group Company Secretary. He also 
held management positions in the 
same corporation.

Busangani Mkhaliphi (50) 
International MBA (National Chengchi 
University – Taiwan); BCom, 
Accounting (UNESWA); Diploma in 
Accounting Studies (UNESWA)

Ms Mkhaliphi serves as Director, 
Public Enterprise Unit (PEU) in the 
Eswatini Ministry of Finance, where her 
responsibilities include, among others, 
establishing performance targets 
for category A public enterprises; 
monitoring of targets; contributing to 
the preparation of reports; advising 
the standing committee on financial 
policy; attending board meetings of 
selected enterprises; administration of 
the Public Enterprise Loan Guarantee 
Fund; coordinating and monitoring 
of corporate governance training 
of the boards of directors of public 
enterprises; advising on issues of 
restructuring, commercialisation 
and privatisation and preparing a 
performance model for all public 
enterprises.

Dumisile Ngwenya (61)
Certificate in Accounting and Business 
Studies (UNISWA); Diploma in 
Accounting and Business Studies 
(UNISWA); Diploma in Commerce 
(UNISWA); BCom (UNISWA);  
ACCA – UK (Zambia College 
of Accountancy Studies); MSc, 
Leadership and Change Management 
(Leeds Metropolitan University)

Having held various accountancy and 
senior accountancy positions in the 
Eswatini departments of Customs and 
Excise, Central Transport Administration 
(CTA), Ministry of Agriculture, 
Ms Ngwenya was appointed Principal 
Accountant in the Treasury Department 
Fraud and Losses Section. She 
subsequently became Chief Financial 
Officer: National Maize Corporation 
(NMC), where she was responsible 
for, among others, the preparation of 
financial statements, audit trail, financial 
advice, cash flow management, 
investment appraisal, and human 
resources management. In 2014, she 
was appointed Deputy Accountant 
General, in which role she served 
until May 2017, after which she was 
appointed Accountant General,  
a position she continues to occupy.

5 Male

62.5%
3 Female

37.5%

Gender diversity
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 Edward Sipho Sithole (52)
BA (UNISWA); Postgraduate Diploma 
in Business Management (University 
of Natal); MBA in Strategic Human 
Resources Management (University 
of Natal)

Mr Sithole has extensive experience 
in people management, strategy, 
and in general management. He 
has occupied leadership roles in the 
FMCG (beverages) industry, textile 
manufacturing, financial services, 
and in state-owned entities. His 
most recent experience is in the 
banking sector as the Head of Human 
Resources and Strategy for Nedbank 
(Swaziland). He has also worked for the 
Swaziland Revenue Authority as Head 
of Corporate Services. 

Arthur Els (70) 
BSc (Hons) degree in Mathematics 
(University of the Witwatersrand); 
Certified Financial Planner (CFP); 
Financial Risk Manager (FRM); 
Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of 
Actuaries and the Actuarial Society of 
South Africa; Certified Enterprise Risk 
Actuary (CERA)

Arthur started his career as a 
product development actuary at the 
Johannesburg office of the Prudential 
Insurance Company and then became 
a partner at the firm of consulting 
actuaries, JA Carson & Partners, 
where he gained wide experience in 
consulting and being a valuator of 
retirement funds. Between 1998 and 
2003, he was a Branch Director at 
Alexander Forbes, managing a team of 
actuarial staff and overseeing a portfolio 
of clients. In 2004, he ventured out on 
his own and established a new firm 
of consulting actuaries, and provided 
independent actuarial services for a 
number of the Top 100 companies in 
South Africa. This firm merged with 
Genesis Actuarial Solutions in 2014, 
to form the present-day ARGEN 
Actuarial Solutions. During this period 
Arthur also served as a Non-Executive 
Director on the board of a life insurance 
company and was chairperson of its 
risk committee. Arthur is a part-time 
lecturer in the actuarial department at 
Wits University.

Nicolaas Conradie (58)
BSc (Cum Laude) (University of 
Stellenbosch); BSc (Hons), Theoretical 
Physics (University of Stellenbosch); 
MSc (Cum Laude), Reactor Physics 
(University of Potchefstroom)

Mr Conradie has been employed at 
Munich Reinsurance Company in 
various management roles in South 
Africa and Australia, where he also later 
served on the executive management 
team, and where he now serves in the 
position of Member of Executive: Life.

Age profile
30–59

62.5%
60–89

37.5%
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Pieter Bezuidenhout (60) 
Hons B.Compt (UNISA); CA (SA) 
South African Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (SAICA); CISA – Certified 
Information Systems Auditor  
(EDP Auditors Foundation); HCI – 
Licentiate Member (Insurance Institute 
of South Africa

After serving his articles for five years 
with Deloitte, where he rose to Audit 
Manager, Mr Bezuidenhout was 
transferred to Deloitte (UK) where he 
specialised in computer security and 
consulting. After returning to Deloitte 
(SA) as an audit manager, he joined 
Spar as a group accountant, and 
later, as Divisional Financial Manager. 
He was subsequently recruited by 
Exatrade Commodities, where he sits 
on the Main Board as well as several 
subsidiary boards, with responsibilities 
for finance. He became Chief Financial 
Officer at Mutual & Federal in 1999, 
before joining Zurich in 2009, as  
Chief Financial Officer/Finance Director. 
In addition to his membership of the 
Board at ESRIC, Mr Bezuidenhout 
also serves on the boards of Eagle 
Insurance (Mauritius), Zurich Pension 
Fund, and Nedbank Insurance 
Company.

Zamokuhle Ngcobo (51) 

General Manager 

BA, Social Science – Economics and 
Statistics (UNISWA); ACII (Insurance 
Institute of South Africa)

After having begun his career at 
ESRIC as Underwriting Manager, Mr 
Ngcobo served as Assistant General 
Manager (Non-Life), before being 
appointed to his present position in 
January 2014 with the mandate to 
develop and execute the Corporation’s 
strategy, develop and apply policies 
and directives in collaboration with 
other members of the Executive 
Management Team, and to ensure 
good corporate governance. In 
addition, his role involves providing 
strategic management and leadership 
guidance to the management team 
and staff, with overall sound financial 
management and appropriate 
management of human resources,  
to ensure efficiency and effectiveness 
of delivery by ESRIC to meet the 
Corporation’s set and agreed 
objectives. 

Nokuthula B Manyoha (38) 
BCom (Hons), Financial Accounting 
(UNISA); BCom Financial 
Accounting (UCT)

Ms Manyoha is currently the Financial 
Director of Old Mutual Insure, after 
previously having been a Finance 
Executive with the listed insurance 
group MMI Holdings Limited. She is a 
chartered accountant, with ten years of 
management experience and specialist 
knowledge in financial services. As 
a senior manager at Deloitte, where 
she provided external audit services 
to clients such as FirstRand Limited 
and Nedbank, she gained expertise 
in commercial and retail banking and 
investment management. In other 
commitments, Ms Manyoha is a 
Thuthuka mentor in the SAICA initiative 
to attract learners from disadvantaged 
communities into the CA profession. 
She has also served on the 
Transformation Survey Committee of 
the Association for the Advancement of 
Black Accountants in Southern Africa 
and continues to mentor students 
and articled clerks in the profession of 
accountancy.

Our leadership
continued
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Mduduzi Dlamini (52) 

Assistant General  
Manager - Life & Finance 

BCom, AAT Level 111 (UNISWA)

After starting his working life as an 
Audit Supervisor at Deloitte (Eswatini) 
Mr Dlamini began his career at 
ESRIC, first as Assistant Finance 
Manager, then in the position of Risk 
Management and Quality Control 
Manager. From 2007 to 2009, he 
worked as the Corporation’s Finance 
Manager before taking on his present 
role in 2009. 

Mandla Dlamini (57) 

Assistant General Manager, 
Corporate Services 

Cert. in Accounting and Business 
Studies (UNISWA); AAT Level 111; 
Dip. in Credit Management and 
Member of the Institute of Credit 
Managers; Insurance COP;  
Advanced Reinsurance Cert

Mr Dlamini joined the Corporation 
in 1989 and has worked in a 
management capacity as Branch 
Manager, Underwriting Manager, 
Claims Manager, and Assistant General 
Manager Non-Life.

Musa Simelane (53) 

Assistant General Manager, 
Non-Life Insurance 

BA, Law (UNISWA); LLB (UNISWA)

Musa joined ESRIC in 1996 and 
worked for three years in the Life 
division and later spent 10 years in 
the Claims department as Claims 
Administrator. He was manager in the 
Underwriting department for two years 
and later appointed Claims Manager. 
Having amassed 15 years on non-life 
insurance experience, Musa was 
appointed to his present position from 
2016 to date. 

Our general management team
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The Corporation is governed by a unitary Board 
which reflects the balance of power, and whose 
size is aligned to the stipulations of the Eswatini 
Royal Insurance Corporation Order and its 
Articles. The Board is also responsible for risk 
governance, including IT governance, and it 
ensures that the Corporation develops and 
executes a comprehensive and robust system of 
enterprise-wide risk management. In addition,  
the Board ensures the maintenance of a sound 
internal control system by setting its tone and by 
providing oversight mechanisms. The Board also 
gives due consideration to the diversity of its 
members.

The Board undertakes to present a fair, balanced, 
and comprehensible assessment of the 
Corporation’s financial, environmental, social,  
and governance position, performance, and 
outlook in its annual integrated report and on  
its website. Assisted by the Audit, Risk, and 
Compliance Committee (ARC), the Board 
assumes responsibility for the Integrated Annual 
Report and ensures that the report fairly 
represents the performance of the Corporation.

The role of internal audit is outlined in the ARC 
Charter as well as in the Internal Audit Charter, 
both of which are approved by the Board and 
reviewed annually. The annual Internal Audit plan 
is approved by the ARC.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board is the focal point of corporate 
governance in the Corporation, and is ultimately 
accountable and responsible for its performance 
and affairs, including:
• Ensuring that an adequate and effective 

process of corporate governance is 
established and maintained and that it 
complies with King IV

• Approving the text contained in the corporate 
governance statement in the annual report and 
the valuation of the effectiveness of the Board 
Committee

The number of committees is commensurate with 
the size of the Board, and their membership is 
drawn from Board members only, although 
non-members and specialists may attend. 
Decision-making power rests with the Board 
unless formally delegated to a committee.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND 
STRUCTURE
The Board comprises eight members, one of 
whom is the Chairman, as well as other officers 
and staff as the Board may consider necessary. 
The Chairman has a deliberative and casting 
vote, although a Chairman appointed to act in 
the absence of the Chairman has only a 
deliberative vote.

Of the ten Directors, six are appointed by the 
Minister and the remaining four by shareholders 
and are elected at a general meeting of 
shareholders convened in accordance with the 
Articles of Association of the Corporation.  
These directors are appointed for a period,  
not exceeding three years, as the meeting may 
decide, provided that the government will  
not be entitled to a vote in the election of these 
four Directors.

AUDIT FUNCTION
The Corporation maintains an effective and 
independent internal audit function that has the 
respect, confidence, and cooperation of both the 
Board and Management. The Board has a formal 
and transparent arrangement to appoint and 
maintain an appropriate relationship with both the 
Corporation’s internal and external auditors.

Directors are at liberty to accept appointments  
to other Boards, provided that any such 
appointment is disclosed and does not result in 
any conflict of interest with that of the 
Corporation. 

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS
The Board is responsible for ensuring that an 
appropriate dialogue takes place among the 
Corporation, its shareholders, and other 
stakeholders. The Board respects the interest of 
its shareholders and other key stakeholders within 
the context of its fundamental purpose. 

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS
There is a formal, rigorous, and transparent 
process for the appointment, election, induction, 
and re-election of Directors. The search for Board 
candidates is conducted, and appointments are 
made, on merit against objective criteria, which 
include skills, knowledge, experience,  

Our Board
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and independence. The search is also conducted 
with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the 
Board, including gender. The Board also ensures 
that a formal, rigorous, and transparent procedure 
is in place for planning the succession of all key 
officeholders. 

INDUCTION AND ORIENTATION OF NEW 
DIRECTORS
All new Directors undergo an induction process, 
which includes an initial meeting, with a 
comprehensive induction manual, and which may 
be conducted by the Corporation Secretary.

The induction process ensures that:
• The process of decision making is explained
• The values and expectations of the Board are 

highlighted
• The key roles of the Board and the 

expectations of the Director are discussed
• The key legal requirements of the Director are 

discussed, particularly in terms of behaviour 
and the expectations of the Board

• The programme also includes a means for the 
Director to self-assess their knowledge in key 
areas, and to seek further clarification and 
knowledge where needed

SUCCESSION PLANNING 
Having regard to the regulatory framework and in 
consultation with the Minister and Shareholders, 
there is a succession plan in place for the 
Chairman, the General Manager (GM), and other 
senior management.

The succession plan focuses on long-term 
strategic and mission-critical organisational 
requirements and is a key success factor for the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

BOARD MEETINGS
The Board meets at least four times a year, or 
more frequently as circumstances dictate, with 
the number of meetings sufficient to ensure that 
the Board meets its objectives. All Board 
members are required to attend Board meetings.

Where any Director wishes to call a meeting,  
he or she instructs the Corporation Secretary to 
that effect, and the Corporation Secretary gives 
notice of the meeting.

The Chairman may meet with the GM and/or the 
Corporation Secretary before a Board meeting to 
discuss important issues and to agree on the 
agenda.

A General Meeting of the Corporation is held once every year, at a time and place determined by the 
Board, with not more than fifteen months elapsing between any two successive meetings.

Board meeting attendance
Meeting date

Director 31 March 11 June 18 June 11 September 26 November 

2020
Mr MI Maziya Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr ES Sithole Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr P Bezuidenhout Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Ms BG Mkhalipi Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr DJ Ngwenya Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr A Els No Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr JN Conradie Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Ms NB Manyoha Yes Yes No Yes Yes
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DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY
Delegation is formal and involves:
• Formal Terms of Reference/Charter for each 

committee, and reviewed once a year
• The committees being appropriately constituted 

with due regard to the required skills
• The Board establishing a framework for the 

delegation of authority to Management.

The Board Committees are:
• Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)
• Investment and Asset/Liability Matching 

Committee (ALMIC)
• Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

(RemCom) 

OUR BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board appoints committees consisting of 
members of the Board, as it deems fit and 
delegates any of its powers to these committees. 
It may from time to time revoke any such 
delegation and discharge any committee wholly 
or in part.

The committees, in the exercise of the powers 
delegated to them by the Board, conform  
to directions that may, from time to time,  
be imposed upon them by the Board.

The committees are required to report to the 
Board, with the Board being obligated to monitor 
and evaluate the activities of committees and 
individuals with delegated authority.

Our Board
continued

ALMIC

The committee is constituted as a standing 
committee of the Board.

The committee met five times during the year 
under review.

Role
The principal objective of the ALMIC is to prepare 
and take decisions on matters related to the 
performance management of invested assets of the 
entities within its scope while considering their 
liabilities.

Responsibilities
• To assess strategic investments
• To assess, among others, risks related to 

liquidity; interest rate; capital solvency;  
asset/liability, and market

Members 
1. Arthur Els (Chairman)
2. Busangani Mkhaliphi
3. Pieter Bezuidenhout
4. Nicolaas Conradie

Focus areas for FY2021
• Management of cashflow and liquidity 

Focus areas in FY2020
• To ensure the recently approved IPS is 

implemented and monitored effectively

RemCom

The committee met three times during the year under 
review. 

The RemCom is constituted as a committee of the Board.

Role
To assist the Board in its responsibility for:
• Remunerating Directors, General and Executive 

Management fairly and responsibly
• Setting and administering remuneration policies 

which are in the Corporation’s long-term interest
• Agreeing on overall increase levels based on 

affordability and other relevant factors
• Ensuring that the disclosure of remuneration is 

accurate, complete, and transparent

BOARD
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ARC

The ARC is a Statutory Committee of the Board,  
and is subject to the provisions of the Insurance Act 
2005, King’s Order-In Council, Eswatini Royal 
Insurance Corporation Articles of Association.

The committee met six times during the year under 
review.

Role 
• To assist the Board in discharging its duties 

relating to the safeguarding of assets, the 
operations of systems, control processes, and 
the preparation of accurate financial reports and 
statements in compliance with applicable legal 
requirements and accounting standards and align 
with management as it embarks on a risk 
management programme

• To oversee and approve the Corporation’s risk 
management framework and practices

Responsibilities 
• To consider all factors and risks that may have an 

impact on the integrity of the Corporation’s 
integrated reporting, and to review the Annual 
Financial Statements (AFS), as well as all 
Management, audit, and financial reports, 
methodology, approach, and controls

• To assist the Board in its evaluation of the adequacy 
and efficiency of risk policies, procedures, 
practices, and controls in the Corporation's 
day-to-day management of its business

• Review and approve the risk management 
infrastructure and the critical risk management 
policies adopted by the Corporation

• Monitor the implementation of the policy and plan 
for risk management 

• Review and approve the risk management plan 
and all related and compliance-related aspects, 
policies, reviews, and risk identification and 
prioritisation, including matters related to 
whistleblowing

• To assist the Board in carrying out its IT 
responsibilities

Members
1. Pieter Bezuidenhout (Chairman)
2. Dumisile Ngwenya
3. Arthur Els
4. Thuli Manyoha

Focus areas for FY2021
• Enterprsise-wide risk management

• Ethics and fraud 

Focus areas in FY2020
• Compliance to regulatory and legislative policies
• IT governance 
• Finance and accounts 

• Making recommendations to the Board on 
succession, development, and appointment at 
Board, General, and Executive Management levels

• Setting appraisal and assessment criteria and 
processes for General and Executive Management 
and agree to the performance ratings

Responsibilities
• To determine, develop and agree to the 

Corporation’s Remuneration Policy, oversee the 
setting, efficacy, and reporting of remuneration at 
all levels within the Corporation and ensure that 
the remuneration policy promotes the achievement 
of the Corporation’s strategic objectives and 
encourages individual performance

• To oversee the nomination, induction, 
succession-planning, and performance 
assessments of Directors

Members
1. Edward Sithole (Chairman)
2. Busangani Mkhaliphi
3. Pieter Bezuidenhout
4. Nicolaas Conradie

Focus areas for FY2021
• Leadership development 
• Industrial relations 

Focus areas in FY2020
• Creating a succession plan for the Board, 

general and senior members of management 
• Creating a robust process for performance 

assessment
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General information
for the year ended 31 December 2020

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors consisted of the following members during the year:

Mr M Maziya Chairman Appointed 1 January 2020
Mr A Els Member Appointed 1 January 2020
Mr N Conradie Member
Mr E Sithole Member Appointed 1 January 2020
Mr P Bezuidenhout Member
Ms D Ngwenya Member
Ms B Mkhaliphi Member
Ms NB Manyoha Member

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
Mr Z Ngcobo General Manager
Mr MB Dlamini Assistant General Manager: Life and Finance
Mr M Simelane Assistant General Manager: Non-life
Mr MA Dlamini Assistant General Manager: Corporate Services

REGISTERED OFFICE
Postal Physical
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation Insika House
PO Box 917 Somhlolo Road
Mbabane, Eswatini Mbabane
H100 Eswatini

ACTUARIES
Deloitte & Touche Actuarial & Insurance Solutions
Deloitte Place The Woodland
Private Bag X6 Building 33, 2nd Floor
Gallo Manor, 2052 20 Woodlands Drive
Gauteng Woodmead, Gauteng
South Africa South Africa

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers Rhus Office Park
PO Box 569 Karl Grant Street
Mbabane, Eswatini Mbabane
H100 Eswatini

BANKERS
First National Bank of Eswatini Limited
Nedbank Eswatini Limited
Standard Bank Eswatini Limited
Swaziland Building Society
Eswatini Development and Savings Bank

INVESTMENT MANAGERS
African Alliance Eswatini Management Company Limited
Stanlib Asset Management Limited
Absa Asset Management Limited
Allan Gray Asset Managers
Ninety One Limited
Prudential Investment Managers
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COVID-19 OUTLOOK
The Covid-19 pandemic developed rapidly in 2020 with a significant number of cases noted mainly during 
the second wave of the pandemic which was experienced during December 2020 and January 2021. 
Measures taken by various governments to contain the virus have affected economic activity negatively 
across many industries.

The Corporation has taken a number of measures to monitor and mitigate the disastrous effects of the 
pandemic as below:
• Where possible employees have been encouraged to work from home and take turns in coming to 

the office;
• Sanitisers and temperature testing have been introduced in all the Corporation offices;
• Virtual platforms are utilised for conducting all meetings between staff and external important 

stakeholders; and
• Social distancing at all the Corporation offices is enforced.

The real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rate as obtained from the Central Statistics Department of 
the Central Bank of Eswatini for financial and insurance industries for 2021, 2022 and 2023 has been 
forecasted at 2.51%, 10.26% and 7.75% respectively. This prediction takes into account the vaccine 
program roll out as planned by most governments as they aim to achieve herd immunisation of over 65% 
by the end of 2021. This is set to provide relief on the already stressed economies and GDP rates for most 
economic sectors will improve.

Despite these challenges which have ravaged many industries forcing some to lay off staff and liquidate 
businesses, the Corporation saw a 37% increase in its profit after tax for 2020 compared to a decline in 
profits of 8.22% experienced in the 2019 financial year. This increase is mainly attributable to the 
significant decline noted in claims expenses for the Non-life business of about 30% as many businesses 
and people were on lockdown. Life business claims also declined by 22% from prior year.

The directors have reviewed budgets and flow of funds forecasts for the next few years and considered 
the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern in light of current and anticipated economic 
conditions. These budgets and flow of funds forecasts took the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic into 
consideration, including projections of the impact on the Corporation’s capital, funding and liquidity 
requirements, all of which have remained within internal targets and above regulatory requirements.

As part of this assessment, the Board considered the sufficiency of the Corporation’s financial resources 
throughout the pandemic. The management of the Corporation’s financial resources, which it defines as 
capital, funding and liquidity, and risk capacity, is a critical enabler of the achievement of the Corporation’s 
stated growth and return targets.

On the basis of this review, and in light of the current financial position and profitable trading history,  
the directors are satisfied that the Corporation has adequate resources to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future. The going concern basis, therefore, continues to apply and has been adopted in the 
preparation of the annual financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE CORPORATION
The Corporation has the following subsidiary:

Eswatini Re Limited* 100%

* The company is still dormant as there were no business operations undertaken during the 2020 financial year. The only 
transaction between the Corporation and the subsidiary related to a E20 million advance for working capital and meeting 
regulators’ capital requirements.
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Statement of responsibility by the 
Board of Directors
for the year ended 31 December 2020

The Directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements 
of Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation. The financial statements presented on pages 46 to 133 have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and include amounts 
based on judgements and estimates made by management.

The Directors are also responsible for the Group’s system of internal financial control. These are designed 
to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance as to the reliability of the financial statements, and to 
adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of the assets, and to prevent and detect 
misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that any material 
breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and system has occurred during the year 
under review.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The Directors have no 
reason to believe that the Group will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based on forecasts 
and available cash resources. These financial statements support the viability of the Group.

The financial statements have been audited by the independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, who 
were given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings 
of shareholders, the Board of Directors and committees of the Board. The Directors believe that all 
representations made to the independent auditors during their audit are valid and appropriate.

The audit report of PricewaterhouseCoopers is presented on pages 51 to 53. The financial statements 
were approved by Board of Directors and are signed on its behalf by:

Chairman  Director

16 July 2021  16 July 2021
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation

OUR OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated and separate financial position of Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation (the Corporation) 
and its subsidiaries (together the Group) as at 31 December 2020, and its consolidated and separate 
financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation’s consolidated and separate financial statements set out on  
pages 54 to 59 comprise:
• the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
• the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) issued by the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants and other independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of financial statements in Eswatini. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the IESBA Code and other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits of financial 
statements in Eswatini.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this 
auditor’s report comprises the information included in the document titled “Eswatini Royal Insurance 
Corporation Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020”.  
The other information does not include the consolidated or the separate financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility  
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group and the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,  
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Corporation or to cease operations, or have  
no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND 
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and the Corporation’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Corporation’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group and/or Corporation to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit.
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We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Partner: Makhosazana Mhlanga
Registered Auditor

PO Box 569
Mbabane

28 September 2021

Partner in charge: T Mason
Resident Partner: M Mhlanga

PricewaterhouseCoopers,  
Rhus Office Park, Kal Grant Street, Mbabane, Eswatini
PO Box 569, Mbabane H100, Eswatini
Telephone +268 2404 2861/3 or 2404 3143
Facsimile +268 2404 5015
www.pwc.com
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Report of the Statutory Actuary – 
Life business
for the year ended 31 December 2020

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION
I hereby certify that:
• The valuation on the statutory basis of the Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation as at 

31 December 2020, the results of which are summarised below, has been conducted in 
accordance with the Actuarial Society of South Africa Standards of Actuarial Practice 104;

• Assets exceeded liabilities plus the Capital Adequacy Requirements at the valuation date;
• In my opinion the Corporation is financially sound at the valuation date and is expected to remain 

so for the foreseeable future.

STATEMENT OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, EXCESS ASSETS AND CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
E’m E’m

Total value of assets, net of reinsurance 2 079.3 1 940.7
Total value of liabilities as per statement of financial position 1 765.4 1 678.2

Value of policy liabilities as per statement of financial position 1 706.6 1 639.5
Current and other liabilities as per statement of financial position 58.8 38.7

Excess assets 313.9 262.5

Capital Adequacy Requirements (CAR) 86.9 129.9
Ratio of excess assets to CAR 3.6 2.0

Although the Insurance Act of 2005 requires that a statutory actuarial valuation be performed,  
no methodology is prescribed. The statutory valuation basis has therefore been set so that it is  
equivalent to the published reporting basis, except that the reinsurance asset in the published results  
is set off from policy liabilities for statutory reporting purposes.

ANALYSIS OF CHANGE IN EXCESS ASSETS ON PUBLISHED REPORTING BASIS

The excess of the value of assets over the value of liabilities has changed as follows over the reporting 
period:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
E’m E’m

Excess assets as at end of the year 313.9 262.5
Excess assets as at beginning of the year 262.5 244.3

Change in excess assets over the year 51.4 18.2

This change in the excess assets can be analysed as follows:
Changes in valuation methods and assumptions 23.1 12.5
Other operating profit 29.6 9.7
Dividend (1.3) (4.0)

Total change in excess assets 51.4 18.2

CHANGES IN PUBLISHED REPORTING VALUATION METHODS OR ASSUMPTIONS
The changes in methods and assumptions had these impacts on the policyholder liabilities:
• Economic basis change decrease of E9.1m
• Economic basis change increase of E14.1m
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PUBLISHED REPORTING VALUATION METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS

Insurance contracts
Insurance contracts have been valued according to Standard of Actuarial Practice (SAP) 104 of the 
Actuarial Society of South Africa. Liabilities are valued as the present value of future cash flows discounted 
at the rate of return assumed on the assets backing the policyholder funds. There is a small portfolio of 
non-profit annuities for which cash flows are discounted using the South African risk-free yield curve.

Future cash flows are projected on a best estimate basis with an allowance for compulsory margins as 
prescribed by SAP104. Future voluntary premium increases are profitable and are therefore ignored in line 
with the previous version of SAP104. Further discretionary margins have been added in respect of 
expenses and mortality.

No allowance is made for the deferral of acquisition costs and these are expensed when incurred.

Demographic assumptions including mortality and persistency rates are set by the Group’s statutory 
actuary. There are insufficient numbers of policies to do detailed experience investigations, but actual 
experience is compared to that projected by the valuation on an annual basis to ensure that assumptions 
are reasonable. The future development of AIDS mortality is projected in line with the ASSA 2003 AIDS 
model.

Economic assumptions are derived with reference to the yield at the valuation date on the SAM yield 
curve. The investment return assumptions are as follows:

%

Fixed interest 12.9
Equities 14.9
Property 13.9
Cash 10.9

Expense inflation is also based on the fixed interest yield and is assumed to be 7.9%.

Future expenses are projected on a per-policy basis where the per-policy expense is derived from actual 
renewal expenses incurred during the last financial period. Renewal expenses are determined by removing 
acquisition costs from the total expenses.

Policyholder reasonable expectations are allowed for by projecting future bonuses in line with future 
investment returns. Bonus stabilisation reserves have been set up for smoothed bonus products and 
conventional with profits products.

Investment contracts
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation has classified its Smoothed Bonus Deposit Administration business 
as investment contracts with discretionary participation features. All other policies are classified as 
insurance contracts. There are therefore no policies which are classified as investment contracts without 
discretionary participation features.

Investment contracts with discretionary participation features have been valued in terms of IFRS 4.  
The liability in respect of the smoothed bonus deposit administration business is valued as the historical 
contributions received less charges rolled up at actual historical declared bonus rates (vesting and 
non-vesting). A bonus stabilisation reserve is maintained in respect of any historical investment returns 
earned by the assets backing the liabilities which have not yet been distributed to policyholders in the form 
of bonus declarations.
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Report of the Statutory Actuary – Life business continued

PUBLISHED REPORTING ASSET VALUATION METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS
Assets have been valued according to the principles of IFRS, typically at fair value/amortised cost.  
Please refer to the Summary of Accounting Policies section of the financial statements.

SPLIT OF PUBLISHED LIABILITIES BETWEEN INVESTMENT AND INSURANCE

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
E’m E’m

Gross actuarial liabilities – investment business 402.5 401.0
Gross actuarial liabilities – insurance business 1 306.4 1 240.8

Total gross actuarial liabilities 1 708.9 1 641.8
Less: reinsurance (2.3) (2.3)
Current liabilities 58.8 38.7

Total liabilities 1 765.4 1 678.2

All reinsurance is on Insurance business.

STATUTORY CAPITAL ADEQUACY REQUIREMENTS
Since Eswatini law does not prescribe a minimum free capital level, the previous version of SAP104 has 
been applied.

The statutory capital adequacy requirements have been calculated in accordance with section 6 of 
SAP104 of the previous version. For the purpose of grossing up the intermediate ordinary capital 
adequacy requirements (IOCAR) to determine the ordinary capital adequacy requirements (OCAR),  
an assumed cash holding has been used. The management action available to reduce the OCAR 
requirement is the removal of part of the nonvested bonuses, the removal of terminal bonuses.

The ordinary capital adequacy requirement (OCAR) exceeded the termination capital adequacy 
requirement (TCAR), and thus the capital adequacy requirements have been based on the OCAR.

Mark Harrison
Statutory Actuary

7 May 2021
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The Embedded Value of an insurance company is a commonly used calculation to estimate the economic 
value for monitoring or sale. It comprises two major components:
• The Net Asset Value of the Group
• The Value of In Force Business

The Net Asset Value of the Group is derived from the financial statements.

The Value of In Force business (VIF) of the Group represents the present value of the future profits arising 
from the existing in-force insurance business. The present value of future profits will be net of tax and of 
the cost of holding the minimum prescribed capital adequacy requirements (CAR). The VIF excludes any 
goodwill that may be attributed to the Group as a result of the value of future new business or the 
expectation of the achievement of additional operational efficiencies in future years.

In the VIF calculation an allowance has been made for expected future tax on investment income on 
shareholder funds as well as tax on operating profit, based on a tax rate of 27.5% as per the Income tax 
act in Eswatini.

The Embedded Value of the Group as at 31 December 2020 was calculated as follows:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
E’000 E’000

Net asset value 313 899 262 477
Value of in-force insurance business 3 777 (44 193)

Present value of future profits on in-force insurance business 137 583 157 907
Less: opportunity cost of capital adequacy requirements (133 806) (202 100)

Total embedded value 317 676 218 284

We have allowed for two times CAR in the 2020 opportunity cost of capital line item. This is consistent 
with the Group’s dividend policy.

The calculation has been conducted broadly in accordance with the general guidance contained in 
APN107 issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa. However, because of the shortcomings included 
in the full actuarial valuation report, the results cannot be presented as being APN107 compliant and are 
not suitable for publication. These results are subject to the limitations set out in the report.

Given the purpose of this calculation we have not illustrated the sensitivity of the value of in-force business 
to the underlying assumptions, other than to the risk discount rate.

PROJECTION ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODOLOGY
This section of the report sets out the main assumptions and methodology used to calculate the VIF in 
addition to the best-estimate assumptions used in the valuation at 31 December 2020.

The risk discount rate is used to discount future projected profits on the best estimate assumptions in 
order to arrive at the value of in-force business. The risk discount rate is typically set at a margin above 
the assumed future return on equity investments. The size of this margin (or risk premium) will vary by 
entity but generally reflects the perceived risk underlying the achievement of these future profits. For 
purposes of this report a risk discount rate of 18.9% has been used (i.e. 4% above the assumed equity 
return in the valuation). The assumption used as at 31 December 2019 was 16.4%.

The VIF includes the expected value of future premium increases resulting from premium escalation 
arrangements on recurring premium in-force insurance business which should incorporate an expected 
premium escalation take-up rate. This is consistent with the approach adopted at the previous year end.

Embedded Value Report – Life 
business
for the year ended 31 December 2020
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Embedded Value Report – Life business continued

PROJECTION ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODOLOGY (continued)
In calculating the VIF it was necessary to use a number of approximations as we were unable to obtain 
sufficient information from the Group. These assumptions will need to be tested and revised once the 
information does become available and this may have a significant impact on the value calculated.

NET ASSET VALUE (NAV) AND VALUE OF IN FORCE BUSINESS (VIF)
The NAV is derived from the financial statements of the Group. These disclose a NAV of E313.9m. The VIF 
is calculated as the present value of the projected stream of future after-tax profits of the insurance 
business inforce at the calculation date.

The Embedded Value at the risk discount rate of 18.9% as at 31 December 2020 (and at 16.4% for 2019) 
was calculated as follows:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
E’000 E’000

Net asset value 313 899 262 477
Present value of future profits on in-force insurance business 137 583 157 907
Less: opportunity cost of capital adequacy requirements (133 806) (202 100)

Total embedded value 317 676 218 284

The Present Value of Future Profits (PVFP) on in-force insurance business before the cost of capital is 
attributed to the various business lines as follows:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
E’000 E’000

Individual life 72 662 92 761

With profit whole of life 6 9
Endowment assurance (including child products) 4 593 6 945
Lilunga 62 786 76 412
Mortgage protection 6 7
Level and decreasing term assurance (223) (189)
Rest in peace 102 160
Retirement annuities 3 5
Noma-Kunje 85 148
Annuities in payment 5 304 9 264

Group business 61 425 63 615

Group funeral 31 151 29 733
Group life 22 778 26 818
Group level term assurance 7 496 7 064

PHI 200 27
Present value of shareholder charge on bonus stabilisation reserve 3 296 1 504

Present value of future profits net of tax 137 583 157 907
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(a) Lilunga business
This is the largest In Force block of policies for the Group. They are endowments run on a smoothed 
bonus basis. A more recent version of the product (the “Lien” product) has a reduced initial sum 
insured, rising to the same previous level, as quid pro quo for not undergoing a HIV test.

(b) Insika
This is a product which was launched by ESRIC in 2007 and consists of a basic cover element and a 
voluntary savings rider. The actuaries currently do not model the reserves of this policy and hold a 
prudent reserve of the unit fund value for the savings portion and zero for the risk portion. In light of 
the treatment of the reserves the actuaries decided to also show no VIF for this product until they 
have a final audited model.

(c) Group business
Group business contributes materially to the total value of PVFP. These products are various forms of 
Group life cover and individual credit life covers administered on a grouped basis.

(d) Other Policy types
ESRIC also has a considerable amount of conventional policies on the books. The main categories 
are with profits endowments and family style funeral products (the Rest In Peace range). Noma-kunje 
is also part of the Rest In Peace range, offering more higher funeral cover than Rest In Peace.

SENSITIVITY OF THE VALUE OF IN FORCE BUSINESS
The risk discount rate appropriate to an investor depends on the investor’s own requirements, tax position 
and perception of the risks associated with the realisation of the projected future profits of Eswatini Royal 
Insurance Corporation. It is therefore useful to provide investors with information regarding the sensitivity 
of the results to changes in the risk discount rate.

The sensitivity of the Value In Force (VIF) to changes in the risk discount rate (RDR), is set out below:

31 Dec 2020 
central RDR

31 Dec 2020 
RDR = 17.9%

31 Dec 2020 
RDR = 19.9%

E’000 E’000 E’000

Net asset value 313 899 319 508 319 508
Present value of future profits on in-force insurance business 137 583 143 608 131 606
Less: opportunity cost of capital adequacy requirements (133 806) (128 029) (138 908)

Embedded value 317 676 329 711 306 823

Given the specific purpose for which the results set out in this report are intended, no additional 
calculations have been performed to illustrate the sensitivity of the VIF to changes in the underlying 
best-estimate assumptions.

CONCLUSION
Based on our investigations, the financial statements and the calculation of the liabilities, I am satisfied that 
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation is in a financially sound position as at 31 December 2020.

Mark Harrison (FASSA)
Statutory Actuary

7 May 2021
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2020 2019
Notes E E

Insurance premium revenue 9 777 543 036 785 818 710
Insurance premium ceded to reinsurers 9 (176 353 186) (161 658 764)

Net insurance premium revenue 9 601 189 850 624 159 946
Fee income from policyholders
– Insurance contracts – Non-life 6 2 542 091 6 477 384
– Insurance and investments contracts – Life 6 15 980 298 14 517 271
Commission income 20 46 965 244 43 590 868
Investment income 3 149 246 941 141 285 142
Net realised fair value gains on financial assets 4.1 (19 929 925) 19 231 897
Net unrealised fair value gains on financial assets 4.2 51 798 503 26 404 910
(Decrease) in investment contracts with DPF 4.3 (35 919 549) (22 039 216)
Fair value losses on investment property 5 (102 194) (776 731)
Interest income from policyholder loans 9 501 613 9 108 082
Other operating income 1 627 030 25 687

Net income 822 899 852 861 985 240

Insurance contracts benefits – Life 10 (247 859 839) (315 945 929)
Insurance contracts claims and loss adjustment expenses – 
Non-life 10 (87 824 045) (125 549 109)
Insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses recovered 
from reinsurers – Non-life 10 12 955 876 21 268 588

Net insurance benefits and claims (322 728 008) (420 226 450)

Expenses for the acquisition of insurance and investment 
contracts 20 (90 503 163) (88 572 622)
Operating expenses 2.1 (131 437 576) (126 710 078)
Asset management expenses 2.2 (10 750 688) (9 841 631)

Expenses (232 691 427) (225 124 331)

Profit before income tax 267 480 417 216 634 459
Income tax expense 7 (69 266 291) (59 110 634)

Profit for the year 198 214 126 157 523 825

Other comprehensive income
Gains/(loss) on revaluation of land and buildings 11.22 164 113 (8 975 324)

Total comprehensive income for the year 198 378 239 148 548 501

Consolidated and separate 
statement of comprehensive 
income
for the year ended 31 December 2020
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Consolidated and separate 
statement of financial position
at 31 December 2020

Group Corporation

2020 2019 2020 2019
Notes E E E E

ASSETS
Intangible assets 12 33 958 590 20 953 359 33 958 590 20 953 359
Property, plant and equipment 11 39 331 401 40 134 625 39 331 401 40 134 625
Investment property 13 46 400 001 46 502 195 46 400 001 46 502 195
Deferred income tax asset 16 5 240 218 1 481 422 5 240 218 1 481 422
Right of use assets 40 5 018 188 6 214 515 5 018 188 6 214 515
Financial assets – At fair value 
through profit or loss 14 2 086 398 766 1 922 991 510 2 086 398 766 1 922 991 510
Financial assets – at amortised cost 14 20 584 658 20 000 000 20 584 658 20 000 000
Investment in subsidiary – – 1 000 –
Deferred acquisition costs 19 8 903 965 9 365 257 8 903 965 9 365 257
Reinsurance assets 18.30.1 109 181 861 111 433 790 109 181 861 111 433 790
Loans and receivables including 
insurance receivables 15 192 859 680 192 810 795 212 859 680 192 810 795
Cash and cash equivalents 17 314 455 917 289 699 319 294 455 917 289 699 319

Total assets 2 862 333 245 2 661 586 787 2 862 334 245 2 661 586 787

EQUITY
Capital and reserves 
attributable to the Group’s 
equity holders
Share capital 21 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000
Revaluation reserves 22 20 235 776 20 071 663 20 235 776 20 071 663
Retained earnings 23 694 089 499 573 575 373 694 089 499 573 575 373

Total equity 718 325 275 597 647 036 718 325 275 597 647 036

LIABILITIES
Policyholders’ liabilities 2 034 914 608 1 974 479 181 2 034 914 608 1 974 479 181

Insurance liabilities – Insurance 
contracts 30.1 1 632 400 449 1 573 484 632 1 632 400 449 1 573 484 632
Insurance liabilities – Investment 
contracts 31 402 514 159 400 994 549 402 514 159 400 994 549

Reinsurance liabilities 17 340 457 21 311 505 17 340 457 311 505
Insurance and other payables 25 55 143 800 43 327 615 55 144 800 43 327 615
Lease liabilities 5 779 939 6 542 703 5 779 939 6 542 703
Employee benefit provisions 27 16 003 668 15 275 270 16 003 668 15 275 270
Current income tax liability 26 14 825 498 3 003 477 14 825 498 3 003 477

Total liabilities 2 144 007 970 2 063 939 751 2 144 008 970 2 063 939 751

Total equity and liabilities 2 862 333 245 2 661 586 787 2 862 334 245 2 661 586 787
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Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Share 
capital

Retained 
earnings

Revaluation 
reserve Total

Notes E E E E

Year ended 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year 4 000 000 573 575 373 20 071 663 597 647 036

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year – 198 214 126 – 198 214 126
Other comprehensive income
Gains on revaluations of land and 
buildings – – 164 113 164 113

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 4 000 000 771 789 499 20 235 776 796 025 275

Dividends paid 37 – (77 700 000) – (77 700 000)

At the end of the year 4 000 000 694 089 499 20 235 776 718 325 275

Year ended 31 December 2019
At the beginning of the year 4 000 000 557 051 548 29 046 987 590 098 535

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year – 157 523 825 – 157 523 825
Other comprehensive income
Loss on revaluations of land and 
buildings – – (8 975 324) (8 975 324)

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 4 000 000 714 575 373 20 071 663 738 647 036

Dividends paid 37 – (141 000 000) – (141 000 000)

At the end of the year 4 000 000 573 575 373 20 071 663 597 647 036

Consolidated and separate 
statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2020
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Consolidated and separate 
statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Group Corporation

2020 2019 2020 2019
Notes E E E E

Cash flow from operating activities
Insurance premiums received 29.1 771 866 415 798 019 316 771 866 415 798 019 316
Investment contract income from 
pension and retirement schemes – 
net of administration fees 32.1 66 010 181 69 296 326 66 010 181 69 296 326
Reinsurance premiums paid 24.1 (180 324 234) (167 261 619) (180 324 234)  (167 261 619)
Insurance claims paid (291 640 910) (300 993 303) (291 640 910) (300 993 303)
Reinsurance claim recoveries received 31 223 191 46 293 040 31 223 191 46 293 040
Investment contracts benefit expenses 32.1 (100 410 120) (41 895 265) (100 410 120) (41 895 265)
Payments to intermediaries to acquire 
insurance contracts 29.2 (81 547 371) (87 668 936) (81 547 371) (87 668 936)
Commission income 20 46 965 244 43 590 868 46 965 244 43 590 868
Fees received from policyholders 6 18 522 389 20 994 655 18 522 389 20 994 655
Cash paid to employees and other 
suppliers for services and goods 
rendered 29.3 (123 464 484) (118 506 243) (123 464 484) (117 215 571)
Cash received to finance premiums 
and other receivables 29.5 5 627 734  (24 171 967) (14 372 266) (24 171 967)
Interest received on policy loans 9 501 613 9 108 082 9 501 613 9 108 082
Property management expenses 2.2 (475 866) (297 219) (475 866) (297 219)
Other operating income 1 627 030 25 687 1 627 030 25 688

Cash flows generated from operations 173 480 812 247 824 095 153 480 812 247 824 095
Income tax paid 26 (61 203 066) (50 916 487) (61 203 066) (50 916 488)

Net cash flows generated from 
operating activities 112 277 746 196 907 607 92 277 746 196 907 607

Cash flow from investing activities
Capitalised expenditure on investment 
property 13 – (2 778 926) – (2 778 926)
Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment 11 (2 178 964) (6 779 017) (2 178 964) (6 779 017)
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (13 037 961) (9 083 162) (13 037 961) (9 083 162)
Net movement on financial assets 29.4 (142 398 207) (181 538 260) (102 212 907) (181 538 259)
Investment income 3 149 246 941 141 285 142 109 061 640 141 285 142

Net cash flows utilised from investing 
activities (8 368 192) (60 184 894) (8 368 192) (60 184 894)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to shareholders 23 (77 700 000) (141 000 000) (77 700 000) (141 000 000)
Cash payments for principal portion of 
lease liabilities (1 452 957) (436 185) (1 452 957) (436 185)

Net cash flows utilised in financing activities (79 152 957) (141 436 185) (79 152 957) (141 436 185)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents 24 756 598 (4 713 472) 4 756 598 (4 713 472)
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year 289 699 319 294 412 791 289 699 319 294 412 791

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year 17 314 455 917 289 699 319 294 455 917 289 699 319
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation (ESRIC) underwrites life and non-life insurance risks, such as 
those associated with death, disability, health, property and liability.

ESRIC is a statutory corporation established in 1973 in terms of the founding legislation, the King’s 
Order-in-Council No. 32/1973. The Group is domiciled in Eswatini and its financial statements are 
expressed in Emalangeni (E). The address of its registered office is Insika House, Somhlolo Road, 
Mbabane, Eswatini.

The Corporation formed a subsidiary which at the moment is dormant.

Basis for consolidation
The consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 
incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the operations of the Corporation and its 
subsidiaries. The corporation has a 100% shareholding in Eswatini Re Limited, a dormant entity. 
The financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate 
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of presentation
The Consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:

Carried at fair value:
• Financial instruments held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss;
• Investment properties and owner-occupied properties;
• Policyholder investment contract liabilities.

Carried at a different measurement basis:
• Policyholder insurance contract liabilities, and related reinsurance assets that are measured in 

terms of the Financial Soundness Valuation (FSV) basis as set out in paragraph 2.25 to 
accounting policies.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements 
have been disclosed in the financial statements.

The accounting policies have been consistently applied to all years presented and all amounts are 
shown in Emalangeni unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant 
accounting policies
for the year ended 31 December 2020
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2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
a) International Financial Reporting Standards and amendments effective for the first time for the 

financial year beginning 1 January 2020.

 The following new and revised standards and interpretations have been issued by the IASB and 
are effective for the current financial year:

Standard Impact assessment Effective date

Amendment to 
IAS 1, 
“Presentation of 
financial 
statements” and 
IAS 8, 
“Accounting 
policies, changes 
in accounting 
estimates and 
errors” on the 
definition of 
material.

These amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 and 
consequential amendments to other IFRSs:
• use a consistent definition of materiality through 

IFRSs and the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting;

• clarify the explanation of the definition of material; 
and

• incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about 
immaterial information.

Impact and implementation
The was implemented, however there were no 
restatements and or amendment in the financial 
statements’ balances.

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2020.

Amendment to 
IFRS 3, “Business 
combinations”

Definition of a 
business

This amendment revises the definition of a business. 
According to feedback received by the IASB, application 
of the current guidance is commonly thought to be too 
complex, and it results in too many transactions 
qualifying as business combinations. More acquisitions 
are likely to be accounted for as asset acquisitions.

Impact and implementation
The impact of the standard was considered immaterial in 
the financial statements as the effect of the subsidiary 
was immaterial in the financial statements.

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2020

b) International Financial Reporting Standards, interpretations and amendments issued but not yet 
effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2020.

 A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations issued but not 
yet effective for 31 December 2020 year end and have not been applied in preparing these 
financial statements. The Group intends to adopt and apply these standards on their respective 
effective dates.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of presentation (continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

 The standards are anticipated to have an impact on the Group; however, management is still 
assessing the impact of this new standards to financial statements. The standards that are not yet 
effective are as follows:

Standard Impact assessment Effective date

IFRS 16, “Leases” 
Covid-19-related 
rent concessions
Amendment.

The IASB has provided lessees (but not lessors) with relief in 
the form of an optional exemption from assessing whether a 
rent concession related to Covid-19 is a lease modification, 
provided that the concession meets certain conditions. 
Lessees can elect to account for qualifying rent concessions 
in the same way as they would if they were not lease 
modifications.

Impact and implementation
The impact of the standard is immaterial.

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2020.

IFRS 17, 
“Insurance 
contracts”

The IASB issued IFRS 17, “Insurance contracts”. Whereas the 
current standard, IFRS 4, allows insurers to use their local 
GAAP, IFRS 17 defines clear and consistent rules that will 
significantly increase the comparability of financial 
statements. Under IFRS 17, the general model requires 
entities to measure an insurance contract at initial recognition 
at the total of the fulfilment cash flows (comprising the 
estimated future cash flows, an adjustment to reflect the  
time value of money and an explicit risk adjustment for 
non-financial risk) and the contractual service margin.  
The fulfilment cash flows are remeasured on a current basis 
each reporting period. The unearned profit (contractual 
service margin) is recognised over the coverage period. 
Aside from this general model, the standard provides, as a 
simplification, the premium allocation approach. This 
simplified approach is applicable for certain types of 
contract, including those with a coverage period of one year 
or less. For insurance contracts with direct participation 
features, the variable fee approach applies. The variable fee 
approach is a variation on the general model. When applying 
the variable fee approach, the entity’s share of the fair value 
changes of the underlying items is included in the contractual 
service margin. As a consequence, the fair value changes 
are not recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they occur but over the remaining life of the contract.

Impact and implementation
The standard will have a material impact to the financial 
statements. Management is however still performing an 
impact assessment analysis for the standard.

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2023

Early application is 
permitted for 
entities that apply 
IFRS 9,
“Financial
instruments”, and 
IFRS 15, “Revenue 
from contracts 
with customers”, 
at or before the 
date of initial 
application of 
IFRS 17. 
(published  
May 2017)

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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Standard Impact assessment Effective date

Annual 
improvements 
cycle  
2018–2020

These amendments include minor changes to:

• IFRS 1, “First time adoption of IFRS” has been 
amended for a subsidiary that becomes a first-time 
adopter after its parent. The subsidiary may elect to 
measure cumulative translation differences for foreign 
operations using the amounts reported by the parent 
at the date of the parent’s transition to IFRS.

• IFRS 9, “Financial instruments” has been amended to 
include only those costs or fees paid between the 
borrower and the lender in the calculation of “the 10% 
test” for derecognition of a financial liability. Fees paid 
to third parties are excluded from this calculation.

• IFRS 16, “Leases”, amendment to the Illustrative 
Example 13 that accompanies IFRS 16 to remove the 
illustration of payments from the lessor relating to 
leasehold improvements. The amendment intends to 
remove any potential confusion about the treatment of 
lease incentives.

Impact and implementation
The standard will have an impact to the financial statements.
Management is however still performing an impact 
assessment analysis for the standard.

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2022

Amendment to 
IFRS 3,
“Business 
combinations”

The Board has updated IFRS 3, “Business combinations”,  
to refer to the 2018 Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting, in order to determine what constitutes an asset  
or a liability in a business combination.

In addition, the International Accounting Standard Board 
added a new exception in IFRS 3 for liabilities and contingent 
liabilities. The exception specifies that, for some types of 
liabilities and contingent liabilities, an entity applying IFRS 3 
should instead refer to IAS 37, “provisions, contingent 
liabilities and contingent assets”, or IFRIC 21, “Levies”, rather 
than the 2018 Conceptual Framework.

The Board has also clarified that the acquirer should not 
recognise contingent assets, as defined in IAS 37, at the 
acquisition date.

Impact and implementation
The standard will have a material impact to the financial 
statements. Management is however still performing an 
impact assessment analysis for the standard.

Annual periods 
beginning on  
or after  
1 January 2022
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2  Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are held by the Group for the use in the supply of services or its 
own administration purposes. All property, plant and equipment, other than land and buildings are 
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Land and building 
(Except for investment property – see note 13) include offices and are shown at fair value, based 
on annual valuation by external independent professional valuers, less subsequent depreciation for 
buildings.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of buildings are credited to revaluation 
reserves in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are 
charged against fair value and other reserves; all other decreases are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost or revalued amount of 
each asset to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Office furniture and fittings 10 years
Office computers 3 years

Land is not depreciated.

There has been no change to useful lives from those applied in the previous financial year for all 
the asset classes.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is 
written down immediately to its recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and 
are included in operating profit. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the 
revaluation reserves are transferred to retained earnings.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
directors and management. The directors and management, make strategic decisions, allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. The principal segments of the 
Group have been identified on a primary segment by business unit, being commercial and 
personal lines for the non-life insurance business and insurance risk contracts and investment 
contracts for the life business.

The basis is representative of the internal structure for management purposes. Segment results 
include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of the 
Group revenue and expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable basis, whether from external 
transactions or from transactions with other segments.

2.4 Investment properties
Investment properties are properties which are held either to earn rental income or for capital 
appreciation, or for both. Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction 
costs.

After initial recognition investment properties are measured at fair value.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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External, qualified independent professional valuers perform valuations periodically. An external, 
independent valuer, having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent 
experience in the location and category of property being valued, values the portfolio. In the event 
of a material change in market conditions between the valuation date and statement of financial 
position date an internal valuation is performed and adjustments made to reflect any material 
changes in value.

The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property 
could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an 
arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, 
prudently and without compulsion.

Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Rental income from investment property is accounted for as described in 
accounting policy 2.12.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property following a 
change in its use, any differences arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of 
the item immediately prior to transfer and its fair value is recognised directly in equity if it is a gain. 
Upon disposal of the item the gain is transferred to retained earnings. Any loss arising in this 
manner is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and 
equipment, and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for accounting 
purposes. When the Group begins to redevelop an existing investment property for continued 
future use as investment property, the property remains an investment property, which is 
measured based on fair value model, and is not reclassified as property, plant and equipment 
during the redevelopment.

2.5 Intangible assets
Computer software development costs
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique 
software products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following 
criteria are met:
• it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
• management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
• there is an ability to use or sell the software product;
• it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;
• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or 

sell the software product are available; and
• the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably 

measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 
incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset 
in a subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated 
useful lives which do not exceed three years and have no residual values.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Group assets are reviewed on an annual basis to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment, other than of a temporary nature. If any such indication 
exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated.

 Financial assets carried at amortised costs
The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes 
to the attention of the Group about the following events:

(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor;

(ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in payments;

(iii) it becoming probable that the issuer or debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation;

(iv) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

(v) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flow from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the 
decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the Group, including:
• Adverse changes in the payment status of issuers or debtors in the Group; or
• National or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the Group.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial 
assets that are individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes 
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which 
an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of 
impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on loans and receivables 
or held to maturity investments carried at amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows (excluding future credit losses that have been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If a loan has a variable interest rate, 
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined 
under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of 
an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis 
of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Group’s grading process that considers 
asset type, industry, geographical location, past-due status and other relevant factors). 
Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets 
by being indicative of the issuer’s ability to pay all amounts due under the contractual terms of the 
debt instrument being evaluated.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as improved 
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

 Impairment of other non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income immediately when incurred for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

2.7 Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition into categories, namely held at  
fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables.  
The classification depends on the purpose when the asset was acquired and, with the exception 
of those held at fair value through profit or loss, is reassessed on an annual basis.

 Initial measurement
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, which is the date on which 
the Group assumes or transfers substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets 
are initially recognised as follows:
• Fair value through profit or loss – at fair value on trade date.
• Held-to-maturity and loans and receivables – at fair value on trade date plus transaction costs 

that are directly attributable to their acquisition.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or on trade date when they have been transferred and the Group has also transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

 Subsequent measurement
Financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are designated as fair value through profit or loss if they are:

(i)  used to match investment contract liabilities held at fair value and/or insurance contract 
liabilities, and this designation eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition 
inconsistencies that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising 
gains or losses on a different basis; or

(ii)  managed and performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. Information about these financial 
assets is provided internally on a fair value basis to the Group’s Asset Liability Matching and 
Investment (ALMIC) Committee. The Group investment strategy is to invest in equity and debt 
securities and to evaluate them with reference to their fair value. Assets that are part of these 
portfolios are designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Financial assets (continued)
 Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value and the fair value adjustments are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within investment gains and losses.

The fair value of financial assets with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets 
is based on regulated exchange quoted ruling bid prices at the close of business on the last trading 
day on or before the statement of financial position date. If a quoted bid price is not available for a 
dated instrument the fair value is estimated using pricing models or discounted cash flow techniques.

Fair values for unquoted instruments are included in investment gains and losses and are 
determined as follows:

Local and foreign equities
Whenever available, the Group obtains quoted prices in active markets for identical assets at the 
balance sheet date to measure equity securities at fair value. Market price data is generally 
obtained from exchange or dealer markets. For the local equity securities, quoted prices are 
obtained from the Eswatini Stock Exchange (SSX) and for those in South Africa, quoted prices  
are obtained from the Johannesburg Stock exchange (JSE).

Money markets
The Group generally obtains the fair value of these investments from net asset value information 
provided by the general partner or manager of the investments, the financial statements of which 
are generally audited annually. The Group further considers observable market data and performs 
certain control procedures to validate the appropriateness of using the net asset value as a fair 
value measurement. Any changes in the fair value of these investments is recognised in net 
investment income.

Government and corporate bonds
Bonds held to maturity are carried at amortised cost when the Group have the ability and positive 
intent to hold these securities until maturity. When the Group does not have the ability or positive 
intent to hold bonds until maturity, these securities are classified as available for sale or are 
measured at fair value at the Group’s election. The Group’s fixed maturity securities met the criteria 
for held to maturity classification at December 31 2020.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non – derivative financial assets, with fixed or determinable payment dates 
that are not quoted in an active market other than those that are originated with the intention of sale 
immediately or in the short-term or that has been designated at fair value through profit and loss. 
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method less any required impairment. These comprise:

Insurance receivables
Insurance receivables consist of premiums owed by brokers and policyholders and commission 
owed by re-insurers.

Loans and receivables excluding insurance receivables
Loans and receivables excluding insurance receivables consist of premium receivables, staff loans 
and other receivables. Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. An estimate is made for impairment of loans and receivables based 
on a review of all outstanding amounts at year end.
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2.8 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities comprises policyholders’ liabilities under investment contracts.

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the raising of the funds.

The measurement of policyholder liabilities under investment contracts is described in note 2.23 in 
the accounting policies.

Third party liabilities are effectively demand deposits and are consequently measured at fair value 
which is the quoted unit values as derived by the fund administrator with reference to the rules of 
each particular fund. The instruments in this category are designated as financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. Fair value gains or losses are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

2.9 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. For purposes of 
the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call 
with banks, other non-life highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

2.10 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as 
a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.11 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects a 
provision to be reimbursed, for example under a re-insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

The Group recognises a provision for onerous contracts when the expected benefits to be derived 
from a contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract.

2.12 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for services in the 
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is recognised as follows:

 Premium income
Premiums on insurance contracts are recognised when due in terms of the contract. Premiums 
receivable in respect of corporate schemes are recognised when there is reasonable assurance of 
collection in terms of the policy contract. Premium income on insurance contracts is shown gross 
of reinsurance where applicable. Premiums are shown before deduction of commission.

Premium income received in advance (Unearned Premiums Reserve) is included in insurance 
liabilities – Insurance contracts (Note 30.1).
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Revenue recognition (continued)
 Fees

Revenue arising from asset management and other related services offered by the Group are 
recorded in the accounting period in which the services have been rendered.

Fees consist mainly of investment and insurance contracts management fees with the issue and 
management of such contracts where the Group actively manages the consideration received from 
its customers to fund the return that is based on the investment profile that the customer selected 
on origination of the instrument. In all cases, these services comprise an indeterminable number of 
acts over the life of the individual contracts.

The Group uses the following different approaches:
• Regular fees are charged to the customer periodically (monthly) either directly or by making a 

deduction from invested funds; and
• Front-end fees are charged to the client at inception. This approach is used particularly for 

single premium contracts. The consideration received is deferred as a liability and recognised 
over the life of the contract on a straight-line basis.

 Rental income
Rental income from investment properties is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
on a straight-line basis over the term of each lease.

 Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When 
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being 
the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, 
and continues unwinding the discount as interest income.

 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.13 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Group’s shareholders.

2.14 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the 
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

 The Group as lessor
Receipts of operating leases from properties held as investment properties are accounted for as 
income on the straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When an operating lease is 
terminated, any payment required by the lessee by way of penalty is recognised as income in the 
period in which termination takes place.

 The Group as lessee
Lease payments arising from operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.15 Employee benefits
(a) Short-term employee benefits

The cost of all employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee 
renders the related service.

The provision for employee entitlements to salaries represent the amount that the Group has a 
present obligation to pay, as a result of employees’ services provided up to the statement of 
financial position date. The provision has been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on 
current salary rates.

(b) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the 
normal retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange 
for these benefits.

The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed either to 
terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without the 
possibility of withdrawal, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to 
encourage voluntary redundancy.

(c) Performance bonus plan
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes 
into consideration the profit attributable to the Group’s shareholders after certain adjustments. 
The Group recognises a provision where it is contractually obliged to or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

A liability for employee benefits in the form of profit sharing and bonus plans is recognised in 
provisions for other liabilities and charges when there is no realistic alternative but to settle the 
liability and at least one of the following conditions is met:
• there is a formal plan and the amounts to be paid are determined before the time of issuing 

the financial statements; or
• past practice has created a valid expectation by employees that they will receive a  

bonus/profit sharing and the amount can be determined before the time of issuing the 
financial statements.

Liabilities for profit sharing and bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and 
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

(d) Pension fund obligation
The Group has a pension scheme in accordance with the local conditions and practices.  
The scheme is a defined contribution plan.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on 
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations 
once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit 
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent 
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

2.16 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the statement of financial position date in Eswatini.



76   /   ESRIC  /   INTEGRATED REPORT   /   2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that  
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when 
the related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

2.17 Insurance debtors
Trade receivables which generally have 60-day terms are recognised and carried at brokers note 
value less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made 
when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred.

2.18 Offsetting financial instruments
Assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position 
only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.19 Solvency
The Insurance Act, 2005 does not specify any solvency requirements. However, based on industry 
norms, the directors believe that the Group has enough resources to comply with the requirements 
if set in line with industry practice in the region. The Group has a policy for its non-life insurance 
business to maintain a solvency of 50% in terms of the international calculation method.

2.20 Contingencies and commitments
Transactions are classified as contingencies where the Group’s obligation depends on uncertain 
future events or if a present obligation arises from past events but the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. Items are classified as commitments where the 
Group commits itself to future transactions with external parties.

2.21 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through 
a sale transaction rather than continuing use. This classification is only met if the sale is highly 
probable and the assets are available for immediate sale. In light of the Group’s primary business 
being the provision of insurance and investment products, non-current assets held as investments 
are not classified as held for sale as the ongoing investment management implies regular 
purchases and sales in the ordinary course of business.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement (carrying amount) of assets 
and liabilities in relation to a disposal group is recognised based upon the appropriate IFRS 
standards. On initial recognition as held for sale, the non-current assets and liabilities are 
recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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Any impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. The non-current assets held for sale will be reclassified immediately when 
there is a change in intention to sell. Subsequent measurement of the asset or disposal group at 
that date will be the lower of:

(i)  its carrying amount before the asset was classified as held for sale, adjusted for any 
depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had the asset not 
been classified as held for sale; and

(ii)  its recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent decision not to sell.

2.22 Outstanding claims, agents and other creditors
Liabilities for outstanding claims, agents and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is a 
fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for claims made and services rendered.

2.23 Policyholder insurance and investment contracts
Standard of Actuarial Practice (SAPs) issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa (ASSA). 
In terms of IFRS 4, defined insurance liabilities are measured under existing local practice.  
The Group has, prior to the adoption of IFRS 4, adopted the SAPs to determine the liability in 
respect of insurance contracts issued in Eswatini. The following SAPs are of relevance to the 
determination of policyholder liabilities:

SAP 102:  Life Offices – HIV/Aids

SAP 103:   Report by the Statutory Actuary in the annual financial statements of South African 
Life Insurers

SAP 104:  Life Offices – Valuation of Life Insurers

SAP 105:  Recommended AIDS extra mortality bases

SAP 106:  Actuaries and Life Insurance in South Africa

SAP 110:  Reserving for minimum investment return guarantees

The SAPs are available on the ASSA website (www.actuarialsociety.org.za).

Where applicable, the SAPs are referred to in the accounting policies and notes to the annual 
financial statements.

2.24 Insurance and investment contract – classification
The Group issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or, in some cases, both.  
An insurance contract is a contract under which the Group accepts significant insurance risk from 
the policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event 
(the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder. Such contracts may also transfer financial 
risk. The Group defines significant insurance risk as the possibility of having to pay benefits on the 
occurrence of an insured event that are significantly more than the benefits payable if the insured 
event did not occur.

Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer financial risk with no significant insurance 
risk. Contracts under which the transfer of insurance risk from the policyholder to the Group is not 
significant would be classified as investment contracts.

Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more of a specified interest rate, 
financial instruments price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit 
rating or credit index or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the 
variable is not specific to a party to the contract.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Insurance and investment contract – classification (continued)
Contracts with discretionary participation features are those where the policyholder has a right to 
receive additional benefits that are likely to be a significant part of the total contractual benefits 
and whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the issuer and that are 
contractually based on the performance of a specified pool of contracts or assets or the  
profit or loss of the issuer.

The accounting policies applied for the measurement of insurance contracts and investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features are governed by IFRS 4 “Insurance contracts” 
while investment contracts without discretionary participation features fall within the scope of 
IAS 39 “Financial instruments: recognition and measurement”.

The Group has classified its Smoothed Bonus Deposit Administration business as investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features. All other policies are classified as insurance 
contracts. There are therefore no policies which are classified as investment contracts without 
discretionary participation features.

 Discretionary participation features (DPF)
A number of insurance and investment contracts contain a discretionary participation feature (DPF).

This feature entitles the policyholder to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional 
benefits or bonuses:

(i) that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits;

(ii) whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the Group; and

(iii) that are contractually based on:
• the performance of a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of contract; and/or 

realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the Group.

The terms and conditions or practice of these contracts set out the bases for the determination of 
the amounts on which the additional discretionary benefits are based (the DPF eligible surplus) and 
within which the Group may exercise its discretion as to the quantum and timing of their payment 
to policyholders. A proportion, as set out in the policy conditions, of the eligible surplus must be 
attributed to the policyholders as a Group (which can include future policyholders), while the 
amount and timing of the distribution to individual policyholders is at the discretion of the Group, 
subject to the advice of the statutory actuary. The terms reversionary bonus and smoothed bonus 
refer to the specific forms of DPF contracts underwritten by the Group.

All components in respect of DPFs are included in the policyholder liabilities.

2.25 Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF
 Recognition and measurement

Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF are classified into three main categories, 
depending on the duration of risk and whether or not the terms and conditions are fixed.

(i) Non-life insurance contracts
Non-life insurance provides benefits under non-life policies, which include engineering, 
guarantee, liability, miscellaneous, motor, property, and transportation, or a contract 
comprising a combination of any of these policies. Non-life insurance contracts are further 
classified into the following categories:
• Personal insurance, consisting of insurance to individuals and their personal property.
• Commercial insurance, providing cover on the assets and liabilities of an enterprises.
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Terms and conditions of insurance contracts are included under section 4.2.1 of the 
accounting policies.

For all non-life insurance contracts, premiums are recognised as revenue (earned premiums) 
proportionally over the period of coverage. The portion of premium received on in-force 
contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the statement of financial position date is reported 
as the unearned premium liability. Premiums are shown before deduction of commission.

Claims and loss adjustment expenses are charged to income as incurred based on the 
estimated liability for compensation owed to contract holders or third party damage by the 
contract holders. They include direct and indirect claims settlement costs and arise from 
events that have occurred up to the statement of financial position date even if they have not 
yet been reported to the Group. The Group does not discount its liabilities for unpaid claims. 
Liabilities for unpaid claims are estimated using the input of assessments for individual cases 
reported to the Group and statistical analyses for the claims incurred but not reported.

Provision is made in the policyholder’s liabilities under insurance contracts for the estimated 
cost at the end of the year of claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) at that date. IBNR 
provisions are calculated using the stochastic chain ladder method which approximates 8.9% 
(2019: 8.4%) of net written premium. These liabilities are not discounted due to the non-life 
nature of outstanding claims. Outstanding claims and benefit payments are stated gross of 
reinsurance.

(ii) Life policy liabilities: Insurance contracts
The Group’s in force insurance contracts can be separated into the following categories.

Risk-based policies
• Endowment Assurance
• Funeral Cover
• Term Assurance
• Credit Life Assurance
• Capital Disability Assurance
• Lilunga Asset Builder
• Insika comprehensive life policy
• Disability Income Assurance

Unit-linked policies
• Lilunga Graduate Plan
• Lilunga Pension Provider
• Lilunga Pure Endowment
• Lilunga Lump Sum Investment
• Lilunga Endowment 5-year Lien
• Insika Savings Rider
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (continued)
 Recognition and measurement (continued)

(ii) Life policy liabilities: Insurance contracts (continued)
In general, the Financial Soundness Valuation (FSV) method used in the past and described in 
SAP 104 of the Actuarial Society of South Africa meets the requirements of IFRS 4 and has 
therefore continued to be used to value the bulk of the Group’s contracts. The FSV 
methodology requires that insurance policies be valued as:
• the discounted value of expected future cash flows;
• calculated using best estimate assumptions;
• with an addition for compulsory margins prescribed by SAP 104; and
• additional discretionary margins, if required, to reflect specific areas of risk or to ensure 

appropriate recognition of profit.

The impact of future voluntary premium increases is ignored because they would result in a 
reduction to the liability.

For some of the smaller product classes, approximate methodologies have been applied.  
The methodology for valuing such contracts is as follows:
• In the case of single premium Level Term Assurance a reserve of 95% of the unearned 

portion of the single premium was set up.
• In the case of Disability Benefits with premiums payable annually or more frequently a 

reserve of 80% of one year’s annual premium was set up.
• In the case of Double Accident Benefits with premiums payable annually or more frequently 

a reserve of 80% of one year’s annual premium was set up.
• In the case of Group Life Assurance a reserve was set up of 95% of the unexpired 

proportion of the premium net of reinsurances.
• In the case of Group Funeral Assurances with premiums payable annually or more 

frequently a reserve was set up of 85% of the unexpired proportion of the premium.
• A reserve for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) has been established in respect of the 

Group life, Group funeral and the level term assurance business. This reserve is three 
months’ worth of premium income.

The Bonus Stabilisation Reserve (BSR) represents the excess of historical investment returns 
over bonuses declared allowing for the supportability of the bonus rates by the investment 
returns in future.

This is a surplus that is available for distribution as bonus to the policyholders in the future and 
can be used to help maintain future bonus levels should investment returns in future years 
deteriorate to a level below the desired bonus rate.

(iii)  Investment contracts with discretionary participation features (DPF)
Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer financial risk with no insurance risk. 
Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more specific interest rate, 
financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, 
credit rating or credit index or other variables.

The assets backing these liabilities are segregated from the Group’s other assets to ensure 
that the assets are used exclusively to provide benefits for the relevant policyholders.
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Bonuses are declared on this business taking a number of factors into account, including the 
previous bonus rates declared, policyholders’ reasonable expectations, expenses, actual 
investment returns on the underlying assets, expectations of future investment returns and the 
extent to which the value of assets exceeds the value of benefits allowing for both the guaranteed 
benefits and projected future bonuses at the most recent declared rates, amongst other factors. 
Once declared, a portion of the bonus forms part of the guaranteed benefit.

The Group has classified its smoothed bonus deposit administration business as investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features. All other policies are classified as insurance 
contracts. There are therefore no policies, which are classified as investment contracts without 
discretionary participating features.

Investment contracts with discretionary participation features have been valued in terms of the 
Financial Soundness Valuation (FSV) basis, using a discounted cash flow methodology, described 
in SAP 104 and the liability is reflected as policyholders’ liability under insurance contracts.

The following are some of the products offered by the Group, which are investment contracts 
with DPF:
• Retirement Funds
• Insika Comprehensive Plan

The liability in respect of the smoothed bonus deposit administration business is valued as the 
historical contributions received less charges rolled up at actual historical declared bonus rates 
(vesting and non-vesting).

A bonus smoothing reserve is maintained in respect of any historical investment returns less 
charges earned by the assets backing the liabilities which have not yet been distributed to 
policyholders in the form of bonus declarations.

Revenue consists of fees deducted for mortality, policy administration and surrender charges. 
Expenses and excess benefit claims incurred are reflected as expenditure in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

(a) Acquisition costs
Acquisition costs for insurance contracts represent commission and other costs that relate to 
the securing of new contracts and the renewing of existing contracts. These costs are 
expensed as incurred.

(b) Deferred policy acquisition costs (DAC)
Commissions and other acquisition costs that vary with and are related to securing new 
contracts and renewing existing contracts are capitalised as an intangible asset (DAC). All other 
costs are recognised as expenses when incurred. The DAC is subsequently amortised over the 
life of the contracts as follows:
• For non-life insurance contracts, DAC is amortised over the terms of the policies as 

premium is earned;
• For life insurance contracts with fixed and guaranteed terms, the FSV method for valuing 

insurance contracts makes implicit allowance for the deferral of acquisition costs and hence 
no explicit deferred acquisition cost asset is recognised in the statement of financial 
position for insurance contracts.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (continued)
 Recognition and measurement (continued)

(c) Liability adequacy test
At each statement of financial position date, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure 
the adequacy of the contract liabilities net of related DAC. In performing these tests, current 
best estimates of future contractual cash flows and claims handling and administration 
expenses, as well as investment income from the assets backing such liabilities, are used.  
Any deficiency is immediately charged to profit or loss initially by writing off DAC and by 
subsequently establishing a provision for losses arising from liability adequacy tests  
(the unexpired risk provision).

Any DAC written off as a result of this test cannot subsequently be reinstated.

The FSV methodology, using compulsory and discretionary margins on the best estimate future 
assumptions, is applied to individual business. The methodology takes into account all future 
cashflows, namely: claims, surrenders, premiums, expenses, future bonuses as well as 
investment income. The value of the liabilities is compared to the value of the assets. The FSV 
methodology therefore constitutes a Liability Adequacy Test in terms of paragraph 15 of IFRS 4.

(d) Incurred but not reported claims
Provision is made in the policyholder’s liabilities under insurance contracts for the estimated 
cost at the end of the year of claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) at that date. The liability 
is calculated using the three methods; Chain Ladder, Bornhuetter Ferguson and Loss Ratio 
method. Thereafter the most appropriate method is selected given the observed claims 
development before the application of the stochastic valuation method. These liabilities are not 
discounted due to the non-life nature of outstanding claims. Outstanding claims and benefit 
payments are stated gross of reinsurance.

(e) Premium income
Premiums received under insurance contracts and investment contracts with a discretionary 
participating feature are stated gross of commission and are recognised when due for 
payment. Premium income on insurance contracts is shown gross of reinsurance. Premiums 
are shown before deduction of commission. Premium income received in advance is included 
in insurance and other payables.

(f) Claims
Claims paid under insurance contracts and investment contracts with a discretionary 
participating feature include maturities, annuities, surrenders, death and disability payments. 
Maturity and annuity claims are recorded as they fall due for payment. Death and disability 
claims and surrenders are accounted for when notified.

Reinsurance recoveries are accounted for in the same period as the related claim.

Anticipated reinsurance recoveries are disclosed separately as assets. Reinsurance and other 
recoveries are assessed in a manner similar to the assessment of claims outstanding. Claims 
provisions for claims outstanding are discounted where there is a particularly long period from 
incident to claims settlement and where there exists a suitable claims pattern from which to 
calculate the discount.
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While the directors consider that the gross provisions for claims and the related reinsurance 
recoveries are fairly stated on the basis of the information currently available to them, the 
ultimate liability will vary as a result of subsequent information and events and may result in 
significant adjustments to the amounts provided. Adjustments to the amounts of claims 
provisions established in prior years are reflected in the financial statements for the period in 
which the adjustments are made, and disclosed separately if material. The methods used,  
and the estimates made, are reviewed regularly.

(g) Reinsurance contracts held
Reinsurance contracts are contracts entered into by the Group with reinsurers under which the 
Group is compensated for the entire or a portion of losses arising on one or more of the 
insurance contracts issued by the Group.

(1) Reinsurance claims
The expected benefits to which the Group is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held 
are recognised as reinsurance assets. These assets consist of non-life balances due from 
reinsurers (classified within loans and receivables) as well as longer-term receivables 
(classified as reinsurance assets) that are dependent on the present value of expected 
claims and benefits arising net of expected premiums payable under the related 
reinsurance contracts. Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured 
consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsured contracts and in accordance 
with the terms of each reinsurance contract.

Reinsurance assets include balances due from reinsurance companies for ceded insurance 
liabilities. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with 
the outstanding claims provision or settled claims associated with the reinsured policy.  
The cost of reinsurance related to life contracts is accounted for over the life of the 
underlying insurance policies using assumptions consistent with those used to account  
for the underlying policies.

Premiums ceded and benefits reimbursed are presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income and statement of financial position on a gross basis.

Reinsurance assets are assessed for impairment at each statement of financial position 
date. If there is reliable objective evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after its 
initial recognition, that amounts due may not be recoverable, the Group reduces the 
carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to its recoverable amount and recognises that 
impairment loss in the statement of comprehensive income.

Only contracts that give rise to a significant transfer of insurance risk are accounted for 
as insurance. Amounts recoverable under such contracts are recognised in the same year 
as the related claim. Contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk (i.e. financial 
reinsurance) are recorded using the deposit method of accounting.

(2)  Reinsurance premiums
Amounts recoverable under reinsurance contracts are assessed for impairment at each 
statement of financial position date. Such assets are deemed impaired if there is objective 
evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after its initial recognition, that the Group 
may not recover all amounts due and that the event has a reliably measurable impact on 
the amounts that the Group will receive from the reinsurer.

The Group cedes reinsurance premiums in the normal course of business for the purpose 
of limiting its net loss potential through the diversification of its risks. Reinsurance 
arrangements do not relieve the Group from its direct obligations to its policyholders.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (continued)
 Recognition and measurement (continued)

(h) Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts and investment contracts
Receivables and payables are recognised when due. These include amounts due to and from 
agents, brokers and policyholders.

(i) Salvage and subrogation reimbursements
Some insurance contracts permit the Group to sell (usually damaged) property acquired in 
settling a claim. The Group may also have the right to pursue third parties for payment of some 
or all costs.

Estimates of salvage recoveries are included as an allowance in the measurement of the 
insurance liability for claims, and salvage property is recognised in other assets when the 
liability is settled. The allowance is the amount that can reasonably be recovered from the 
disposal of the property.

Subrogation reimbursements are also considered as an allowance in the measurement of the 
insurance liability for claims and are recognised in other assets when the liability is settled.  
The allowance is the assessment of the amount that can be recovered from the action against 
the liable third party.

2.26 Key assumptions in applying accounting policies
Key assumptions derive estimates which require management’s most complex or subjective 
judgements.

The Group’s management decide on assumptions that can materially affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. These estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
The most significant assets and liabilities which typically require such assumptions are the 
following:
• Policyholders’ liabilities under insurance contracts are derived from actual claims submitted 

which are not settled at statement of financial position date and estimates of the net present 
value of future claims and benefits under existing contracts, offset by probable future premium 
to be received (net of expected service costs). The key assumptions have been detailed in 
paragraph 4.2.2 (c) of the accounting policies and note 32 to the financial statements.

• The summary of Actuarial liabilities as at 31 December 2020 per the published reporting basis 
is as follows:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Gross of 
reinsurance

Net of 
reinsurance

Gross of 
reinsurance

Net of 
reinsurance

Published reporting basis E E E E

Insurance products 1 306 416 702 1 304 118 646 1 240 814 320 1 238 535 805
Investment products 402 514 159 402 514 159 400 994 549 400 994 549

1 708 930 861 1 706 632 805 1 641 808 869 1 639 530 354

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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The Group holds a number of financial assets that are designated at fair value through profit or 
loss and held to maturity. These are valued at quoted market prices as far as possible. However,  
if such prices are unavailable, fair value is based either on internal valuations or management’s 
best estimates of realisable amounts. These estimates are based on current market as well as 
expectations about future economic and financial developments. If the average future investment 
returns were to differ by 1% from management’s estimates, the insurance and investment liabilities 
would increase or decrease to the following amounts:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Gross of 
reinsurance

Net of 
reinsurance

Gross of 
reinsurance

Net of 
reinsurance

E E E E

Sensitivity run: valuation 
interest rate increased 
by 1%
Insurance products 1 249 195 668 1 246 897 612 1 186 070 286 1 183 791 771
Investment products 402 514 159 402 514 159 400 994 549 400 994 549

1 651 709 827 1 649 411 771 1 587 064 835 1 584 786 320

Sensitivity run: valuation 
interest rate decreased 
by 1%
Insurance products 1 365 863 821 1 363 565 765 1 336 714 193 1 334 435 678
Investment products 402 514 159 402 514 159 400 994 549 400 994 549

1 768 377 980 1 766 079 924 1 737 708 742 1 735 430 227

Impairment tests are conducted on all assets included in the statement of financial position.  
In determining the value in use, various estimates are used by management including deriving  
future cash flows and applicable discount rates. These estimates are most applicable to the 
impairment tests on reinsurance assets, intangible assets, deferred acquisition costs and receivables. 
Further details are contained in paragraphs 2.6, 2.7 and 4.2.2 of the accounting policies.

3. RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK AND OBJECTIVES
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for establishing and communicating appropriate risk and 
control policies and ensuring that adequate risk management processes are in place. The Group has 
committees which deal with the various aspects on policies for accepting risks, including selection and 
approval of risks to be insured, use of limits and avoiding undue concentrations of risk, underwriting 
strategies to ensure the appropriate risk classification and premium levels etc. as detailed below:

 Audit, Risk and Compliance Committees
The two committees are in place to assist the Board in discharging its risk management 
obligations which are:
• Review the Group’s risk philosophy, strategy, policies and processes recommended by 

executive management;
• Review compliance with risk policies and with the overall risk profile of the Group;
• Review and assess the integrity of the process and procedures for identifying, assessing, 

recording and monitoring of risk;
• Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management function and its 

implementation by management;
• Ensure that material corporate risks have been identified, assessed and receive attention; and
• Provide the Board with an assessment of the state of risk management within the Group.
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3. RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK AND OBJECTIVES (continued)

 Audit, Risk and Compliance Committees (continued)
A significant part of Group’s business involves the acceptance and management of risk. Primary 
responsibility for risk management at an operational level rests with the executive management. 
The Group’s risk management processes, of which the systems of internal, financial and operating 
controls are an integral part, are designed to control and monitor risk throughout the Group.  
For effectiveness, these processes rely on regular communication, sound judgement and a 
thorough knowledge of the products and markets by the people closest to them. Management and 
various specialist committees are tasked with integrating the management of risk into the day-to-
day activities of the Group.

In particular, the principal objectives (pertaining to risk) are as follows:
• Act as an effective communication channel between the Board on one hand and the external 

auditors and the internal auditors on the other;
• Satisfy the Board that adequate internal, financial and operating controls are being identified, 

addressed and monitored by management and that material corporate risks have been 
identified and are being contained and monitored through the Group Risk Committee; and

• Enhance the quality, effectiveness, relevance and communication value of the published 
financial statements and other public documentation of a financial nature issued by the Group, 
with focus being placed on the actuarial assumptions, parameters, valuations and reporting 
guidelines and practices adopted by the statutory actuary as appropriate to the Group’s life 
insurance activities.

 Asset Liability Matching and Investment Committee
The Asset LIability Matching and Investment Committee is responsible for the management of the 
Group’s capital and the investment policies for assets backing its liabilities.

This committee focuses in overseeing the high-level mix parameters for various products and 
portfolios and is tasked with agreeing benchmarks and mandates for performance of each 
investment portfolio in conjunction with the asset managers. It monitors the execution of such 
mandates.

4. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISK
The Group issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. This section 
summarises these risks and the way the Group manages them.

4.1 Financial risk
The Group’s financial instruments mainly consist of instruments held at fair value through profit 
or loss. The methods for recognition and measurement of financial instruments are disclosed in 
the Group’s accounting policies.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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The carrying amounts and the respective fair values of financial instruments for the Group are 
summarised below:

2020 
Carrying 
amount/

fair value 
E

2019 
Carrying 
amount/
fair value 

E

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 14) 2 086 398 766 1 922 991 510
Loans and receivables including insurance receivables (note 15) 192 859 680 192 810 795
Reinsurance assets (note 18) 109 181 861 111 433 790
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) 314 455 917 289 699 319

2 702 896 224 2 516 935 414

Financial liabilities
Insurance liabilities – Insurance contracts (note 30.1) 1 632 400 449 1 573 484 632
Insurance liabilities – Investment contracts (note 31) 402 514 159 400 994 549
Reinsurance liabilities (note 24) 17 340 457 21 311 505
Insurance and other payables (note 25) 55 143 800 43 327 615

2 107 398 865 2 039 118 301

The carrying amount of loans and receivables (including insurance receivables), cash and  
cash equivalents and insurance and other payables approximate their fair values due to their 
non-life nature.

The fair values have been calculated and measured consistently with methods described in the 
accounting policies for assets held at fair value through profit or loss.

 Financial risk management
Risks associated with policyholder investment contract liabilities (financial instruments as defined) 
are discussed in note 4.2.2 and have been excluded from the analysis below.

The Group has appointed qualified asset managers to manage its financial instruments that 
support policyholder liabilities. The principal asset managers are African Alliance Management 
Company Limited, Stanlib Asset Management Limited, Allan Gray Asset Managers, Ninety One 
Limited and Prudential Investment Managers.

Exposure to outside financial institutions concerning financial instruments is monitored in 
accordance with parameters which have been approved by the Group’s Asset Liability Matching 
and Investment Committee as mandated by the Board.
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4. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISK (continued)

4.1 Financial risk (continued)
 Financial risk management (continued)

The financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below:
(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation and cause the Group to incur a financial loss.

Credit risks arise mainly from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, reinsurance 
assets, loans and receivables (including insurance receivables) and cash and cash equivalents.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and insurance assets represent the maximum 
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date for the 
Group was:

2020 2019
E E

Carrying amount
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 14) 2 086 398 766 1 922 991 510
Loans and receivables including insurance receivables (note 15) 192 859 680 192 810 795
Reinsurance assets (note 18) 109 181 861 111 433 790
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) 314 455 917 289 699 319

Total assets bearing credit risk 2 702 896 224 2 516 935 414

Loans and receivables (including insurance receivables) and cash and cash equivalents are 
placed with reputable counterparties whose credit ratings are assessed when placing the 
business and when there is a change in the status of the counterparty.

The counterparties for assets backing financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss 
and most of reinsurance assets are rated [A-] by an international rating agency. The following 
table provides information regarding the aggregated credit risk exposure for the Group for debt 
instruments categorised by credit ratings.

Rated Not rated Total
E E E

31 December 2020
Assets bearing credit risk 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss and held to maturity investments (note 14) 1 929 145 214 157 253 552 2 086 398 766
Reinsurance assets (note 18) 109 181 861 – 109 181 861
Loans and receivables including insurance 
receivables (note 15) – 192 859 680 192 859 680
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) – 314 455 917 314 455 917

2 038 327 075 664 569 149 2 702 896 224

31 December 2019
Assets bearing credit risk
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss and held to maturity investments (note 14) 1 777 821 730 145 169 780 1 922 991 510
Reinsurance assets (note 18) 111 433 790 – 111 433 790
Loans and receivables including insurance 
receivables (note 15) – 192 810 795 192 810 795
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) – 289 699 319 289 699 319

1 889 255 520 627 679 894 2 516 935 414

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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Debt collection procedures are vigorously carried out on defaulters. Full provision is made for 
non-recoverability as soon as management is uncertain as to the recovery.

If policyholders cease to pay their premiums, as contractually required, any insurance risk 
would lapse, and any investment product would be subject to charges in order to recover 
outstanding costs.

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
commitments associated with financial instruments and insurance contracts.

The Insurance industry is regulated by the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds as 
required by the Insurance Act of 2005. The Insurance Act 2005 specifies the liquidity and 
capital requirements of insurance and retirements fund companies.

Liquidity risks arising out of contractual obligations to policyholders are discussed further in 
note 36 of the notes to financial statements.

The Group manages liquidity risk by reviewing the contractual maturities of both its financial 
assets and financial liabilities. Refer to note 36 – Liquidity analysis for the detailed maturity 
analysis and the reconciliation to the financial statements.

(c)  Market risk
Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk. From time to time 
derivative financial instruments are entered into to reduce this exposure to market risk.

(i) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the financial instruments that are denominated in foreign 
currency will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is exposed to currency risk as its investments include financial instruments that 
are held in international portfolios.

(ii)  Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
or an insurance contract will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

The Group continuously assesses the market expectations within the South African and 
Eswatini interest rate environments.

The following financial instruments and insurance contracts will be directly impacted by 
changes in market interest rates: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
reinsurance assets, cash and cash equivalents, insurance liabilities – insurance contracts, 
investment contracts and reinsurance liabilities.

A change of 50 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased 
(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all 
other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis as for 2020:

Profit or loss Equity

2020 2019 2020 2019
E E E E

Increase of 50 basis points 1 675 203 1 548 497 1 675 203 1 548 497
Decrease of 50 basis points (1 675 203) (1 548 497) (1 675 203) (1 548 497)
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4. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISK (continued)

4.1 Financial risk (continued)
 Financial risk management (continued)

(c)  Market risk
(iii)  Other price risk (continued)

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest 
rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial 
instruments traded in the market.

The Group maintains a balanced portfolio of investments between equity, capital and 
money market to mitigate the impact of other price risk.

(iv)  Legal risk
Legal risk is the risk that the Group will be exposed to contractual obligations which have 
not been provided for.

The Group has a policy of ensuring all contractual obligations are documented and agreed 
to, through signing by the relevant parties to the contract. As at 31 December 2020,  
the directors are not aware of any significant obligation not provided for.

(v)  Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed 
internal processes, people and systems or from external events.

The initiation of all transactions and their administration is conducted on the foundation of 
segregation of duties that has been designed to ensure materially the completeness, 
accuracy and validity of all transactions. These controls are augmented by management 
and executive review of control accounts and systems, electronic and manual checks and 
controls, back-up facilities and contingency planning. The internal control systems and 
procedures are also subjected to regular internal audit reviews.

(vi) Taxation risk
Taxation risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss due to an incorrect 
interpretation and application of taxation legislation or due to the impact of new taxation 
legislation on existing structures.

During the development stage of any new product and prior to any corporate transactions 
the taxation resources of the Group, and if required external resources, identify and advise 
on any material potential taxation impact thereof.

Taxation risk is further mitigated through policy terms and conditions, which enable the risk 
to be passed back to policyholders. This is the case on all classes of business other than 
non-participating annuity business.

(vii) Regulatory risk
Regulatory risk is the risk arising from a change in regulations pertaining to the business of 
the Group.

In order to manage this risk, the Group is an active participant in various bodies which may 
have an impact on its business, such as the office of The Financial Services Regulatory 
Authority.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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4.2 Insurance Risk
The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the 
uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract,  
this risk is random and therefore unpredictable.

The principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and 
benefit payments may exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur 
because the variability of frequency or severity of claims have been underestimated.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the 
relative variability about the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is 
less likely to be affected by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Group has developed its 
insurance underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of 
these categories to achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the 
expected outcome.

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and 
amount of risk, geographical location and type of industry covered.

4.2.1 Non-life insurance contracts
The primary insurance activity carried out by the Group assumes the risk of loss from persons or 
organisations that are directly subject to the risk. Such risks may relate to property, motor, liability, 
accident, health and other perils that may arise from an insurable event. As such the Group is 
exposed to the uncertainty surrounding the timing and severity of claims under the contract.  
The Group also has exposure to market risk through its insurance and investment activities.

The Group manages its insurance risk through setting underwriting limits, approval procedures for 
transactions that involve new products or that exceed set limits, pricing guidelines, centralised 
management of reinsurance and monitoring of emerging issues.

The Group uses several methods to assess and monitor insurance risk exposures both for 
individual types of risks insured and overall risks. These methods include internal risk measurement 
models, sensitivity analyses and scenario analyses.

(a)  Underwriting strategy
The Group underwriting strategy seeks diversity to ensure a balanced portfolio and is based 
on a large portfolio of similar risks over a large area. As such, it is believed that this reduces 
the variability of the outcome. The underwriting strategy is set out in an annual business plan 
that sets out the classes of business to be written and the industry sectors to which the Group 
is prepared to expose itself.

This strategy is cascaded down to individual underwriters through detailed underwriting 
authorities that set out the limits that any one underwriter can write by line size, class of business 
and industry in order to enforce appropriate risk selection within the portfolio. The underwriters 
have the right to refuse renewal or to change the terms and conditions of the contract with  
30 days’ notice. Adherence to the underwriting authorities is measured through a series of 
exception reports that are run on a monthly basis covering line size, class and industry.

The Group bases its pricing policy on the theory of probability. Underwriting limits are set  
for underwriting manager and underwriters to ensure that this policy is consistently applied. 
The Group has the right to re-price and change the conditions for accepting risks on renewal. 
It also has the ability to impose deductibles and reject fraudulent claims. Only extensive 
expertise, well-maintained data resources, and selective underwriting based on this information 
can produce risk-adequate prices and conditions. The effects of the risk of change influence 
both the premium calculation and the reserves.
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4. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISK (continued)

4.2 Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.1 Non-life insurance contracts (continued)

(b)  Reinsurance strategy
The Group reinsures a portion of the risks it underwrites in order to control its exposures to 
losses and protect capital resources. The Group utilises an independent Reinsurance Broker 
for the negotiations, placement and arrangement of Reinsurance programmes with reputable 
reinsurers.

The treaties are a combination of proportional and non-proportional in order to minimise the 
net exposure to the Group. The Group also participates in the facultative reinsurance in certain 
specified circumstances.

(c) Terms and conditions of insurance contracts
The Group issues a range of non-life insurance contracts, each of which is described in further 
detail below:

Engineering – Provides cover for risks relating to:
• The possession, use or ownership of machinery or equipment, other than motor vehicles,  

in the carrying on of a business.
• Erection of buildings or other structures or the undertaking of other works.
• The installation of machinery or equipment.

Guarantee – A contract whereby the insurer assumes an obligation to discharge the debts or 
other obligations of another person in the event of the failure of that person to do so.

Liability – Provides cover for risks relating to the incurring of a liability other than relating to a 
risk covered more specifically under another insurance contract.

Motor – Covers risks relating to the possession, use or ownership of motor vehicles. This cover 
can include risks relating to vehicle accident, theft or damage to third party property or legal 
liability arising out of the possession, use or ownership of the insured vehicle.

Property – Covers risks relating to the use, ownership, loss of or damage to immovable 
property other than a risk covered more specifically under another insurance contract. It also 
covers for the loss of earnings caused by the inability to use the insured properties in their 
business activities (business interruption cover).

Transportation – Covers risks relating to the possession, use or ownership of a vessel, aircraft 
or other craft for the conveyance of persons or goods by air, space, land or water. It also 
covers risks relating to the storage, treatment or handling of goods that are conveyed.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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(d) Nature of risks covered
The following gives an assessment of the Group’s main products and the ways in which it 
manages the associated risks and the concentrations of these risks:

    Product
Commercial Personal

Crime * *
Contractors all risks *
Domestic (other) *
Domestic (motor) *
Fire and allied peril * *
Guarantees *
Accident * *
Personal accident * *
Motor * *
Engineering *
Marine *
Hull *
Liability *
Workmen’s compensation *
Cargo *

Commercial division underwrites small to large business from companies. Personal division 
provides insurance to the general public in their personal capacities.

The following perils are covered under the different types of business:
• Fire – fire, storm, explosions, riot, malicious and earthquake.
• Accident – all risks.
• Personal Accident – death, permanent disablement, total disablement and medical expenses.
• Motor – private and commercial (comprehensive, full third party fire and theft, full third party).
• Engineering – machinery breakdown, contractors all risks, erection all risks and electronic 

equipment.
• Marine – hull and cargo.
• House-owners – fire, theft of fixtures, liability, storm and explosion.
• House-holders – burglary.

The return to shareholders under these products arises from the total premiums charged to 
policyholders less the amounts paid to cover claims and the expenses incurred by the Group. 
There is also certain scope for the Group to earn investment income owing to the time delay 
between the receipt of premiums and the payment of claims.

The event giving rise to a claim usually occurs suddenly (such as a fire or burglary) and the 
cause is easily determinable. The claim will thus be notified promptly and can be settled 
without delay.
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4. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISK (continued)

4.2 Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.1 Non-life insurance contracts (continued)

(e) Management of insurance risks
The key risks associated with these products are underwriting risk, competitive risk, and 
claims experience risk (including the variable incidence of natural disasters). The Group will 
also be exposed to fraud risk by policyholders.

Underwriting risk is the risk that the Group does not charge premiums appropriate for the risk 
that it accepts. The risk on any policy will vary according to many factors such as location, 
safety measures in place, age of property etc. For domestic property insurance it is expected 
that there will be large numbers of properties with similar risk profiles. However, for commercial 
business this will not be the case.

Many commercial property proposals will comprise of a unique combination of location, type 
of business, and safety measures in place. Calculating a premium commensurate with the risk 
for these policies will be subjective, and hence risky. This risk is managed primarily through 
sensible pricing, product design, risk selection, appropriate investment strategy, rating and 
reinsurance. The Group therefore monitors and reacts to changes in the general economic  
and commercial environment in which it operates.

Insurance companies are exposed to the risk that the insured will make false or invalid claims, 
or exaggerate the amount claimed following a loss. This largely explains why economic 
conditions correlate with the profitability of a portfolio. External control systems and fraud 
detection measurements are also in place to improve the Group’s ability to proactively detect 
fraudulent claims. The Group has independent assessors who determine the value of claims in 
cases of uncertainty.

Through selective underwriting, client-focused claims handling and advanced reserving 
methods, the Group endeavor to minimise risks, resulting from the risk of change. Claims are 
analysed separately for long-tail and short-tail claims. The development of large losses and 
catastrophes is analysed separately. Short-tail claims can be estimated with greater reliability, 
and the Group’s estimation process reflects all the factors that influence the amount and timing 
of cash flows from these contracts.

(f) Concentrations of insurance risk
Within the insurance process, concentrations of risk may arise where a particular event or 
series of events could impact heavily upon the Group’s liabilities. Such concentrations may 
arise from a single insurance contract or through a small number of related contracts,  
and relate to circumstances where significant liabilities could arise.

Property is subject to a number of risks, including theft, fire, business interruption and weather.  
For property business there is a very significant geographical concentration of risk so that external 
factors such as adverse weather conditions may adversely impact upon a large proportion of a 
particular geographical portion of the Group’s property risks. Claims including perils such as 
storms, floods, subsidence, fires, explosions, and rising crime levels will occur on a regional basis, 
meaning that the Group has to manage its geographical risk dispersion very carefully.

For motor business the main risks relates mainly to losses arising from theft, fire, third party 
losses and accident. Claims including perils such as increase in crime levels, adverse weather 
and bad road networks will occur on a seasonal and regional scale, meaning that the Group 
has to ensure that all products are adequately priced and that salvage recovery is pursued in 
order to mitigate losses.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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(g) Non-life insurance risk
(1) Claims development

Claims on casualty contracts are payable on a claims-occurrence basis. The Group is 
liable for all insured events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss is 
discovered after the end of the contract term, subject to pre-determined time scales 
dependent on the nature of the insurance contract. The Group takes all reasonable steps 
to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims exposures. However, 
given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will 
prove to be different from the original liability established.

The claims liability comprises a provision for claims not yet paid and a provision for claims 
incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) at the statement of financial position date. Based on 
run off experience against IBNR in 2020, management are of the opinion that the provision 
for IBNR is adequate but not excessive.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the Group’s 
estimation techniques are a combination of loss-ratio-based estimates (where the loss ratio 
is defined as the ratio between the ultimate cost of insurance claims and insurance 
premiums earned in a particular financial year in relation to such claims) and an estimate 
based upon actual claims experience using predetermined formulae where greater weight 
is given to actual claims experience as time passes.

The initial loss-ratio estimate is an important assumption in the estimation technique and is 
based on previous years’ experience, adjusted for factors such as premium rate changes, 
anticipated market experience and historical claims inflation.

The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the 
estimation of the cost of settling claims already notified to the Group, where information 
about the claim event is available. IBNR claims may not be apparent to the insured until 
many years after the event that gave rise to the claims. For casualty contracts, the IBNR 
proportion of the total liability is high and will typically display greater variations between 
initial estimates and final outcomes because of the greater degree of difficulty of estimating 
these liabilities.

In estimating the liability for the cost of reported claims not yet paid, the Group considers 
any information available from loss adjusters and information on the cost of settling claims 
with similar characteristics in previous periods. Large claims are assessed on a case-by-
case basis or projected separately in order to allow for the possible distortive effect of their 
development and incidence on the rest of the portfolio.

Where possible, the Group adopts multiple techniques to estimate the required level of 
provisions. This provides a greater understanding of the trends inherent in the experience 
being projected. The projections given by the various methodologies also assist in 
estimating the range of possible outcomes. The most appropriate estimation technique is 
selected taking into account the characteristics of the business class and the extent of the 
development of each two-year period.

The Group believes that the estimate of total claims outstanding disclosed in note 30.1  
as at 31 December 2020 is adequate. However, due to the inherent uncertainties in the 
reserving process, it cannot be assured that such balances will ultimately prove to be 
adequate.
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4. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISK (continued)

4.2 Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.1 Non-life insurance contracts (continued)

(g) Non-life insurance risk (continued)
(2)  Process used to decide on assumptions

The risks associated with these insurance contracts are complex and subject to a number 
of variables that complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis. The Group uses assumptions 
based on a mixture of internal and external market data to measure its claims liabilities. 
Internal data is derived mostly from the Group’s quarterly claims reports and screening of 
the actual insurance contracts to derive data for the contracts held. The Group has 
reviewed the individual contracts and classes and the actual exposure years of claims.  
This information is used to develop scenarios related to the latency of claims that are used 
for the projections of the ultimate number of claims.

For all other Casuality risks, the Group uses several statistical methods to incorporate the 
various assumptions made in order to estimate the ultimate cost of claims. The three 
methods more commonly used are the chain-ladder, the Bornhuetter-Ferguson methods 
and the loss ratio method.

Chain-ladder methods may be applied to premiums, paid claims or incurred claims  
(for example, paid claims plus case estimates). The basic technique involves the analysis  
of historical claims development factors and the selection of estimated development 
factors based on this historical pattern. The selected development factors are then applied 
to cumulative claims data for each two year period that is not yet fully developed to 
produce an estimated ultimate claims cost for each period.

Chain-ladder techniques are most appropriate for those accident years and classes of 
business that have reached a relatively stable development pattern. Chain-ladder 
techniques are less suitable in cases in which the insurer does not have a developed 
claims history for a particular class of business.

The Bornhuetter-Ferguson method uses a combination of a benchmark or market based 
estimate and an estimate based on claims experience. The former is based on a measure 
of exposure such as premiums; the latter is based on the paid or incurred claims to date. 
The two estimates are combined using a formula that gives more weight to the experience-
based estimate as time passes. This technique has been used in situations in which 
developed claims experience was not available for the projection (recent accident years or 
new classes of business).

The loss ratio method assumes a loss ratio for each line of business. The loss ratio is then 
applied to the premiums earned to date. The claims paid and outstanding is deducted off 
and the balance is set aside as IBNR. With this method historic delay patterns are 
completely ignored and the entire estimate is calculated based on the expected loss ratio 
provided by management.

The choice of selected results for each accident year of each class of business depends on 
an assessment of the technique that has been most appropriate to observed historical 
developments. In certain instances, this has meant that different techniques or combinations 
of techniques have been selected for individual accident years or groups of accident years 
within the same class of business.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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4.2.2 Life insurance contracts
For contracts where death is the insured risk, the most significant factors that could increase the 
overall frequency of claims are epidemics such as AIDS or widespread changes in lifestyle,  
such as eating, smoking and exercise habits, resulting in earlier or more claims than expected.  
For contracts where survival is the insured risk, the most significant factor is continued 
improvement in social conditions that would increase longevity.

The terms and conditions of life insurance contracts which affect the amount, timing and 
uncertainty of cash flows are explained below:

Endowment Assurance With Profits (EWP)
This is life assurance where the sum assured is paid at the end of a specified term or on death if 
this should occur at an earlier date. The minimum term is 10 years for all products. It may be a 
stand-alone product or it may include a five yearly cash benefit policy. At maturity the sum assured 
plus bonuses is payable.

Whole Life Assurance with profit
The benefits of a whole life policy are payable only on death of the life assured whenever that may 
occur.

However, the premium is paid to either age 60 or 80 after which the life assured ceases to pay 
premiums and the cover is guaranteed until death. This is also a profit participating policy.

The Endowment Assurance with profits and the whole life assurance with profit may include the 
following supplementary benefits (optional):
• Disability cash benefit which provide for an equal sum of payment in the event the life assured 

becomes permanently incapacitated to perform his own or similar occupation.
• Additional Accident Benefit. This type of benefit provides for an additional sum of money in 

case the life assured dies of an accident.
• Rest In Peace Benefit. The Rest in Peace Benefit provides for funeral expenses for the entire 

family.

Term Assurance
Temporary life assurance is issued for a specific term wherein the life cover and premium remain 
level throughout.

Term assurances are taken out solely to insure against the possibility of death occurring within a 
time specified in the contract. If death does not occur during that period, no payment is made and 
the life assured does not receive any returns from his premium.

Decreasing Term Assurance
Temporary life assurance where the sum assured decreases over the duration of the policy.

Group Life Assurance
The benefit is paid as a cash lump sum to the dependants of a deceased person. The benefit is 
expressed as a multiple of the member’s annual salary.

Capital Disability Assurance
This benefit is an extension of the Group Life Assurance and is payable when a member becomes 
totally and permanently disabled to the extent that he is unable to engage in any occupation.
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4. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISK (continued)

4.2 Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.2 Life insurance contracts (continued)

(a) Underwriting
The underwriting strategy is intended to ensure that the risks underwritten are well diversified 
in terms of type of risk and the level of insured benefits. For example, the Group balances 
death risk and survival risk across its portfolio. Medical selection is also included in the 
Group’s underwriting procedures with premiums varied to reflect the health condition.

(b) Policyholder behaviour risk
Insurance risk for contracts are also affected by the contract holders’ right to pay reduced or 
no future premiums, to terminate the contract completely, or to exercise a guaranteed annuity 
option. As a result, the amount of insurance risk is also subject to contract holder behaviour.

On the assumption that contract holders will make decisions rationally, overall insurance risk 
can be assumed to be aggravated by such behaviour. For example, it is likely that contract 
holders whose health has deteriorated significantly will be less inclined to terminate contracts 
insuring death benefits than those contract holders remaining in good health. This results in an 
increasing trend of expected mortality, as the portfolio of insurance contracts reduces due to 
voluntary terminations.

The main risk posed by this behaviour is the risk that expenses and commissions incurred 
early in the term of the contract, but priced to be recovered by means of ongoing charges over 
a longer period, are not fully recovered due to the decision by the policyholder to cease or 
reduce contributions.

(c) Assumptions
For life insurance contracts estimates are made in two stages. At inception of the contract, the 
Group determines assumptions in relation to future deaths, voluntary terminations, investment 
returns and administration expenses. These assumptions are used for calculating the liabilities 
during the life of the contract. A margin for risk and uncertainty is added to these assumptions. 
These assumptions are “locked in” for the duration of the contract.

Subsequently, new estimates are developed at each reporting date to determine whether 
liabilities are adequate in the light of the latest current estimates. The initial assumptions are 
not altered if the liabilities are considered adequate. If the liabilities are not adequate, the 
assumptions are altered (“unlocked”) to reflect the latest current estimates; no margin is added 
to the assumptions in this event.

As a result, the effect of changes in the underlying variables on insurance liabilities and related 
assets is not symmetrical.

Improvements in estimates have no impact on the value of the liabilities and related assets, 
while significant enough deteriorations in estimates have an impact. The assumptions used for 
the insurance contracts disclosed in this note are as follows:

• Mortality risk and morbidity risk
There are a number of policy types which provide significant benefits on death of the 
policyholder or beneficiary. The impact of HIV and AIDS is of particular concern in Eswatini. 
The primary mortality risk mitigation strategies are:
– Underwriting at the time when policies are written;
– The use of waiting periods and stepped sums assured to prevent anti-selection;
– Reinsurance.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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The Group is not exposed to material morbidity or medical risks.

• Planned margins
Compulsory and discretionary margins are applied to the best estimate assumptions to 
introduce an element of prudence into the valuation and to ensure appropriate recognition 
of profit. These margins will enable the solvency of the Group to withstand fairly material 
deviations in experience from the best estimates.

Basis element Compulsory margin Discretionary margin

Mortality 
including AIDS 

7.5% reduction for Mortality group A

7.5% addition for all other products

Extra 7.5% reduction for Mortality 
group A

Extra 7.5% increase for all other 
products

Investment 
return 

0.25% increase for Investment group A

0.25% reduction for all other products

Extra 0.25% increase for Investment 
group A

Extra 0.25% reduction for all other 
products

Surrenders 10% reduction for Surrender group A Extra 15% reduction for Surrender 
group A

Lapses 25% increase for Lapse group A

25% reduction for Lapse group B

–

Renewal 
expenses 

10% increase 
Extra 15% increase

Expense inflation 10% increase –

The definitions of the group A and group B shown above is as follows:

Mortality group A: Lilunga Single Premium, Children’s Education Endowment, Endowment 
Assurances, Whole Life With Profits Up To Age 80, Retirement Annuity with Life Cover, Child’s 
Deferred Endowment, Retirement Annuity, Endowment with Periodic Cash Payments, Whole 
life with Periodic Cash Payments, Rest in Peace and Annuities.

Investment group A: Lilunga Pure Endowment, Lilunga Single Premium, Lilunga Asset Builder, 
Lilunga Graduate Plan Automatic Premium Waiver, Lilunga Pension Provider, Children’s Education 
Endowment, Endowment Assurances, Whole Life With Profits Up To Age 80, Retirement Annuity 
with Life Cover, Whole Life With Profits Up To Age 60, Child’s Deferred Endowment, Retirement 
annuity, Single Premium Retirement Annuity, Endowment with Periodic Cash Payments, Whole 
Life with Periodic Cash Payments, Rest in Peace, Level Term Cover, Supplementary Level Cover 
Term Assurance, Mortgage Protection Policy, Lilunga Lien Product, Lilunga Graduate Plan 
Underwriting Premium Waiver, Lilunga Graduate Plan No Premium Waiver.

Surrender group A: All Lilunga and Insika Savings Component.

Lapse group A: Whole Life With Profits Up To Age 80, Rider on Conventional Product, Rider 
on a Unit Linked Product, Decreasing Cover Term Assurance, Supplementary Decreasing 
Cover Term Assurance, Insika Comprehensive Life Policy, Rider on Insika Comprehensive.

Lapse group B: All products excluding Lapse group A and Surrender group A.

The value of discretionary margins included in the FSV liability as at 31 December 2020 is 
E48.6m (2019: E66.7m).
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4. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISK (continued)

4.2 Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.2 Life insurance contracts (continued)

(c) Assumptions (continued)
• Economic assumptions

The expected future return on bonds is derived from the 13.62 year point on the South African 
Solvency Assessment and Management (SAM) nominal yield curve. The 13.62 year point was 
chosen relative to the average term on the liabilities. The expected future return on the other 
asset classes are then derived using flat deductions/additions to return on bonds.

The future investment return assumption is then calculated as the weighted average of these 
returns using the split of the assets backing the liabilities as weights. The expense inflation 
assumption is derived from the inflation curve implied by the SAM nominal and real curves 
at the 13.62 year point. In previous years, inflation was derived with reference to the return 
on bonds with using a 2% gap.

The economic assumptions used are shown below:

GAP 
%

2020 
%

2019
%

Bonds 12.9 10.4
Equities 2.0 14.9 12.4
Property 1.0 13.9 11.4
Cash (2.0) 10.9 8.4

Average investment return 14.0 14.0
Expense inflation 7.9 8.4

• Demographic and expense assumptions
Mortality and lapse rates were left unchanged from the previous year.

Renewal and supplementary expenses per policy decreased to E515.00 and E51.5.00 in 2020 
from E500.00 and E50.00 in 2019 respectively. This slight decrease in the assumption is 
because the growth in the policy count over which the expenses are split, exceeded the 
growth in the management expense over the financial year.

Below is table that shows the expense per policy calculation:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
E’000 E’000

Expenses for ongoing individual life 20 904 19 834

Total inforce policies 40 565 41 798

We did not change the reserving ratios for the Group risk policies since the observed 
profitability remains good. See section 3.3.1. above for details of the assumed reserving ratios.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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The Individual business demographic and expense assumptions for 2020/(2019) are as 
follows:

Mortality Assurances 

Pensions in payment

Male: 80% of SA56–62 + 0.001 + 100% of Assa2003m). 
Female: 80% of (SA56–62f + 0.001+100% of Assa2003f) 
where SA56–62f rated down by three years. 

125% of A(90)

Withdrawal 7.5% per annum for Lilunga policies
7.5% per annum for Mortgage Protection policies
7.5% per annum for Term Assurances policies
2.5% per annum for Rest In Peace policies
7.5% per annum for Insika policies
0% per annum for all other policy types

Expenses E515.00 (E500.00) per main policy p.a.
E51.50 (E50.00) per supplementary policy per annum

• Changes in assumptions
The impact of the change in assumptions on the liabilities is as follows (E’000):

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
E’000 E’000

Change in expense assumption (9 065) (13 895)
Change in investment return assumption (9 481) (923)
Change in the expense inflation assumption (4 588) 2 310

Total impact of change in assumptions (23 134) (12 508)

The expense assumption change has resulted in a lower liability because the 2020 expense 
assumption is lower than the previous year’s expected expense assumption for 2020.  
The increase in the investment return assumption has also led to a decrease in the discounted 
liabilities. The decrease in the expense inflation assumption has resulted in a decrease in the 
reserve.

The net impact of all these changes is a net decrease in the liabilities.

(d) Assumptions risk
Deviations from assumptions will result in actual cash flows being different from those 
projected in the policyholder liability calculations. As such, each assumption represents a 
source of uncertainty.

(e) Mortality risk
Mortality risk is the risk of loss arising due to actual policyholder death experience on life 
assurance policies being higher than expected.

There are a number of policy types which provide significant benefits on death of the 
policyholder or beneficiary. The impact of HIV and AIDS is of particular concern in Eswatini.  
The primary mortality risk mitigation strategies are:
• Underwriting at the time when policies are written;
• The use of waiting periods and stepped sums assured to prevent anti-selection;
• Reinsurance; and
• The Group carries out annual valuations where actual deaths are compared with what was 

expected.
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4. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISK (continued)

4.2 Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.2 Life insurance contracts (continued)

(f) Longevity risk
Longevity risk is the risk of loss arising due to annuitants living longer than expected.

The Group has a growing portfolio of non-profit immediate annuity policies which presents 
longevity risk. Currently no allowance is made in the valuation for mortality improvements, 
however, experience is monitored against expected payouts annually and variances are 
reported to the Audit Committee.

(g)  Sensitivity analysis
The following tables present the sensitivity of the value of insurance liabilities disclosed in this 
note to movements in the assumptions used in the estimation of insurance liabilities. The table 
below indicates the level of the respective variable that will trigger an adjustment and then 
indicates the liability adjustment required as a result of a further deterioration in the variable.

Sensitivity table

2020 2019

Gross
Net of 

reinsurance Gross
Net of 

reinsurance
Change % E’000 E’000 E’000 E’000

Mortality rates 10 1 841 4 691 2 136 3 017
(10) (4 502) (4 273) (2 689) (2 461)

Withdrawals 8 (1 601) (1 601) (2 468) (2 468)
(8) 1 672 1 672 2 589 2 589

Expenses 15 36 223 36 223 44 752 44 752
(15) (36 002) (36 002) (44 538) (44 538)

Interest rate yield 1 (57 221) (57 221) (54 744) (54 744)
(1) 59 447 59 447 95 900 95 900

The above analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be 
correlated – for example, change in interest rate and change in market values; and change in 
lapses and future mortality.

(h) Reinsurance risk
The Group cedes insurance risk to limit exposure to underwriting losses under various 
agreements that cover individual risks, Group risks or defined blocks of business, on a 
proportional and excess or catastrophe excess basis.

These reinsurance agreements spread the risk and minimise the effect of losses. The amount 
of each risk retained depends on the Group’s evaluation of the specific risk subject in certain 
circumstances, to maximum limits based on characteristics of coverage. Under the terms of 
the reinsurance agreements, the reinsurer agrees to reimburse the ceded amount in the event 
the claim is paid. However, the Group remains liable to its policyholders with respect to ceded 
insurance if any reinsurer fails to meet the obligation it assumes.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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When selecting a reinsurer, the Group considers their relative security. The security of the reinsurer 
is assessed from public rating information and that from internal investigations.

Credit ratings of insurance reinsurers are as follows:

2020 2019
Exposure 

%
Premiums 

%
Exposure 

%
Premiums 

%

AAA 0 0 0 0
AA+ 0 0 0 0
AA- 73 65 72 60
A+ 0 0 0 0
A 0 0 0 0
A- 17 20 15 20
B++ 5 5 6 5
BBB+ 0 0 0 0
BBB- 0 0 2 3
Unrated 5 10 5 12

100 100 100 100

Premium rates pertain to premiums ceded to reinsurers during the period ended 31 December 
2020 and exposure rations relate to amounts owing from reinsurers at year end. We have only 
listed major re-insurers.

(i) The Capital Adequacy Requirement (CAR) as part of the risk management framework
In order to comply with the requirements of SAP 104, a life insurance Group is required to hold 
capital in excess of its liabilities to ensure that it will remain solvent under adverse conditions in 
future years. The extent that a Group will be affected by adverse conditions depends on a 
number of factors, most importantly:
• The nature and term of the assets
• The types and duration of guarantees granted
• The ability to change contract terms and charges
• The speed with which the Group can react to changing circumstances.

The required excess capital is termed the “Capital Adequacy Requirement” or CAR.  
This considers two potential risks.
• That all policies cease with immediate effect – the so-called Termination CAR or TCAR.
• That an accumulation of adverse circumstances in a number of quite different areas 

conspire to produce a highly detrimental capital position. This is the CAR in the ordinary line 
of business or OCAR.

It is important to note that the corporation can reduce their CAR by allowing for future 
management action, specifically the removal of non-vesting and terminal bonuses and allowing 
the bonus stabilisation reserve to go negative to a certain level, as well as reductions to future 
bonus declarations. The principle management actions assumed in the CAR calculation are the 
removal of a portion of the non-vested bonuses, 1% of the terminal bonuses and allowing the 
bonus stabilisation reserve to go down to minus 5% of fund.

The ESRIC CAR at 31 December 2020 is E92.3m (2019: E129.9m). This is the maximum of the 
OCAR post-management action of E92.3m and the TCAR of E10.4m. The management action 
taken on OCAR was to remove E77.4m of terminal bonuses. The impact of management action 
was to reduce OCAR from E221.3m to E92.3m.
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4. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISK (continued)

4.2 Insurance Risk (continued)
4.2.2 Life insurance contracts (continued)

(i) The Capital Adequacy Requirement (CAR) as part of the risk management framework 
(continued)
The decrease in OCAR from the is largely due to the investment CAR component.  
This component decreased from E99.1m in 2019 to E61.1m in 2020 because of a 
reclassification of assets backing the non-with profits liability such that the liability now  
has significant exposure to bonds. Previously, this liability was backed mainly by equity.  
This has resulted in a smaller impact on the asset shocks and thus a lower investment  
CAR component.

The TCAR remains lower than the OCAR in 2020, leading to the overall CAR taking on the 
OCAR value. 

ESRIC has an established dividend policy which has been applied for a number of years. 
The policy is such that 50% of any surplus in excess of two times the Capital Adequacy 
Requirement (CAR) is paid to shareholders in the form of a dividend. Application of the policy 
would result in a proposed dividend of E67.5m for 2021.

4.3 Fair value estimation
The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs in making the measurements.

The Group adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for financial instruments that are measured in the 
statement of financial position at fair value; this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by 
level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 13:
• Level 1: Quoted market price in an active market for an identical instrument.
• Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 

indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using quoted 
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where 
all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

• Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all 
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and 
the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category 
includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where 
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences 
between the instruments.

An analysis of financial instruments, measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period,  
by level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised can be 
found in the notes to the financial statements.

Summary of significant accounting policies continued
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The following table presents the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2020:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E’000 E’000 E’000

At 31 December 2020
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
– Equity 28 090 469 157 253 552 –
– Capital market – 1 686 919 229 –
– Money market – 214 135 516 –
Investment property – – 46 400 000

Total assets 28 090 469 2 058 308 297 46 400 000

At 31 December 2019
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
– Equity 429 442 428 145 169 780 –
– Capital market – 1 285 971 045 –
– Money market – 62 408 257 –
Investment property – – 46 502 194

Total assets 429 442 428 1 493 549 082 46 502 194

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT
The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and 
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) The ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts-Incurred 
but not reported claims
The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is the 
Group’s most critical accounting estimate. There are several sources of uncertainty that need to 
be considered in the estimate of the liability that the Group will ultimately pay for such claims.

The Group believes that the liability for incurred but not reported claims carried at year-end is 
adequate.

The methods and assumptions used in estimating the liability are detailed in accounting policy 
note 4.2.1.

Incurred but not reported claims have been disclosed in note 30.1.

(b) Estimate of life Insurance liabilities for investment and insurance contracts
The determination of the liabilities under life insurance contracts is dependent on estimates 
made by the Group’s statutory actuary.

The Group believes that the liability for life Insurance liabilities for investment and insurance 
contracts carried at year-end is adequate. The methods and assumptions used in estimating 
the liability are detailed in accounting policy note 4.2.2.

Life insurance liabilities for investment and insurance contracts have been disclosed in note 30.1.

(c) Taxation
Significant judgement is required in determining the Group’s provision for income taxes.  
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome is different  
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax  
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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1. OPERATING SEGMENTS

1.1 Identifying operating segments
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board 
of Directors that are used to make strategic decisions. All operating segments used by 
management meet the definition of reportable segments under IFRS 8.

The Group is organised and has identified four reportable operating segments on both non-life and 
life insurance business based on the nature of the products and services delivered by each 
segment. These segments distribute their products through various forms of brokers, agencies and 
direct marketing programmes. Management identifies its reportable operating segments by 
product line consistent with the reports used by the Board of Directors.

At 31 December 2020, the segments and their respective operations are as follows:

 Non-life insurance business
• Commercial insurance – providing cover on the assets and liabilities of business enterprise.
• Personal insurance – consisting of insurance to individuals and their personal property.

 Life insurance business
• Insurance contracts – contracts on which the Group accepts significant insurance risk from 

policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if insured event take place.
• Investment contracts – consist of contracts that transfer financial risk with no insurance risk.

Refer note 34 and 35 for non-life and life insurance segment information analysis respectively.

1.2 Segment information
Transactions between the business segments are carried out at arm’s length. The revenue from 
external parties reported to the Executive Committee and Board of Directors is measured in a 
manner consistent with that in the statement of comprehensive income.

The Executive Committee and Board of Directors assess the performance of the operating 
segments based on a smoothed measure of operating profit. Unallocated costs represent 
corporate expenses, classified under investments and Shareholders funds.

The total amounts of assets and liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of 
financial statements. Assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, loans and 
receivables including insurance receivables, reinsurance assets, financial assets and operating 
cash. Liabilities comprise operating liabilities for both insurance and investment contracts, 
reinsurance liabilities and insurance and other payables excluding items such as taxation. 
These assets and liabilities are not allocated to any segments but included in corporate assets 
and liabilities.

1.3 Entity-wide information
 Geographic segments

The Group’s operations are wholly within Eswatini and its revenue is fully generated from within the 
country.

 Customer
Management considers its external customers to be the individual policyholders; as such the 
Group is not reliant on any individual customer.

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020
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2020 2019
E E

2. EXPENDITURE
2.1 Operating expenses

Operating expenses include the following items:
Auditors’ remuneration
– External audit fees – Current year 2 179 306 1 893 150
– Internal audit and other related services 964 116 998 198

3 143 422 2 891 348

Actuarial fees 2 164 372 2 474 215

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 12) 32 730 1 076 328

Directors emoluments – for services as directors 1 886 451 1 044 297

Depreciation (Note 11) 3 146 301 3 172 752

Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) 70 506 535 67 122 046

Insurance levy 7 964 501 7 785 486

Legal fees 520 233 431 589

Professional fees 1 701 777 1 649 384

Repairs and maintenance 5 296 777 5 152 762

Software licence and maintenance fees 12 333 666 10 755 673

2.2 Asset management expenses
Property management 475 866 –
Investment managers’ administration fees 10 274 822 –

10 750 688 9 841 631

3. INVESTMENT INCOME
Financial assets – at fair value through profit and loss:
– Dividend income 7 495 902 10 211 988
– Interest income 122 607 095 111 547 414
Loans and receivables interest income 582 873 756 828
Cash and cash equivalents interest income 8 650 562 12 787 379
Rental income and parking fees 9 910 509 5 981 533

109 061 641 141 285 142

4 NET REALISED FAIR VALUE GAINS
4.1 Net realised fair value gains on financial assets:

Fair value gains on financial assets comprise the following:
Stanlib Asset Managers – Life (19 929 975) 19 231 897

(19 929 975) 19 231 897

4.2 Net unrealised fair value gains on financial assets:
Unrealised fair value gains on financial assets 51 798 503 26 404 910

4.3 Movement in investment contracts with DPF:
Increase in investment contracts with DPF (Note 31) (35 919 549) (22 039 216)
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2020 2019
E E

5. FAIR VALUE LOSSES ON INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Fair value losses on investment property (Note 13) (102 194) (776 731)

6. FEE INCOME FROM POLICYHOLDERS
Insurance contracts – Non-life 2 542 091 6 477 384
Insurance contracts and investment contracts – Life 15 980 298 14 517 271

18 522 389 20 994 655

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Eswatini normal taxation:
Current year (Note 26) 73 025 087 58 199 589
Deferred taxation (Note 16) (3 758 796) 911 045

69 266 291 59 110 634

Taxation rate reconciliation:
Profit before tax 267 480 417 216 634 459
Tax thereon at 27.5% (2019: 27.5%) 73 557 115 59 574 476
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 925 688 2 966 404
Income not subject to tax (910 192) (9 243 847)
Prior year adjustment to deferred tax (4 306 320) 5 813 601

69 266 291 59 110 634

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
Salaries 46 952 271 43 976 467
Performance bonus 14 697 641 15 275 275
Staff welfare costs 941 931 693 371
Pension costs – defined contribution plan 7 914 692 7 176 938

70 506 535 67 122 051

The average number of employees during the year was 109 (2019: 112).

9. NET INSURANCE PREMIUM INCOME
Life insurance contracts with fixed guaranteed terms 265 550 178 274 789 331
Non-life insurance contracts
– premium written 520 006 018 519 439 272
– change in unearned premium provision (8 013 160) (8 409 893)

Premium revenue arising from insurance contracts issued 777 543 036 785 818 710

Non-life reinsurance contracts
– premium payables (Note 24.1) (175 096 848) (158 723 479)
– change in unearned premium provision 9 132 147 4 507 161
Life reinsurance contracts (Note 24.1) (10 388 485) (7 442 446)

Premium revenue ceded to reinsurers on insurance 
contracts issued (176 353 186) (161 658 764)

Net insurance premium revenue 601 189 850 624 159 946

Notes to the financial statements continued
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2020 2019
E E

10. INSURANCE BENEFITS AND CLAIMS
Life insurance contracts with fixed and guaranteed terms:
– death, maturity and surrender benefits 191 232 289 (172 195 504)
– Increase in actuarial insurance liabilities (Note 32.1) 65 602 382 (153 607 237)
– insurance benefits recoverable from reinsurers (8 974 832) 9 856 812

Total cost of policyholder benefits 247 859 839 (315 945 929)

Non-life insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses:

2020 2019
Gross 

E
Reinsurance 

E
Net 

E
Gross 

E
Reinsurance 

E
Net 

E

Current year 
claims paid and 
adjustment 
expenses 89 935 178 (22 248 360) 67 686 818 121 421 046 (27 102 350) 94 318 696
Change in 
provision for 
outstanding claims (2 111 133) 9 292 484 7 181 351 4 128 063 5 833 762 9 961 825

Total claims 
incurred and 
adjustment 
expenses 87 824 045 (12 955 876) 74 868 169 125 549 109 (21 268 588) 104 280 521

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office 
furniture 

and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles 

Land and 
buildings Total

E E E E

Year ended 31 December 2020
Cost
Opening balance 18 543 303 2 073 158 46 965 708 67 582 169
Additions 1 595 317 547 760 35 887 2 178 964
Revaluation gain – – 164 113 164 113
Disposal – (290 828) – (290 828)

20 138 620 2 330 090 47 165 708 69 634 418

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance (14 269 941) (1 468 546) (11 709 057) (27 447 544)
Charge for the year (2 001 976) (301 725) (842 600) (3 146 331)
Disposal – 290 828 – 290 828

(16 271 917) (1 479 443) (12 551 657) (30 303 017)

Net carrying amount 3 866 703 850 647 34 614 051 39 331 401
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Office furniture 
and equipment

Motor 
vehicles 

Land and 
buildings Total

E E E E

Year ended 31 December 2019
Cost
Opening balance 16 329 672 2 150 863 51 384 863 69 865 398
Additions 2 222 848 – 4 556 169 6 779 017
Revaluation loss  – – (8 975 324) (8 975 324)
Disposal (9 217) (77 705) – (86 922)

18 543 303 2 073 158 46 965 708 67 582 169

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance (12 389 766) (1 226 551) (10 725 633) (24 341 950)
Charge for the year (1 883 957) (305 371) (983 424) (3 172 752)
Disposal 3 782 63 376 – 67 158

(14 269 941) (1 468 546) (11 709 057) (27 447 544)

Net carrying amount 4 273 362 604 612 35 256 651 40 134 625

The Group’s land and buildings were revalued in December 2020. The revaluation was done on a 
fair market value method by ERIS Property Group. The land and buildings consist of Lot 2176, 
Mbabane, Hhohho, measuring 7 464m² and Lot 614, Matsapha, Manzini, measuring 3 814m².

Included in property, plant and equipment are fully depreciated items with an initial cost of 
E9 338 416 (2019: E9 234 901).

2020 2019
E E

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS – COMPUTER SOFTWARE
Cost
At the beginning of the year 43 392 356 34 309 194
Additions 13 037 961 9 083 162

At the end of the year 56 430 317 43 392 356

Accumulated amortisation
At the beginning of the year (22 438 997) (21 362 669)
Charge for the year (32 730)  (1 076 328)
At the end of the year (22 471 727) (22 438 997)

Net carrying amount 33 958 590 20 953 359

Included in intangible assets are fully amortised items with an initial cost of E9 297 588 
(2019: E9 758 398).

Notes to the financial statements continued
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Land and 
buildings

E

31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year 46 502 195
Capitalised subsequent expenditure –
Fair value adjustment (102 194)

At the end of the year 46 400 001

31 December 2019
At the beginning of the year 44 500 000
Capitalised subsequent expenditure 2 778 926
Fair value adjustment (776 731)

At the end of the year 46 502 195

The investment property consists of Lilunga House, which is held for rental income purposes and 
for capital appreciation. The amount shown above represents an estimate of fair value at the 
statement of financial position date.

Fair value is based on valuations that are done by a professional firm of valuers, ERIS Property 
Group. The last valuation was performed on 31 December 2020.

There are no restrictions to the realisability of this property and the property is not pledged as 
security for any liability.

A register of Investment Properties at 31 December 2020 is available for inspection at the Group’s 
registered office.
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2020 2019
E E

14. FINANCIAL ASSETS
At fair value through profit or loss (note 14.1) 2 086 398 766 1 922 991 510
At amortised cost (note 14.2) 20 584 658 20 000 000

2 106 983 424 1 942 991 510

14.1 At fair value through profit or loss
Non-current
Swaziland Building Society – Permanent unlisted shares 157 253 552 145 169 780
Swazi Spa Holdings Limited – Equity 1 148 400 1 148 400
Nedbank Eswatini Limited – Equity 3 300 000 3 300 000
Royal Eswatini Sugar Corporation – Equity 2 100 000 2 100 000
Allan Gray Asset Managers 119 370 735 126 188 916
Ninety One Limited 142 975 769 134 193 496
Prudential Investment Managers 118 840 732 124 688 747

544 989 188 536 789 339

Current
Investment managed by Stanlib Asset Managers:
– Equity – 399 272 990
– Capital market 1 218 041 348 825 986 401
– Money market 184 492 973 33 795 115
Investment managed by African Alliance
– Money market 17 495 812 16 455 382
Investment managed by ABSA Asset Managers:
– Equity 21 542 069 23 621 038
– Capital market 87 690 645 74 913 485
– Money market 12 146 731 12 157 760

1 541 409 578 1 386 202 171

2 086 398 766 1 922 991 510

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented within “investing activities” in the 
statement of cash flows.

Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in  
“net realised and unrealised fair value gains on financial assets” in the statement of comprehensive 
income (note 4.1 and 4.2).

The fair value of all equity securities is based on their current bid prices in an active market.

14.2 At amortised cost
2020 2019

E E

Debt securities – fixed interest rate:
– Unlisted 20 584 658 20 000 000

20 584 658 20 000 000

Notes to the financial statements continued
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Group Corporation

2020 2019 2020 2019
E E E E

15. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 
INCLUDING INSURANCE 
RECEIVABLES
Receivables arising from insurance contracts:
– due from agents, brokers and intermediaries 73 708 450 68 031 830 73 708 450 68 031 830
Receivables arising from reinsurance 
contracts:
– due from reinsurers 10 448 320 14 715 757 10 448 320 14 715 757

Other receivables: 108 702 910 110 063 208 128 702 910 110 063 208

Staff receivables 16 954 454 18 988 173 16 954 454 18 988 173
Other receivables 9 584 450 11 442 446 29 584 450 11 442 446
Loans to agents 2 191 923 254 584 2 191 923 254 584
Loans to policyholders 79 972 083 79 378 005 79 972 083 79 378 005

192 859 680 192 810 795 212 859 680 192 810 795

The fair value of the trade and other 
receivables approximate their book values 
as included above.

At 31 December 2020, none of the 
receivables are past due. The entity further 
believes that no impairment allowance is 
necessary in respect of receivables as no 
objective evidence existed at year end to 
indicate that one or more events may have a 
negative effect on the estimated future cash 
flows expected from any individual balance.

16. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET
Deferred income taxes are calculated in full 
on temporary differences under the liability 
method using the principal tax rate of 27.5% 
(2019: 27.5%).

The gross movement in deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities during the year, without 
taking into consideration the offsetting of 
balances within the same tax jurisdiction,  
is as follows:

At the beginning of the year 1 481 422 2 392 467 1 481 422 2 392 467
(Charged)/credited to income statement 3 758 796 (911 045) 3 758 796 (911 045)

Arising from property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets (941 946) (911 045) (941 946) (911 045)
Arising from staff profit share provisions 4 401 009 – 4 401 009 –
Finance lease liability 3 388 726 – 3 388 726 –
Right of use asset (3 088 993) – (3 088 993) –

At the end of the year 5 240 218 1 481 422 5 240 218 1 481 422
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Group Corporation

2020 2019 2020 2019
E E E E

16. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 
ASSET (continued)
Deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when the deferred 
income taxes assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either 
the taxable entity or different 
taxable entities where there is an 
intention to settle the balances on 
a net basis.

Deferred income tax assets/(liability) 
to be recovered in more than 
12 months:

–  Difference between depreciation 
and wear and tear allowances 629 728 1 481 422 629 728 1 481 422

–  Arising from Finance lease liability 1 589 483 – 1 589 483 –
– Right-of-use asset (1 380 002) – (1 380 002) –

839 209 1 481 422 839 209 1 481 422

Deferred income tax assets to be 
recovered in less than 12 months:

–  Arising from staff profit share 
provisions 4 401 009 – 4 401 009 –

5 240 218 1 481 422 5 240 218 1 481 422

17. CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand 12 000 8 000 12 000 8 000
Short-term deposits with local banks 314 443 917 289 691 319 294 443 917 289 691 319

314 455 917 289 699 319 294 455 917 289 699 319

Notes to the financial statements continued
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2020 2019
E E

18. REINSURANCE ASSETS
Reinsurers’ share of insurance assets 109 181 861 111 433 790
The movement in the reinsurance assets account is as follows:
At the beginning of the year 111 433 790 102 564 614
Movements in asset held in respect of amounts due by reinsurers in 
respect of ceded claims. (2 251 929) 8 869 176

At the end of the year (Note 30.1) 109 181 861 111 433 790

18.1 The reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities includes: 109 181 861 111 433 790

Outstanding claims (Note 30.1) 42 464 537 53 868 154
Unearned premiums (Note 30.1) 64 419 268 55 287 121
Insurance contracts (Note 30.1) 2 298 056 2 278 515

Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid by the 
Group on the contracts that are reinsured are included in loans and 
other receivables (Note 15).

19. DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS
The movement in the deferred acquisition costs account is as follows:
At the beginning of the year 9 365 257 9 530 443
Acquisition expenses paid 65 198 643 64 561 176
Charged to statement of comprehensive income during the year 
(Note 20) (65 659 935) (64 726 362)

At the end of the year 8 903 965 9 365 257

20. NET EXPENSES OF ACQUISITION OF INSURANCE 
CONTRACTS
Expenses for acquisition of insurance contract – Non-life (65 659 935) (64 726 362)

– Life (24 843 228) (23 846 260)

Total commission expenses (90 503 163) (88 572 622)

Fees earned from reinsurance contracts – Non-life 45 144 293 41 610 758
– Life 1 820 951 1 980 110

Total commission income 46 965 244 43 590 868

Net expenses of acquisition of insurance contracts (43 537 919) (44 981 754)

21. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised share capital – 4 000 000 (2019: 4 000 000) ordinary 
shares of E1 each 4 000 000 4 000 000

Issued share capital – 4 000 000 (2019: 4 000 000) ordinary shares 
of E1 each 4 000 000 4 000 000
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21. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
The reconciliation of authorised and issued share capital is as follows:

2020 2019
Authorised Issued Authorised Issued

E E E E

At the beginning of the year 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000

At the end of the year 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000

There were no changes to the authorised and issued share capital during the year.

The requirement of Clause 7(2) of the Insurance Act, 2005 is that an insurer shall have a minimum 
share capital of E2 000 000. ESRIC has a share capital of E4 000 000 because it has two 
insurance licences (non-life and life businesses).

2020 2019
E E

22. REVALUATION RESERVES
At the beginning of the year 20 071 663 29 046 987
Revaluation – land and buildings (Note 11) 164 113 (8 975 324)

At the end of the year 20 235 776 20 071 663

The revaluation reserve arises from Land and Building revaluation. The most recent revaluation was 
done by a professional firm of valuers, ERIS Property Group as at 31 December 2020.

23. RETAINED EARNINGS
Non-life portion Life portion Total

E E E

Year ended 31 December 2020
At the beginning of the year 311 098 239 262 477 134 573 575 373
Profit for the year 145 492 428 52 721 698 198 214 126
Dividends paid  (76 400 000) (1 300 000) (77 700 000)

At the end of the year 380 190 667 313 898 832 694 089 499

Year ended 31 December 2019
At the beginning of the year 312 743 493 244 308 055 557 051 548
Profit for the year 135 354 746 22 169 079 157 523 825
Dividends paid (137 000 000) (4 000 000) (141 000 000)

At the end of the year 311 098 239 262 477 134 573 575 373

24. REINSURANCE LIABILITIES
2020 2019

E E

Premiums due to reinsurers (refer note 24.1) 17 340 457 21 311 505
24.1 The movement in premiums due to reinsurers is as follows:

At the beginning of the year 21 311 505 22 407 198
Non-life reinsurance contracts (note 9) 165 964 701 158 723 479
Life reinsurance contracts (note 9) 10 388 485 7 442 446
Cash paid to reinsurers (180 324 234) (167 261 618)

At the end of the year 17 340 457 21 311 505

Notes to the financial statements continued
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25. INSURANCE AND OTHER 
PAYABLES

Group Corporation

2020 2019 2020 2019
E E

Commission due to agents and 
brokers 24 699 428 16 204 928 24 699 428 16 204 928
Trade and other payables 30 444 372  27 122 687 30 444 372 27 122 687

– Trade accounts payable 12 472 731 10 541 584 12 472 731 10 541 584
– Other payables 17 971 641 16 581 103 17 972 641 16 581 103

55 143 800 43 327 615 55 144 800 43 327 615

26. CURRENT INCOME TAX 
LIABILITY
The movement in the current 
income tax account is as follows:
At the beginning of the year 3 003 477 (4 279 624) 3 003 477 (4 279 624)
Charged to statement of 
comprehensive income – current 
(Note 7) 73 025 087 58 199 589 73 025 087 58 199 589
Paid during the year (61 203 066) (50 916 488) (61 203 066) (50 916 488)

At the end of the year 14 825 498 3 003 477 14 825 498 3 003 477

27. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PROVISIONS

2020 2019
Performance 

bonus
Performance 

bonus
E  E

At the beginning of the year 15 275 270 14 665 378
Charged to statement of comprehensive income 14 697 641 15 275 270
Utilised during the year (13 969 243) (14 665 378)

At the end of the year 16 003 668 15 275 270

Performance bonus
Provision is made for payments in accordance with a bonus plan for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The bonus provision consists of a performance-based bonus, which is determined by reference to the 
overall Group performance with regard to a set of pre-determined key performance areas. The cash flow 
is expected to occur in the 2021 financial year when the results have been approved.
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Group provides retirement benefits for all its employees through the Pension fund of the Group 
which is a defined contribution plan. Employees contribute 7% (2019:7%) of their pensionable 
emoluments. The employer contributes 18.3% (2019:18.3) of pensionable emoluments part of  
which pays for risk benefits.

2020 2019
E E

Defined contribution plan – Employer 5 724 859 5 190 845

– Employee 2 189 838 1 986 093

29. CASH FLOW INFORMATION
29.1 Insurance premium received

Life insurance contracts with fixed guaranteed terms 265 550 178 274 789 331
Non-life insurance contracts – premium written 511 992 857 519 439 272
Opening insurance premium receivable (Note 15) 68 031 830 71 822 573
Closing insurance premium receivable (Note 15) (73 708 450) (68 031 830)

771 866 415 798 019 346

29.2 Payments to intermediaries to acquire insurance contracts
Opening commission payable (Note 25) (16 204 928) (15 466 428)
Commission expense charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income (Note 20) (90 503 163) (88 572 622)
Closing commission payable (Note 25) 24 699 428 16 204 928
Opening deferred acquisition commission (Note 19) 9 365 257 9 530 443
Closing deferred acquisition commission (Note 19) (8 903 965) (9 365 257)

(81 547 371) (87 668 936)

29.3 Cash paid to employees and other suppliers for services 
rendered
Operating expenses (131 437 575) (127 979 951)
Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property,  
plant and equipment 4 375 358 5 013 450
Non-cashflow item (61 586) –
Opening provisions for other liabilities (Note 27) (15 275 270) (14 665 378)
Closing provisions for other liabilities (Note 27) 16 003 668 15 275 270
Opening trade and other payables excluding commission payables (27 513 455) (23 272 321)
Closing trade and other payables excluding commission payables 30 444 377 27 122 687

(123 464 483) (118 506 243)

Notes to the financial statements continued
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
Group Corporation

2020 2019 2020 2019
E E  E E

29.4 Net movements in financial 
assets
At the beginning of the year (Note 14) 1 942 991 510 1 724 070 183 1 942 991 510 1 724 070 183
Unrealised fair value gains on 
financial assets (Note 4.2) 51 798 503 26 404 910 51 798 503 26 404 910
Fair value gains on financial assets 
(Note 4.1) (19 929 975) 19 231 897 (19 929 975) 19 231 897
Investment managers’ administration 
fees (Note 2.2 (10 274 822) (9 841 631) (10 274 822) (9 544 411)
Net movements in financial assets 142 398 207 182 828 931 142 398 207 182 828 931

At the end of the year (Note 14) 2 106 983 424 1 942 991 510 2 106 983 424 1 942 991 510

29.5 Cash utilised to finance other 
receivables
Opening receivables excluding 
receivables from insurance contracts 124 778 965 100 606 998 124 778 965 100 606 998
Closing receivables excluding 
receivables from insurance contracts (119 151 231) (124 778 965) (139 151 231) (124 778 965)

5 627 734 (24 171 967) (14 372 266) (24 171 967)
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30. INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND REINSURANCE ASSETS 
– INSURANCE CONTRACTS

2020 2019
E E

30.1 Gross
Non-life insurance contracts
– Claims reported and loss adjustment expenses 77 384 429 90 597 885
– Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 55 983 733 60 206 000
– Unearned premiums reserve 181 688 948 173 675 789

Life insurance contracts
– With fixed and guaranteed terms (Note 32.2) 1 306 416 702 1 240 814 320
– Outstanding claims 10 926 637 8 190 638

Total insurance liabilities – gross 1 632 400 449 1 573 484 632

Recoverable from reinsurers
Non-life insurance contracts:
– Claims reported and loss adjustment expenses 14 472 670 23 765 154
– Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 27 991 867 30 103 000
– Unearned premiums reserve 64 419 268 55 287 121

Life insurance contracts
– With fixed and guaranteed terms 2 298 056 2 278 515

Total reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities (Note 18) 109 181 861 111 433 790

Net
Non-life insurance contracts
– Claims reported and loss adjustment expenses 62 911 759 66 832 731
– Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 27 991 867 30 103 000
– Unearned premiums reserve 117 269 680 118 388 667

Life insurance contracts
– With fixed and guaranteed terms 1 304 118 646 1 238 535 805
– Outstanding claims 10 926 637 8 190 638

Total insurance liabilities 1 523 218 589 1 462 050 841

(a) Claims and loss adjustment expenses

30.1.1 Movements in insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets – 
Insurance contracts
Gross outstanding claims – Non-life
Outstanding claims 77 384 429 90 597 885
Provision for incurred but not reported (IBNR) claims 55 983 733 60 206 000

Gross outstanding claims 133 368 162 150 803 885
Reinsurance on outstanding claims (Note 18.1) (42 464 537) (53 868 154)

Net outstanding claims 90 903 625  96 935 731

Notes to the financial statements continued
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2020 2019
E E

30. INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND REINSURANCE ASSETS 
– INSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)

30.1 Gross (conitnued)

30.1.1 Movements in insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets – 
Insurance contracts (continued)
The movement in non-life outstanding claims is as follows:

Net outstanding claims at the beginning of the year 96 935 731 84 066 643

Gross claims 90 597 885 96 642 007
Provision for incurred but not reported claims 60 206 000 51 949 874
Reinsurance on gross claims (23 765 154) (38 550 301)
Reinsurance on incurred but not reported claims  (30 103 000)  (25 974 937)

Net cash paid for claims settled in the year 80 896 260 (91 411 433)

Gross (103 144 620) (127 465 167)
Less reinsurance 22 248 360 36 053 734

Net increase in claims liabilities during the year 44 765 168 104 280 521

Gross 89 935 178 121 421 046
Change in provision for incurred but not reported claims (4 222 267) (13 012 462)
Reinsurance on gross claims incurred (12 955 876) (21 268 588)
Change in reinsurance on incurred but not reported claims (27 991 867) 17 140 525

Net outstanding claims at the end of the year 90 903 625 96 935 731

Gross claims 77 384 429 90 597 885
Provision for incurred but not reported claims 55 983 733 60 206 000
Reinsurance on gross claims (14 472 670) (23 765 154)
Reinsurance on incurred but not reported claims (27 991 867) (30 103 000)

Gross outstanding claims – life
Outstanding claims 10 926 637 8 190 634

The movement in life outstanding claims is as follows:
Net outstanding claims at the beginning of the year 8 190 638 9 523 269

– Gross  8 190 638 9 523 269
– Reinsurance – –

Net increase in claims liabilities during the year 182 276 999 161 956 198

– Gross 191 232 289 172 195 504
– Reinsurance (8 955 290) (10 239 306)

Net cash paid for claims settled in the year (179 541 000) (163 288 830)

– Gross (188 496 290) (173 528 135)
– Reinsurance 8 955 290 10 239 305

Net outstanding claims 10 926 637 8 190 634

– Gross outstanding claims at the end of the year 10 926 637 8 190 634
– Reinsurance on outstanding claims – –

Gross outstanding claims – aggregated
Gross outstanding claims 144 294 799 160 614 523

Re-insurance on outstanding claims (14 472 670) (23 765 154)

129 822 129 136 849 369
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2020 2019
E E

30. INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND REINSURANCE ASSETS 
– INSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)

30.1 Gross (conitnued)
30.1.1 Movements in insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets – 

Insurance contracts (continued)
Net cash paid for claims settled during the year – aggregated
Net cash paid for claims settled during the year (260 437 260) (253 080 263)

Gross claims (291 640 910) (299 373 303)
Reinsurance claims 31 203 650 46 293 040

(b) Provisions for unearned premiums

The movements for the year are summarised below
Gross unearned premiums provision 181 688 948 173 675 788
Premium ceded to reinsurers (64 419 268) (55 287 121)

Net provision for unearned premiums 117 269 680 118 388 667

The movement in the unearned premiums account during the year was 
as follows:
At the beginning of the year 118 388 667 114 485 935
Net decrease during the year (1 118 987) 3 902 732

Changes in gross unearned premiums (Note 9) 8 013 160 8 409 893
Changes in unearned premiums reinsurance (Note 9) (9 132 147) (4 507 161)

At the end of the year 117 269 680 118 388 667

These provisions represent the liability for non-life insurance contracts 
for which the Group’s obligations are not expired.

(c) Life insurance contracts

The movement in the life insurance contracts during the year was 
as follows:
At beginning of year 1 240 814 320 1 087 207 083
Valuation premium (Note 9) 265 550 178 274 789 331
Liabilities released for payments on death and other terminations in 
the year (182 257 457) (162 338 692)
Other movements (17 690 339) 41 156 598

At end of year 1 306 416 702 1 240 814 320

As defined in the accounting policies, valuation premiums are the 
amounts of premiums received that directly increase the insurance 
liabilities.

The movements in the liabilities arising from investment 
contracts with DPF are summarised below:
At beginning of year 400 994 549 351 554 272
Premiums received (Note 35) 66 010 181 69 296 326
Investment contracts benefit expenses (Note 35)  (100 410 120) (41 895 265)
Increase in investment contracts with DPF 35 919 549 22 039 216

At end of year (Note 32) 402 514 159 400 994 549

Notes to the financial statements continued
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32. LIFE FUND VALUATION
32.1 Life insurance and investment business liabilities

In accordance with the Insurance Act of 2005 an actuarial valuation 
of the life fund was carried out on 31 December 2020 by Deloitte 
& Touche.

The movement in the Life fund account is accounted for 
as follows:
At the beginning of the year 1 641 808 869 1 438 761 356
Investment products – pensions and annuities (Note 35) 66 010 181 69 296 326
Other increase in investment contracts liability 35 919 549 22 039 216
Investment contracts benefit expenses (Note 35) (100 410 120) (41 895 265)
Increase in insurance liabilities 65 602 382 153 607 236

At the end of the year (Note 32.2) 1 708 930 861 1 641 808 869

32.2 The summary of actuarial liabilities
The summary of actuarial liabilities is as follows:

Summary of actuarial liabilities

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Gross of 

reinsurance
Net of 

reinsurance
Gross of 

reinsurance
Net of 

reinsurance
E E E E

Insurance Products (Note 30.1.1) 1 306 416 702 1 304 118 646 1 240 814 320 1 238 535 805
Investment Products (Note 31) 402 514 159 402 514 159 400 994 549 400 994 549

1 708 930 861 1 706 632 805 1 641 808 869 1 639 530 354

2020 2019
E E

The results of the valuation are as follows:

Market value of assets (Note 32.2.1) 2 020 531 636 1 901 557 488
Less: policyholder actuarial liability 1 706 632 805 1 639 530 354

Individual life (including bonuses) 740 851 653 788 163 202
Pension and Group life 791 285 760 771 652 686
Additional reserves
Bonus stabilisation reserve 110 993 557 29 831 748
Data reserve 45 500 000 45 500 000
Reserve i.r.o. matured policies 6 993 792 4 382 718
Covid-19 provision 11 008 023 –

Excess of assets over liabilities 313 898 831 262 027 134

32.2.1 Reconciliation of market value of assets
Total assets (Note 35) 2 081 616 153 1 952 534 341
Less: current liabilities (Note 35) (58 786 461) (48 248 338)
Reinsurance share on insurance contracts (Note 30.1) (2 298 056) (2 728 515)

Market value of assets 2 020 531 636 1 901 557 488
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

33.1 Related parties consist of the following entities:

Entity 
Nature of relationship

%

Kingdom of Eswatini Government Shareholder (47.8)
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited Shareholder (16)
Cougar Investment Holdings Limited Shareholder (16)
Inba Holdings Limited Shareholder (7.6)
Public Services Pension Fund Shareholder (7.6)
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company South Africa Shareholder (5)

2020 2019
E E

33.2 Transactions with related parties during the year
33.2.1 Commission received from reinsurance included in 

acquisition expenses (net of commission expense):
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 9 594 009 9 127 152
Old Mutual Insurance Company Limited 933 976 811 421
Bryte Insurance Company South Africa Limited 1 037 902

10 529 022 9 939 475

33.2.2 Premiums paid to reinsurers included in net premiums:
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 40 611 478 39 200 698
Old Mutual Insurance Company Limited 3 349 266 2 836 753
Bryte Insurance Company South Africa Limited 2 555 502 2 721 518

46 516 246 44 758 969

33.2.3 Treaty claims recoveries during the year included in 
reinsurers’ share of claims incurred:
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 4 255 977 3 341 629

4 255 977 3 341 629

Balance outstanding from insurance business with related parties were 
as follows:

33.2.4 Claims recoveries due from reinsurers at year end included 
in insurance receivables:
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 24 321 285 676
Old Mutual Insurance Company Limited 27 355 1 902 704

51 676 2 188 380

Notes to the financial statements continued
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2020 2019
E E

33.2 Transactions with related parties during the year 
(continued)

33.2.5 Premiums owed to reinsurers at year end included in 
reinsurance liabilities:
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 1 090 776 2 345 163
Old Mutual Insurance Company Limited 415 458 244 523

1 506 234 2 589 686

33.2.6 Directors and Executive Management Compensation
Executive management compensation 6 692 071 6 365 192

Directors fees 1 886 451 993 800

33.2.7 Loans to related parties

Loans to Executive Management 1 357 304 1 649 985

33.2.8 Dividends paid to shareholders
Eswatini Government 31 857 000 57 810 000
Munich Reinsurance Company of Africa Limited 12 432 000 22 560 000
Cougar Investment Holdings Limited 12 432 000 22 560 000
Bryte Insurance Company South Africa Limited – 12 690 000
INBA Holdings Limited 5 905 200 9 165 000
Public Services Pension Fund 11 188 800 9 165 000
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company South Africa 3 885 000 7 050 000

77 700 000 141 000 000

Transactions with related parties are on an arm’s length basis and no special conditions apply.

33.3 Doubtful debts
There is no provision for doubtful debts, nor any bad debt written off during the year 2020 and 
2019, that relates to related parties.
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34. OPERATING SEGMENT

34.1 Divisional segments – non-life insurance business

Commercial Personal Investments Total
2020 E  E E E

Gross premiums 414 306 811 105 699 207 – 520 006 018
Less: Reinsurance premiums (166 780 318) (8 316 530) – (175 096 848)

Net Premiums 247 526 493 97 382 677 – 344 909 170
Change in provision for unearned 
premiums 2 455 028 (1 336 041) – 1 118 987

Earned premiums net of reinsurance 249 981 521 96 046 636 – 346 028 157
Commission income 45 002 375 141 918 – 45 144 293
Unrealised surplus on investments
Income from investments – – 31 546 590 31 546 590

Investment income – – 32 888 115 32 888 115
Other operating income – – 789 737 789 737
Unrealised surplus on investments – – (2 131 262) (2 131 262)

Net income 294 983 896 96 188 554 31 546 590 422 719 040

Net policyholder benefits incurred
Claims and benefits incurred (87 414 576) (409 469) – (87 824 045)
Reinsurers’ share of claims and 
benefits incurred (27 117 174) 40 073 049 – 12 955 875
Acquisition costs (53 754 508) (11 905 427) – (65 659 935)
Administrative fees – – – 2 542 091
Management expenses – – – (1 447 439)
Administrative expenses (87 716 110) – – (87 716 110)

Operating profit before tax 195 569 477
Taxation (50 077 049)

Operating profit after tax 145 492 428

Segmental assets
Property plant and equipment 39 258 830
Intangibles 25 560 621
Investment in subsidiary 1 000
Right of use asset 5 018 188
Deferred taxation 4 437 129
Investments 388 850 815
Bank and cash 106 086 749
Loans and receivables 125 706 223
Technical assets 115 787 770

Total assets 810 707 325

Segmental liabilities
Technical reserves  315 057 111
Reinsurance liabilities 17 340 457
Current tax liability 12 499 243
Current liabilities  61 384 072

Total liabilities 406 280 883

Shareholders’ funds 404 426 442

Total equity and liabilities 810 707 325

Notes to the financial statements continued
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Commercial Personal Investments Total
2019 E  E E E

Gross premiums 406 192 730 113 246 543 – 519 439 273
Less: Reinsurance premiums (150 658 265) (8 065 214) – (158 723 479)

Net premiums 255 534 465 105 181 329 – 360 715 794
Change in provision for unearned 
premiums (4 801 660) 898 928 – (3 902 732)

Earned premiums net of reinsurance 250 732 805 106 080 257 – 356 813 062
Commission income 41 388 396 222 362 – 41 610 758
Income from investments

Investment income – – 35 489 712 35 489 712
Unrealised surplus on investments – – 728 113 728 113

– – 25 687 25 687

Net income 292 121 201 106 302 619 36 243 512 434 667 332

Net policyholder benefits incurred
Claims and benefits incurred (125 179 296) (369 814) –  (125 549 110)
Reinsurers’ share of claims and 
benefits incurred (31 445 985) 52 714 573 – 21 268 588
Acquisition costs (52 201 158) (12 525 204) – (64 726 362)
Administrative fees – – – 6 477 384
Administrative expenses (83 722 449) – (1 268 910) (84 991 359)

Operating profit before tax 187 146 473
Taxation  (51 791 726)

Operating profit after tax 135 354 747

Segmental assets
Property plant and equipment 39 993 240
Intangibles 16 548 810
Right-of-use asset 6 214 515
Deferred taxation  611 180
Investments 362 625 408
Bank and cash 72 761 586
Loans and receivables 126 236 973
Technical assets 118 520 534

Total assets 743 512 246

Segmental liabilities
Technical reserves 324 479 674
Reinsurance liabilities 21 311 505
Current Tax liability 12 594 204
Current liabilities 49 956 962

Total liabilities 408 342 345

Shareholders’ funds 335 169 901

Total equity and liabilities 743 512 246
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35. DIVISIONAL SEGMENTS – LIFE
Investment 

products
Insurance 
products

Shareholder’s 
fund Total

Group – 2020 E E E E

Gross premiums – 232 605 959 – 232 605 959
Less: reinsurance premiums – (10 388 485) – (10 388 485)

Net premiums – 222 217 474 – 222 217 474
Pension and annuities 66 010 181 32 944 219 – 98 954 400

Earned premiums net of reinsurance 66 010 181 255 161 693 – 321 171 875
Commission income – 1 820 951 – 1 820 951
Operating income 35 254 393 94 279 831 31 061 104 160 595 328

Investment income and unrealised  
gains on investments 35 254 393 84 499 521 30 502 508 150 256 422
Other operating income – 837 293 – 837 293
Fair value losses on investment 
property – – – –
Interest on policy loans – 8 943 017 558 596 9 501 613

Net income 101 264 574 351 262 475 31 061 104 483 588 154

Net policy holder benefits incurred
Claims and benefits incurred – (154 463 330) – (154 463 330)
Benefits paid from pensions and 
annuities (100 410 120) (36 768 959) – (137 179 079)
Increase in insurance liabilities – (65 602 382)  – (65 602 382)
Decrease in investment contracts (1 519 610) – – (1 519 610)
Insurance benefits recovered from 
reinsurers – 8 974 832 – 8 974 832
Acquisition cost – (24 843 228) – (24 843 228)
Administrative fees (5 576 812) 21 557 110 – 15 980 298
Management expenses (4 631 325) (39 090 141)  – (43 721 466)
Asset management expenses (2 960 551) (5 303 520) (1 039 180) (9 303 249)

Operating profit 71 910 940
Taxation (19 189 242)

Profit for the year 52 721 698

Segmental assets
Property plant and equipment 72 571
Intangibles 8 397 969
Investment property 46 400 001
Investments 1 718 132 609
Deferred tax asset 803 089
Bank and cash 208 369 168
Loans and receivables 97 142 690
Technical assets 2 298 056

Total assets 2 081 616 153

Segmental liabilities
Life portion of retained income (Note 23) 313 898 832
Life assurance liabilities (Note 32.1) 1 708 930 860
Current tax liabilities 2 326 255
Current liabilities 56 460 206

Total liabilities 2 081 616 153

Notes to the financial statements continued
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35 DIVISIONAL SEGMENTS – LIFE
Investment 

products
Insurance 
products

Shareholder’s 
fund Total

Corporation – 2020 E E E E

Gross premiums – 232 605 959 – 232 605 959
Less: reinsurance premiums – (10 388 485) – (10 388 485)

Net premiums – 222 217 474 –  222 217 474
Pension and annuities 66 010 181 32 944 219 – 98 954 400

Earned premiums net of reinsurance 66 010 181  255 161 693 – 321 171 875
Commission income – 1 820 951 – 1 820 951
Operating income 35 254 393 94 279 831 31 061 104 160 595 328

Investment income and unrealised  
gains on investments 35 254 393 84 499 521 30 502 508 150 256 422
Other operating income – 837 293 – 837 293
Interest on policy loans – 8 943 017 558 596 9 501 613

Net income 101 264 574 351 262 475 31 061 104 483 588 154

Net policy holder benefits incurred
Claims and benefits incurred – (154 463 330) – (154 463 330)
Benefits paid from pensions and 
annuities (100 410 120) (36 768 959) –  (137 179 079)
Increase in insurance liabilities – (65 602 382) – (65 602 382)
Decrease in investment contracts (1 519 610) – – (1 519 610)
Insurance benefits recovered from 
reinsurers – 8 974 832 – 8 974 832
Acquisition cost – (24 843 228) – (24 843 228)
Administrative fees (5 576 812) 21 557 110 – 15 980 298
Management expenses (4 631 325) (39 090 141) – (43 721 466)
Asset management expenses (2 960 551)  (5 303 520) (1 039 180) (9 303 249)

Operating profit 71 910 940
Taxation (19 189 242)

Profit for the year 52 721 698

Segmental assets
Property plant and equipment 72 571
Intangibles 8 397 969
Investment property 46 400 001
Investments 1 718 132 609
Deferred tax asset 803 089
Bank and cash 188 369 168
Loans and receivables 117 142 690
Technical assets 2 298 056

Total assets 2 081 616 153

Segmental liabilities
Life portion of retained income (Note 23) 313 898 832
Life assurance liabilities (Note 32.1) 1 708 930 860
Current tax liability 2 326 255
Current liabilities 56 460 205

Total liabilities 2 081 616 153
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35. DIVISIONAL SEGMENTS – LIFE (continued)
Investment 

products
Insurance 
products

Shareholder’s 
fund Total

2019 E E E E

Gross premiums – 201 127 800 – 201 127 800
Less: reinsurance premiums – (7 442 446) – (7 442 446)

Net premiums – 193 685 354  – 193 685 354
Pension and annuities 69 296 326 68 893 784 – 138 190 110

Earned premiums net of reinsurance 69 296 326 262 579 138  – 331 875 464
Commission income – 1 980 110 – 1 980 110
Operating income 35 177 193 92 887 108 30 971 175 159 035 476

Investment income and unrealised gains 
on investments 35 177 193 84 314 486 30 435 714 149 927 393
Interest on policy loans – 8 572 622 535 461 9 108 082

Net income 104 473 519 357 446 356 30 971 175 492 891 050

Net policy holder benefits incurred
Claims and benefits incurred – (140 157 206) – (140 157 206)
Benefits paid from pensions and 
annuities (41 895 265) (32 038 298) – (73 933 563)
Increase in insurance liabilities – (153 607 237) – (153 607 237)
Decrease in investment contracts (49 440 276) – – (49 440 276)
Insurance benefits recovered from 
reinsurers – 9 856 812 – 9 856 812
Acquisition cost – (23 846 260) – (23 846 260)
Administrative fees 4 026 754 15 258 264 – 19 285 018
Management expenses (4 553 591) (38 434 038)  – (42 987 629)
Asset management expenses (2 728 076) (4 887 066) (957 579) (8 572 721)

Operating profit 29 487 988
Taxation (7 318 908)

Profit for the year 22 169 080

Segmental assets
Property plant and equipment 141 384
Intangibles 4 404 549
Investment property 46 502 194
Investments 1 580 366 102
Deferred tax asset 870 242
Bank and cash 216 937 733
Loans and receivables 91 442 897
Technical assets 2 278 515
Current tax asset 9 590 725

Total assets 1 952 534 341

Segmental liabilities
Life portion of retained income (Note 23) 262 477 134
Life assurance liabilities (Note 32.1) 1 641 808 869
Current liabilities 48 248 338

Total liabilities 1 952 534 341

Notes to the financial statements continued
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36. LIQUIDITY ANALYSIS – GROUP

Less than 
one month or 

available/
payable on 

demand

More than
one month 

but less than 
one year

One to 
five years Total

E E E E

2020
Financial and insurance assets
Financial assets 1 949 729 872 157 253 552 – 2 106 983 424
Reinsurance assets 109 181 861 – – 109 181 861
Loans and receivables (including 
insurance receivables) – 192 859 680  – 192 859 680
Cash and cash equivalents 314 455 917 – – 314 455 917

Total assets 2 373 367 650  350 113 232 – 2 723 480 882

Financial and insurance liabilities
Insurance liabilities – Insurance 
contracts 1 632 400 449 – – 1 632 400 449
Insurance liabilities – Investment 
contracts 402 514 159 – – 402 514 159
Reinsurance liabilities – 17 340 457  – 17 340 457
Insurance and other payables – 55 143 800 – 55 143 800
Lease liabilities – 1 569 194 5 756 594 7 325 788
Current income tax liability – 14 825 498 – 14 825 498

Total liabilities 2 034 914 608 88 878 949 5 756 594 2 129 550 151

2019
Financial and insurance assets
Financial assets 1 797 821 730 145 169 780 – 1 942 991 510
Reinsurance assets 111 433 790 – – 111 433 790
Loans and receivables (including 
insurance receivables) – 192 810 795 – 192 810 795
Cash and cash equivalents 289 699 319 – – 289 699 319

Total assets 2 198 954 839 337 980 575 – 2 536 935 414

Financial and insurance liabilities
Insurance liabilities – Insurance 
contracts 1 573 095 157 – – 1 573 095 157
Insurance liabilities – Investment 
contracts 400 994 549 – – 400 994 549
Reinsurance liabilities – 21 311 505 – 21 311 505
Insurance and other payables – 43 717 090 – 43 717 090
Lease liabilities – 762 765 5 779 937 6 542 703
Current income tax liability – 3 003 477 – 3 003 477

Total liabilities 1 974 089 706 68 794 837 5 779 937 2 048 664 480

37. DIVIDENDS
The dividends paid in 2020 amounted to E77 700 000 (E19.43 per share) [2019: E141 000 000 
(E35.25 per share)].
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38. CONTINGENCIES
As at 31 December 2020, the Group was a defendant in various legal actions. All actions where 
the directors are of the opinion that significant loss is likely to be suffered have been provided for 
in the financial statements.

39. EVENTS AFTER STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE
A dividend of E41.28 per share has been declared in respect of the period ended 31 December 
2020. The total amount of the dividend declared is E165 100 000. This was approved subsequent 
to year end at a Board meeting held on 31 March 2021.

40. LEASES
2020  2019

E E

Right-of-use assets
Opening balance 6 214 515 –
Additions – 6 978 888
Depreciation (1 196 327) (764 373)

At year end 5 018 188 6 214 515

Lease liabilities
Current 974 317 762 765
Non-current 4 805 622 5 779 937

5 779 939 6 542 702

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Buildings (1 196 327) (764 373)

(1 196 327) (764 373)

Interest expense (included in finance costs) (690 192) (538 291)

The Group leases two offices. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed period terms of one 
year to three years but may have extension options as described below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in 
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for 
borrowing purposes.

Until the 2019 financial year, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as operating 
leases. From 1 January 2020, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding 
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis.  
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:
• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivables.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability.

Notes to the financial statements continued
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The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot 
be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:
• where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting 

point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was 
received

• uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for 
leases held by Eswatini Royal Insurance Group, which does not have recent third party 
financing, and

• makes adjustments specific to the lease such as term, country, currency, security

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to 
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use asset are measured at cost comprising the following:
• the amount of initial measurement of lease liability
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date
• any initial direct costs, and
• restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the 
lease term on a straight-line basis. While the Group revalue its buildings that are presented within 
property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the 
Group.

An extension option is included in one property lease in the Group. This is used to maximise 
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The 
extension option held is exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.
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Annexure 1
Statement of comprehensive 
income – Non-life business 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
E E

Gross insurance premium revenue 520 006 018 519 439 272
Change in provision for unearned premiums 1 118 987 (3 902 732)

Insurance premium revenue 521 125 005 515 536 540
Insurance premium ceded to reinsurers  (175 096 848)  (158 723 479)

Net insurance premium revenue 346 028 157 356 813 061

Claims incurred net of reinsurance (74 868 170) (104 280 521)

Insurance claims expenses (80 896 260) (91 411 433)

– gross claims expense paid (103 144 620) (127 465 167)
– recovered from reinsurers’ 22 248 360 36 053 734

Change in the provision for outstanding claims 6 028 090 (12 869 088)

– gross amount 17 431 708 (2 212 005)
– reinsurers’ share  (11 403 618)  (10 657 083)

Net expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts (20 515 642) (23 115 604)

Expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts (65 659 935) (64 726 362)
Fees earned from reinsurance contracts 45 144 293 41 610 758

Management expenses (87 716 110) (83 722 449)

Underwriting surplus 162 928 235 145 694 487

Investment income 32 888 115 35 489 712
Fair value unrealised (losses)/gains  (2 131 262) 728 113
Insurance policy administration fees 2 542 091 6 477 384
Asset management expenses (1 447 439) (1 268 910)
Other operating income 789 737 25 687

Profit before income tax expense 195 569 477 187 146 473

Income tax expense (50 077 049) (51 791 726)

Profit for the year 145 492 428 135 354 747
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2020 2019
E E

Insurance premium revenue 232 605 959 201 127 800
Insurance premium ceded to reinsurers (10 388 485) (7 442 446)

Net insurance premium revenue 222 217 474 193 685 354
Contributions from pensions and retirement annuity schemes 32 944 220 68 893 784

Net insurance benefits  (211 090 880) (283 907 631)

Increase in insurance liabilities (65 602 382) (153 607 237)
Gross insurance benefits (154 463 330) (140 157 206)
Insurance benefits recoverable from reinsurers 8 974 832 9 856 812

Benefits paid from pension and retirement annuity schemes (36 768 959) (32 038 298)

Net expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts (23 022 277) (21 866 150)

Expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts (24 843 228) (23 846 260)
Fees earned from reinsurance contracts 1 820 951 1 980 110

Management expenses (43 721 466) (42 987 629)

Life loss from insurance activities (59 441 888) (118 220 570)
Investment income 96 428 851 125 027 328
Fair value gains from financial assets 53 929 765 25 676 798
Fair value (losses) from investment property (102 194) (776 731)
Increase in investment contract liabilities  (35 919 549) (22 039 216)
Fee income from asset management 15 980 298 19 285 018
Asset management expenses (9 303 249) (8 572 721)
Interest income from loans to policyholders 9 501 613 9 108 081
Other operating income 837 293 –

Operating profit before tax 71 910 940 29 487 987
Taxation (19 189 242) (7 318 908)

Operating profit after tax 52 721 698 22 169 079

Annexure 2
Statement of comprehensive 
income – Life business 
for the year ended 31 December 2020
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In this report
I am pleased that the Corporation’s 
capital position has enabled the 
Board to recommend a dividend  
of E165.1 million for the year  
ended 31 December 2020,  
(2019: E77.7 million) for payment 
on 6 July 2021 to holders of 
ordinary shares on the register  
at the close of business on  
17 June 2021.

Muhawu Maziya 
Chairman

The Corporation delivered a 
satisfactory operational and 
financial performance for the 2020 
financial year despite challenging 
economic conditions which 
included economic turbulence 
associated with the Covid-19 
pandemic. The overall result was 
in line with the strategy even 
though growth targets were not 
achieved. Amidst an economically 
difficult period, focus needed to
be placed on ensuring profitability.

Zama Ngcobo 
General Manager

This is the second integrated report of Eswatini Royal Insurance Corporation (ESRIC, 
the Corporation), and with it we endeavour to present a full, coherent, consistent and 
transparent description of the ways in which we create value for our shareholders in 
the short-, medium- and long-term, as well as to reflect the material interests of all 
our stakeholders. 




